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Aboriginal Health Services
Allied Health Services
• Dietetics
• Exercise therapy
• Occupational therapy
• Physiotherapy
• Podiatry
• Prosthetics and orthotics
• Psychology
• Social Work
• Speech therapy

Acquired Brain Injury
Ballarat Regional Integrated Cancer Centre
• Chemotherapy Day Unit
• Oncology Clinics
• Radiation Oncology (BAROC)
• Wellness Centre

Cardiology
Central Sterile Supply Department (CSSD)
Centre Against Sexual Assualt (CASA)
Cognitive Impairment and Dementia Management

Community Programs
• Ambulatory Care Services
• Carer Respite and Support Services
• Community Rehabilitation (home & centre based)
• Continence Resource Centre
• Domiciliary Services
• Gem in the Home
• Grampians Aged Care Assessment Service
• Grampians Regional Continence Service
• Grampians Regional Palliative Care Team
• Hospital Admission Risk Program
• Linkages (home care packages)
• Planned Activity Groups
• Post-Acute Care
• Restorative Care
• Safety Link
• Transition Care Program
• Victorian Paediatric Rehabilitation Service

Critical Care Unit
• Intensive Care
• Coronary Care
• Medical Emergency Response Team

Corporate Services
•  Catering
•  Finance and Business Units
•  Fundraising and Communication
•  Governance and Planning
•  Hotel and Patient Services
•  Information Technology
•  Infrastructure
•  Linen and Supply Services
•  People and Culture
•  Security
•  Volunteers

Dental Services
Diabetes Management and Education
Diagnostic and Radiology (X-ray) Services
• BreastScreen
• CT Scan
• ECG
• EEG
• MRI
• Nuclear Medicine
• Ultrasound

Emergency Medicine
Endocrinology
Falls and Balance
Family Violence
Gastroenterology
General Medicine
General Practice Liaison 
Geriatric Evaluation and Management
Gynaecology
Infection Control
Lymphoedema Management
Maternity Services
Medical Oncology

Mental Health Community Care Teams
• Infant and Child
• Youth
• Adult
• Aged

Mental Health Inpatient Care Units
• Adult Acute Unit
• Secure and Extended Care Unit
• Aged Acute
• Aged Residential

Neonatology
Nephrology and Renal Dialysis
Neurology
Operating Suite
Ophthalmology
Organ and Tissue Donation Service
Otolaryngology
Outpatient Services
Paediatric Medicine
Pain Management
Palliative Care
Pastoral Care
Perioperative Day procedure Unit
Pharmacy
Rehabilitation (in-patient and out-patient)
Residential Aged Care
Stroke Management
Stomal Therapy
Statewide Aids and Equipment Program (SWEP)
Surgical Services
Thoracic Medicine
Urology
Wound Management

Our Services
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Overview
Ballarat Health Services is Victoria’s second largest 
regional health service, providing a comprehensive 
range of general and specialist care across key 
medical and healthcare disciplines including 
acute care, sub-acute care, residential aged care 
services, community care, mental health, dental 
and rehabilitation services.

Ballarat Health Services is the principal referral 
hospital for the Grampians Region, which extends 
from Bacchus Marsh to the South Australian 
border. The region, covering some 48,000 square 
kilometres, is home to nearly 250,000 people. 

With a staff in excess of 4,000 employees, Ballarat 
Health Services is one of the major employers in 
the Grampians Region.

Ballarat Health Services was established under 
the Health Services Act 1988. The incorporation 
came into effect on 1 January 1997 following 
the voluntary amalgamation of the Ballarat 
Base Hospital, the Queen Elizabeth Centre and 
Grampians Psychiatric Services.

For the period 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017 Ballarat 
Health Services (BHS) was accountable, through 
its Board of Directors, to The Honourable Jill 
Hennessy MLA, Minister for Health and Minister for 
Ambulance Services and The Honourable Martin 
Foley MLA, Minister for Mental Health and Minister 
for Housing, Disability and Ageing.

Copies of this Annual Report, the BHS Clinical 
Services Report and the BHS Strategic Plan 2017-
2022 are available online at www.bhs.org.au
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Ballarat Health Services is 
Victoria’s second largest regional 
health service, providing a 
comprehensive range of general 
and specialist care across 
key medical and healthcare 
disciplines including acute care, 
sub-acute care, residential 
aged care services, community 
care, mental health, dental and 
rehabilitation services.

Our Vision
Excellence in Care 

Our Mission
To deliver quality care to the communities we serve 
by providing safe, accessible and integrated health 
services resulting in positive experiences and 
outcomes.

Our Values
Our services and staff embrace the following:

Teamwork 
We commit to common goals based on open and 
honest communication while showing concern and 
support for all.

We are dedicated to working together for common 
interests and responsibilities.

Respect 
We acknowledge everyone’s unique strengths and 
value diversity.

We operate in a spirit of co-operation and honour 
human dignity.

Accountability 
We personally commit to delivering our best, taking 
responsibility for all of our decisions and actions.

Compassion 
We treat people with kindness and empathy.

We care about our patients, our people and our 
community.
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Chair and CEO’s Report 
This year Ballarat Health Services embarked on a significant 
change agenda with the aim to ensure that we continue to meet 
the increasing needs of our community and provide a workplace 
where staff are safe and challenged to deliver the highest level of 
quality care.  Some of the change highlights include;
• The completion of BHS 2022; a new 5 year Strategic Plan
• The finalisation of a comprehensive clinical services plan  
 which will guide the development of clinical services over the  
 next 20 years
• The complete overhaul of the organisational structure thus  
 ensuring clearer lines of responsibility and a purposeful sense  
 of organisational renewal
• The launch of BHS Together; a comprehensive cultural  
 change program; and
• The development of new organisational values as led by our  
 Staff Values Committee
Amongst this organisational change we have continued to serve 
the growing population of Ballarat and the Grampians region in 
record numbers.  Not only have we met the increasing demand, 
but we have improved patient access to timely and safe care. 
It is a credit to our staff that they have embraced change and 
increased their efforts to meet patient demand.  On behalf of the 
Board and the Executive, to our staff we simply say – thank you.
Last year, we reported on the impacts of two independent 
reviews into workplace culture.  Much progress has been made 
over the past 12 months to bring about substantive change 
to our workplaces.  We still have much to do.  Change of this 
nature needs to be genuine and as a consequence this will take 
time.  We are heartened by our latest People Matter Survey 
where staff responded in record numbers and acknowledged 
improvements in a range of areas.  Our efforts need to be 
sustained to ensure that our greatest asset – our staff, are further 
supported to continue to deliver healthcare of a worldclass 
standard.
This year marked the official opening of the Gardiner-Pittard 
building.  Named after two pioneering Ballarat women, the 
new building was officially opening by the Hon. Jill Hennessy 
in February.  The new building serves as the main entrance 
to the Base hospital site, and includes a new 32 bed surgical 
ward.  Importantly, the building has future capacity to expand, 
with plans already underway to increase our operating theatre 
capacity within this new building.  We are grateful for the 
tremendous support that Ballarat Health Services continues to 
receive from successive governments.

During the year we farewelled long serving Board Directors
– Mr Mark Patterson and Mr Craig Coltman. Both Mark and 
Craig worked tirelessly to contribute to the many successes of 
the organisation. We also welcomed Mr Kirby Clark, Ms Natalie 
Reiter and Dr Garry Jennings as new Board Directors. Each 
brings substantial clinical and corporate experience and will 
significantly add to the governance capabilities of the Board. 
We would like to publicly acknowledge and thank the work of 
our 290 volunteers.  Our volunteers are an amazing group of 
people who each work tirelessly to help others in their times of 
need.  Thanks must also be given to the incredible support given 
to Ballarat Health Services from our many donors.  
Total donations this year of $1,700,000 have been used in a 
variety of ways to purchase much needed equipment to support 
our clinical teams.
Ballarat Health Services has a vital role to play in the future for 
our community.  We are confident that we are on track to fulfil 
our vision of Excellence in Health care for our staff, our patients 
and our community.
In accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994, we 
are pleased to present the Report of Operations for Ballarat 
Health Services for the year ending 30 June 2017.

Rowena Coutts Dale Fraser
Chair, Board of Directors Chief Executive Officer
Ballarat
10th August, 2017

Report of Operations
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Dr Jaycen Cruickshank was Chief Medical Officer until 
14 May 2017, resuming his substantive roles of Director 
Clinical Training and Senior Emergency Physician once 
Associate Professor Rosemary Aldrich commenced as 
Chief Medical Officer on 15 May 2017.  Dr Cruickshank 
had worked in the leadership capacity with Craig Wilding 
who was the Director of Medical Administration, Workforce 
Planning and Engagement until December 2016. 

Medical Leadership and 
Management
In 2016-2017 collaboration with the Senior Medical Staff 
group on issues of clinical engagement resulted in a plan 
of action to address a number of matters. The senior 
medical staff credentialing process was enhanced with 
the implementation of an electronic credentials system 
and a significant amount of work done to review scope 
of practice governance documents for senior medical 
staff. BHS supported regional credentialing efforts in 
other Grampians health services.  In addition Directorate 
managers were early adopters of the BHS Together 
program and achieved 100% compliance with completion 
of performance development reviews, and also had a 
100% response rate for the People Matters survey. 

Clinical Training
Under Dr Jaycen Cruickshank’s the BHS medical education 
program has had some outstanding results.  End of term 
feedback sessions resulted in a significant number of 
issues being addressed and substantial work was done 
to support doctor in training education, supervision and 
welfare. 

The education resource website enhanced its content and 
a medical education app was developed with more than 
1000 downloads in the first few months; downloads and 
use of the app continues. In addition the introduction of 
live audience participation polling apps and social media 
capacity continued a trend of innovation and promoted 
the engagement of busy clinical staff in accessing medical 
education in new ways.

The Junior Medical Workforce (JMWF) team was kept busy 
during the year, and for the first time in 2016 organised for 
all short-listed prospective 2017 Interns to be interviewed 
for their positions by duos comprising workforce staff 
and senior clinicians (previously a paper-based matching 

system had been used). The JMWF team also undertook a 
promotional campaign at the medical student Melbourne 
Careers Expo, promoting all BHS and Ballarat have to offer 
to young doctors.  

Research
Numerous activities to support research at BHS are 
undertaken within the Directorate of the Chief Medical 
Officer, including supporting the review and governance 
functions of the BHS St John of God Human Research 
Ethics Committee, and holding an annual Research 
Symposium. Professor Stuart Berzins from the Fiona Elsey 
Cancer Research Institute was the Key Note speaker of the 
2016 Symposium. The research symposium showcases 
the exciting and varied research work being carried out by 
our staff at BHS and recognises the valuable contribution 
they make to the region, as well as provides a wonderful 
opportunity for our staff to develop and hone their research 
presentation skills. 

Critical to growing research capacity at BHS is the strong 
relationships researchers form with the wider community, 
industry and other research institutions, such as St John of 
God Hospital, Deakin University,  University of Melbourne, 
Federation University, Australian Catholic University, Fiona 
Elsey Cancer Research Institute and the Western Alliance 
research collaboration.

Clinical Trials 
Highlights for the Clinical Trials team in 2016-2017 included 
15 news trials opened to recruitment (with recruitment on 
target at time of writing), with expansion into Anaesthetic 
trials, and new collaboration with the Fiona Elsey Cancer 
Research Institute. Clinical trials are conducted at BHS for 
oncology, gastroenterology, cardiology, and anaesthetic 
patients. 

Pharmacy
Staff members of the BHS pharmacy department were 
involved with a number of community engagement and 
regional initiatives as well as external committees.  These 
have included the Grampians Pharmacy Network: a 
meeting with other hospitals in our region regarding 
medication and pharmacy related matters.  BHS 
Pharmacists have also been members of the NHMRC’s 
National Centre for Antimicrobial Stewardship, Australian 
Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care’s 

The Medical Directorate incorporates all Medical Leadership and Management, Credentialing, Clinical 
Training, Junior Medical Workforce, Research, Clinical Trials, Pharmacy, Mortuary, Infection Prevention and 
Control, Medico-legal, and Emergency Management.  



PAGE 5ANNUAL  REPORT 2016 - 2017

Antimicrobial Stewardship Jurisdictional Network, the 
Victorian Therapeutic Advisory Group, Health Purchasing 
Victoria Executive Reference Group, and the Society for 
Hospital Pharmacists Australia’s (SHPA) Committees of 
Specialty Practice in intensive care and infectious diseases. 
Co-Deputy Director of Pharmacy Dr David Kong was 
awarded the 2016 Ballarat Health Service Annual Research 
Symposium’s Audience Research Encouragement Award, 
and Co-Deputy Director of Pharmacy Renee Dimond 
gained entry and completed the paediatric pharmacy 
fellowship with King’s College London and Guy’s and St 
Thomas’ Trust during 2016.

In November 2016, the BHS Pharmacy Department 
successfully obtained provisional accreditation as a SHPA 
residency program site during the first accreditation phase 
of the program. BHS is the only regional site accredited 
in Victoria. In addition, the BHS Pharmacy Department 
became a Monash University Credentialed Workplace 
for the pharmacist Intern Foundation Program. The first 
Intern pharmacist at BHS commenced training in 2017 and 
five pharmacists have completed the Monash University 
Pharmacy Clinical Educator training.

In collaboration with IT and the BOSSnet team, the 
Pharmacy Department was involved in the project to 
implement the new BOSSnet Admission and Discharge 
Module which went live at BHS in February 2017.  This 
enabled medication histories to be entered electronically 
into the BOSSnet system on admission, and also computer 
generated discharge prescriptions to be recorded and 
printed in place of handwritten discharge scripts.  

Infection Prevention
The Infection prevention and control (IPaC) team revamped 
the staff influenza vaccination program in 2017, resulting 
in a compliance rate of 78% for staff who have received 
the influenza vaccine against our target of 75%. In early 
2017 ‘flu’ super clinics saw five nurse immunisers working 
at once to treat approximately 2000 staff seen in the first 
fortnight of the program.

IPaC in 2016 changed the way quarterly hand hygiene 
audits were done. Every clinical unit is audited every 
quarter and this has demonstrated improvements in all 
areas and increased engagement. IPaC coordinated and 
delivered two hand hygiene auditor training days to improve 
the capacity of individual units to have their own hand 
hygiene auditor on site to complete audits. 

Other achievements in 2016-2017 include that IPaC at BHS 
was the first unit in Victoria to commence the collection 
of surgical site surveillance utilising a new data gathering 
method for submission to the healthcare associated 
infection surveillance coordinating centre (VICNISS) at 
the Department of Health and Human Services, and in 
doing so became the reference health service for other 
facilities that were yet to commence using this system. In 
addition the IPaC team introduced a fluorescent marking 
UV light auditing system to monitor the effectiveness of the 
cleaning of frequently touched surfaces, had two abstracts 

accepted for posters in 2016 at the annual Australasian 
College for Infection Prevention and Control (ACIPC) held 
in Melbourne, and coordinated and delivered a full day 
infection prevention seminar at BHS that had participants 
from throughout the Grampians region.

IPaC’s robust staff vaccination program provides care for all 
employees. 

Emergency Management 
The BHS Emergency management discipline provides 
training and experience in hazard and disaster identification 
and management.   The 2016 Fire and Evacuation 
Emergency Drill Program ensured that 100% of BHS 
areas had a drill conducted, 1440 BHS staff members 
participated in a drill. Two specific events in the Emergency 
Management involving emergency management staff are 
described below.

Tour de Timor – Australian Medical Assistance Team 
(AusMAT) deployment September 2016 
In September 2016 the National Critical Care and Trauma 
Response Centre (NCCTRC) deployed a multi-jurisdictional 
team to the 2016 bicycling race Tour de Timor (TDT). 
The deployment objectives were to provide medical and 
trauma care to competitors, event management and 
modest logistical support to Timor Leste event organisers. 
The NCCTRC uses the TDT as a training opportunity for 
AusMAT (Australian Medical Assistance Teams) members. 
Two BHS AusMAT training registered nurses Ms Kerryn 
Osborne (4 North) and Don Garlick (Manager, Emergency 
Management) represented Victoria in the AusMAT 
deployment.

BHS Victorian Medical Assistance Team exercise 
December 2016 
Opportunities for Victorian Medical Assistance Team 
(VMAT) members to exercise and maintain their skills 
are limited. The last VMAT exercise in Victoria occurred 
in 2006. Every year Dr Helen Webb of the Australian 
Catholic University (ACU) School of Nursing, Midwifery 
and Paramedicine leads a live field mass casualty exercise 
for the ACU final year nursing/paramedicine students. The 
purpose of the annual exercise is to consolidate students 
learning of mass casualty incident management practices 
and arrangements. 

The 1 December 2016 exercise simulated a natural gas 
explosion that resulted in the destruction of two buildings 
inside the Ballarat Campus of ACU. BHS teams provided 
exercise control support for the exercise. Alongside the 
ACU students, the BHS VMATs were confronted with mass 
casualties for the exercise ranging from those entrapped by 
debris and requiring heavy lifting gear to rescue through to 
critically ill, walking wounded and deceased at scene. BHS 
VMAT participants gained a lot of practical pre-hospital 
mass casualty experience from the exercise.
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Ballarat Health Services celebrated International Nurse’ 
and Midwives Day on May 5th and 12th respectively 
to recognise and thank nurses and midwives for the 
role they play in enhancing the health and well-being 
of our community. Adjunct Professor Kylie Ward CEO 
of Australian College of Nursing attended Ballarat 
Health Service as part of our celebrations and to more 
importantly launch Ballarat Health Services becoming a 
platinum affiliate member with the Australian College of 
Nursing.  This affiliation is a partnership that will assist our 
organisation and our staff to be professionally active and 
leaders within the nursing profession and the wider health 
community. The affiliate agreement provides a range of 
membership benefits, education services and leadership 
development programs for our nursing workforce. This 
provides an exciting opportunity to grow and develop our 
leaders and emerging leaders.

Centre for Education and 
Training
• In 2016 the Centre for Education and Training  
 delivered over 4271 hours of simulation education to  
 2036 professional learners across Ballarat Health  
 Services and the Grampians region in addition to this  
 provided 610 simulation hours to 706 students of health  
 care, 67% of these hours had interdisciplinary  
 applicability.

 The Centre for Education and Training has partnered  
 with Deakin University to provide students and  
 staff with a unique opportunity to learn from Volunteer  
 Simulation Patients. The Volunteer Simulation Patient  
 Model will commence in 2017. Combining resources  
 will increase opportunities and enhance the range of  
 experiences available to the student and to the  
 volunteer simulation patients. The volunteer patients will  
 be a valuable resource for the teaching and  
 assessment of clinical and physical examination skills  
 and communication. This activity links well with the  
 national quality and safety standard of partnering  
 with consumers and allows the patient to influence  
 staff education and training. Volunteer Simulation  
 Patients will be trained to portray a patient or other  
 individual in a scripted scenario for the purposes of  
 instruction, practice and/or evaluation.

• BHS continues to have positive uptake of nurses taking  
 on post graduate studies there were 19 Post Graduate  
 Nurses who commenced their studies in Critical Care,  
 Emergency, Peri-Operative, Paediatrics and Oncology  
 services over the last year. With a further 9 staff  
 completing studies in rehabilitation and stroke distance  
 education modules and 27 participants completed their  
 First Aide certificate levels 2 and 3.

• Highway Model for Education hosted by Ballarat  
 Health Services on behalf of all rural and subregional  
 health services across the Grampians region continues  
 to deliver professional development opportunities  
 for health professionals. Over the past year 34  
 education programs have been delivered with a total of  
 185 participants. Further to this through the Continuing  
 Nursing and Midwifery Education Model there have  
 been 26 professional development programs  
 conducted with over 623 participants.

• The Centre for Education facilitated 19,140 clinical  
 placement days in 2016 for 1370 undergraduate  
 nursing and midwifery students an increase of 1964  
 clinical placement days on 2015

• Ballarat Health Services Graduate Nurse Transition  
 program continues to grow and attract high calibre  
 graduates from a wide range of universities. In 2016,  
 BHS had 70 Registered Nursing graduates commence  
 the program with the addition of 3 graduates who  
 hosted for a clinical experience (73 Total), 15 of these  
 graduates were graduates from the region.

•  2 graduates participated in a dual degree Nursing / 
 Paramedicine program

• 4 graduates participated in a  double degree Nursing/ 
 Midwifery program

• 2 graduates participated in Bachelor of Midwifery.

• Graduates had the opportunity to experience new  
 clinical rotations this year through a collaborative  
 arrangement with Ballarat District Nursing Health Group  
 and Ballarat Hospice. 

• Ballarat Health Services had a further 10 Enrolled Nurse  
 Trainees graduate from the Enrolled Nurse Traineeship  
 Program Diploma of Nursing in August and will have a  
 further 16 trainees complete in late 2017. 

The Nursing & Midwifery Directorate incorporates all Nursing Administration, Professional Nursing Standards, 
Nursing Education & Practice Development, Education & Research (Aged), Regional Clinical Governance, 
University Relationships, Redesign and Innovation Unit, Risk Manager, Central Allocations Unit, Library, 
Clinical Governance
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Library Services
Over the past 12 months the BHS Library Service has 
continued to build partnerships with regional health 
providers such as East Grampians Health Service, Stawell 
Regional Health and Ballarat Community Health. This 
supports health professionals throughout the region to 
meet their information needs through evidence-based 
decision support systems, medical librarian expert 
searching and training in the use of information retrieval 
systems. This increases knowledge and continues to have 
a positive impact on patient care, governance and clinical 
outcomes.

Strengthening Hospitals 
Response to Family Violence 
Project
Ballarat Health Services is a regional partner in the 
Strengthening Hospital Response to Family Violence 
(SHRFV) project which is a partnership between Our 
Watch, the Royal Women’s Hospital (the Women’s) and 
Bendigo Health. The initiative will respond to the Victorian 
Government’s commitment to deliver on ‘recommendation 
95 of the Royal Commission into Family Violence’ which 
requires a ‘whole of hospital’ model for responding to family 
violence in public hospitals within three to five years. 

The Strengthening Hospital Response to Family Violence 
(SHRFV) project aims to increase staff awareness of family 
violence as a health issue, and to improve the identification 
and response to people experiencing family violence. 

To introduce practices into hospitals which will support 
people experiencing family violence to disclose and seek 
help. To ensure clinical staff feel confident, and have the 
capacity, to provide the necessary support and referrals. 
The SHRFV project is funded by DHHS for the next 4 years, 
being led by a project team who will focus on a number 
of key areas, including an Internal staffing response in 
collaboration with People and Culture. Implementing initially 
in the Emergency Department and Maternity Services and 
playing a lead role in supporting rural health services across 
the Grampians region to iimplement the SHRFV Service 
Model. 

Memorandum of Understanding 
(MoU) Ballarat Health Services 
(BHS) and Department of Health 
& Human Services (DHHS) Child 
Protection
A memorandum of understanding between BHS – Women’s 
and Children’s Services and DHHS Child Protection 
service (Central Highlands) signed on September 5th, this 
has been many years in the making. The MoU reflects 
the understanding between Child Protection and BHS in 
relation to their joint work with children at risk, including 
where those concerns exist before the birth of a baby. 
The MoU is intended to assist in maintaining effective 
working relationships by supporting mutual understanding 
and respect by Child Protection and BHS staff for each 
other’s roles and responsibilities; promoting clear lines 
of communication to provide a coordinated approach to 
joint cases and information exchange and establishing 
clear guidelines to support effective communication and 
planning ensuring best possible outcomes for children and 
their families. 



In 2016/17 the executive leadership restructure at Ballarat 
Health Services saw the creation of the Acute Operations 
Directorate. Essentially all the ‘clinical services’ located 
on the ‘Base Hospital’ site are included in the Acute 
Operations Directorate.  This encompasses the Medical 
Services (General and Specialty Medicine), Surgical 
Services, Mental Health Services, Woman’s and Children’s 
services, Specialist Clinics, Emergency and Intensive Care 
Services.   Subsequently, in May 2017, a reconfiguration 
of reporting lines within the Acute Operations Directorate 
occurred, followed by the appointing of suitably skilled 
and experienced senior staff into the positions of Clinical 
Directors (medical professionals) and Operations Directors 
(nursing or allied health professionals) for each of the five 
clinical streams.

This structure delivers ‘dual governance leadership’ 
enabling both medical and other health professionals to 
collaborate in the leadership they provide to their acute 
clinical stream.  Accountable for the delivery of the highest 
quality, accessible and sustainable care possible, the 
Clinical Directors and the Operations Directors ensure 
the Ballarat Health Services organisational values are 
demonstrated, day in and day out.

Medical Services
In 2016/17 more patients have received inpatient and 
community based care than ever before, with patients 
receiving expert and timely care, spending less time in 
hospital and more time at home recuperating, often with 
Hospital in the Home providing follow up care. Acute 
discharges increased by 1,307 or 3.27% for the year to 
41,293.  

Ballarat Regional Integrated Cancer Centre provided a 
record number of care episodes in 2016/17, focusing 
on expert care and treatment delivery, coupled with 
innovative and targeted projects, such as those that aim 
to improve the time it takes from diagnosis to treatment 
commencement.  

Surgical Services
Demand for access to surgical services across the 
Grampians region continues to grow, and in response 
Ballarat Health Services opened a brand new, purpose 
built 32 bed surgical ward in late 2017. Located on Level 
2 of the new Gardinar-Pittard Building, ‘2 GP’ sets a 
new environmental standard for inpatient care at Ballarat 
Health Services, and provides 32 new surgical beds for 
patient following surgical procedures.  7,340 patients 
undertook surgical procedures at Ballarat health Services in 
2016/17.  5,363  procedures were elective, and 1,977  were 
emergency procedures.  

Mental Health Services
Mental Health Care across the Grampians Region is a high 
priority at Ballarat Health Services, and despite numerous 
challenges, Ballarat Health Services strives to deliver high 
quality, timely and sustainable mental health services now 
and into the future.  In 2016/17 mental health services 
underwent a significant internal review, resulting in a 
reconfiguration of the way in which services are structured, 
and significant changes to the leadership positions across 
the service. In addition a wholesale review of the ‘Model of 
Care’ has been undertaken, with a number of key changes 
to services anticipated in the 2017/18 year.  Ballarat Health 
Services received funding to develop a mental health 
Prevention and Recovery Care (PARC) centre. The centre 
aims to provide supported clinical care to those consumers 
experiencing the early stages of an acute mental illness, or 
indeed, are in the early stages of recovery from an acute 
mental illness, in a least restrictive and supported, purpose 
built environment.  The PARC will be a significant addition 
to the Mental Health Services across the Grampians region, 
with the centre expected to be completed and operational 
in 2018/19.    

Women’s and Children’s Services 

Ballarat Health Services continued to provide the highest 
quality of care to women and children from across the 
region in 2016/17.  Whilst overall birth numbers were 
slightly lower than the previous year 1,374 the complexity 
of care increased, with increasing numbers of expectant 
parents turning to Ballarat Health Services to provide 
expert obstetric and paediatric care when birthing is likely 
to be complex.  

Acute Operations
The Acute Operations Directorate incorporates all Acute Inpatient Services, Acute Outpatient Services, 
BRICC, Emergency Services, Surgical Services, Mental Health Services, CNC, Maternity Services, Dialysis, 
Hospital in the Home, Patient Flow Coordinators, Activity Performance & Planning, Acute Quality Coordinator
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Aged Operations

Aged Operations’ purpose is to support our community to 
live well in the right place, with the right care at the right 
time, enabling the best quality of life possible for each 
individual, through making their own choices. 
The Aged Operations Directorate encompasses ten 
residential aged care facilities across four main sites, sub-
acute inpatient services and dementia care research team. 
The sub-acute inpatient programs include rehabilitation, 
aged care evaluation and palliative care, located at the 
Queen Elizabeth Centre.
We are proud of the difference we can make in the life 
of our community and advocate for their well-being. Our 
success over the past year has been made possible by 
the partnership work we have engaged in with residents, 
patients and their families, other organisations and regional 
partners. 

The Wish Tree at James Thomas Court
As part of our Activities program to enhance the well-being 
of residents living at James Thomas Court, the idea of a 
Wish Tree was conceived. Using a person-centred care 
approach, the tree looks at assisting with the wishes of all 
the residents and helps them to fulfil that wish. To enable 
wishes to come true, a trivia night was held to raise funds. 
Through the wish tree, we have managed to fulfil a few 
wishes. Three of our residents have recently had the 
opportunity to go to the ballet at Her Majesty’s Theatre 
to watch “Giselle” and enjoyed a wonderful night with a 
nice dinner out at Oscars’, and champagne and chocolate 
at the ballet. Two of the residents have never been to the 
ballet and commented that they are now addicted to it and 
all of them would love to go again.
Other wishes that have been fulfilled included Geelong 
scarfs being presented to a couple of avid Geelong fans, 
thanks to the generosity of a couple of staff members, and 
lunch out at the Blue Bell Hotel. There are still lots more 
wishes to be fulfilled which we will endeavour to do so. 
More fundraising to come… 

Montessori Program at Eureka Village
The first half of 2017 has seen Eureka Village Hostel staff 
participating in a program with Alzheimer’s Australia to 
develop the Ballarat Health Services person-centred  
model of care at Eureka Village Hostel.  

The broad aims of the program were to:
• Develop and document a unique model of care for  
 Ballarat Health Services based on Montessori  
 principles and what is important to Ballarat Health  
 Services residents, families and staff.
• Implement the Ballarat Health Services model of care  
 within the dementia specific area at Eureka Village  
 Hostel.
• Further develop leadership skills and knowledge of  
 staff to lead practice improvement based on the model  
 of care, which focuses on residents’ ability rather than  
 their disability.
The consultancy program worked with staff through a 
series of steps including:
1. Establishing a foundation, including consulting with  
 residents and their families and reviewing the  
 environment.
2. Planning to improve practice.
3. Implementing/piloting improvement projects.
4. Evaluation of improvements.
The value of the program is still being realised and will 
continue to provide benefits to both residents, families and 
staff over the coming year. 

Gandarra Palliative Care Unit –  
Regional Leadership 
Gandarra Palliative Care Unit has provided regional 
leadership in the delivery of a unique education and training 
program: the Program of Experience in the Palliative 
Approach (PEPA), which aims to enhance the capacity of 
health professionals across primary, secondary and tertiary 
settings to deliver a palliative care approach. PEPA offers 
health professionals the opportunity to participate in clinical 
placements at specialist palliative care services.
Gandarra has partnered in this Australian Government 
Department of Health initiative since 2009.  The partnership 
builds workforce capacity by: facilitating clinical experience 
and other experiential opportunities in the palliative 
approach to care for health practitioners across rural, 
remote and metropolitan settings; enhancing linkages 
between specialist and generalist palliative care providers; 
enabling Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health care 
providers to gain culturally-appropriate experience in the 
palliative approach to care; and providing clinicians with 
professional skills development opportunities. 

The Aged Operations Directorate incorporates all Residential Administration, Residential Care Services,  
Sub-Acute Services, Aged Quality Co-ordinator, Residential In-reach, Community Aged Program 
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After participating in the Gandarra PEPA placement, health 
professionals are able to demonstrate:
• an increased appreciation of dying and death as a  
 normal part of the life continuum; 
• an increased awareness of the scope and benefits of  
 timely and appropriate access to palliative care  
 services; 
• an increased awareness and understanding of  
 culturally-appropriate palliative care provision;
• a clear understanding of the principles of palliative care  
 and an ability to identify the needs of individuals with a  
 life-limiting illness, and the needs of their families,  
 including care preferences, spiritual requirements and  
 bereavement expression; 
• an ability to identify the role of their discipline in  
 managing issues faced by individuals with a life-limiting  
 illness; 
• an ability to identify services and resources to support  
 individuals with a life-limiting illness, as well as their  
 families; 
• an ability to recognise their own knowledge base and  
 scope of practice with regard to optimal palliative care  
 provision, and an ability to identify their individual  
 coping strategies to effectively manage the personal  
 issues related to working in this field. 
A recent PEPA participant commented, “I can’t thank the 
Gandarra team enough for my two days PEPA placement.  
This experience was beyond valuable and the skills I learnt 
will enhance the care I deliver.”  

Hailey House Residents and  
Kindergarten Children
Hailey House have been very fortunate in the past year to 
have a local primary school and two kindergartens coming 
to visit us.  The schoolchildren bring their English and 
Japanese books, iPads, assignments and various school 
projects. 
We average about 45 children, plus teachers and aids, per 
visit. Four groups of children, between 10 to 20 children in 
a group, visiting from two nearby kindergartens.  Residents, 
staff, volunteers, and our visitors, have built a lovely rapport 
with the children, teachers, aids and parents. These visits 
bring happiness and they are loud and engaging. Residents 
and the children all look forward to this activity.
We are currently working with one of the visiting 
kindergartens with a goal of holding a once a week 
morning kindergarten session at Hailey House. We are 
hoping if all goes to plan, that we will commence a trial 
session in the third school term around September 2017.

Aged Care Awards 2016-17 
Runners Up for their contribution in improving quality of life 
for the residents at the facilities where these staff work are:  
• Debbie Craig – Eureka Village Hostel Activities  
 Co-ordinator 
• Sue Witherspoon Geoffrey Cutter Centre Residential  
 Services Assistant
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State-Wide Equipment Program
The State-Wide Equipment Program (SWEP) provides 
aids and equipment to eligible clients with a permanent 
disability and to those clients who are frail and aged. 
SWEP received additional funding (beyond its annual 
targets for 2016/17) to address waiting lists associated with 
aids and equipment for children and those people aged 
above 65 years. 
This funding enabled SWEP to support an additional 
248 children and 4,000 people over the age of 65 years, 
significantly impacting our waiting lists.

Ballarat Health Services 
Dental Clinic 
The Ballarat Health Services Dental Clinic was awarded the 
‘Best Public Dental Clinic’ in Victoria in December 2016.
Ballarat Health Services Dental Clinic operates a total of 22 
dental chairs (including 10 teaching chairs). 
Dental Health Services Victoria has provided an extension 
to the current agreement of providing teaching dental 
chairs for 4th and 5th year Latrobe University dentistry 
students. Ballarat Health Services Dental Clinic provides 
a well-supported model of teaching allowing students to 
provide comprehensive dental care to our eligible patients. 
This year, 43 dentistry students from Latrobe University 
have attended and worked under the supervision of highly 
qualified and experienced dentists at Ballarat Health 
Services Dental Clinic.  Dental Health Services Victoria has 
recommended our teaching model be implemented in all 
dental teaching facilities across Victoria. 
The Ballarat Health Services Dental Clinic achieved well 
above its annual target which saw a total of 9,179 patients 
undertake dental examinations and complete 83,939 
treatments.

Centre Against Sexual Assault
The Centre Against Sexual Assault (CASA) has performed 
considerable work this year, in particular to support those 
who have suffered institutional abuse.
The increasing demands on service provision has 
demonstrated the exceptional professionalism and 
resilience of the CASA workforce in the delivery of 
care across all our counselling programs. In addition 
to providing trauma counselling, the centre’s work in 
prevention has also continued to grow. There has been 
much demand from schools in our region for the training 
and education we offer around consent and respectful 
relationships. 
Additional State Government funding has been allocated 
for the 2017 to 2019 period to provide an ongoing 
commitment associated with our work with young people 
up to 15 years of age who display sexually abusive 
behaviours.

Community Programs
The Australian Government has introduced the National 
Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) to assist those people 
with a disability in the provision of their ongoing care and 
support.
Ballarat Health Services has registered with the NDIS to 
provide the following services: 
• Continence Assessments 
• Support Coordination
• Prosthetics and Orthotics
Other services (including Allied Health therapies) may be 
provided as the transition to the NDIS continues.
Another change that has been occurring in 2016/2017 
is around home-based services for people over the age 
of 65 years, these services are now funded from the 
Commonwealth under the Commonwealth Home Support 
Program (CHSP). The transition has included additional 
data reporting requirements via a newly established portal.

Primary & Community Care
The Primary and Community Care Directorate is responsible for the Allied Health therapy disciplines (Dietetics, 
Exercise Therapy, Occupational Therapy, Physiotherapy, Podiatry, Prosthetics/Orthotics, Psychology, Social 
Work and Speech Pathology), Community Programs (Aged Care Assessment Services, Central Intake, 
Post-Acute Care Program, Community Palliative Care, Cognitive Dementia and Memory Service, Hospital 
Admissions Risk Program, Carers Support, Planned Activity Groups, Continence), the State-Wide Equipment 
Program (SWEP), the Centre Against Sexual Assault (CASA), the Ballarat Public Dental Services and Health 
Promotion, the development and coordination of Ballarat Health Services’ service provision through the 
National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS).
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The Transition Care Forum, held on Friday June 23rd at 
Mercure Ballarat, was on caring for those with dementia 
and in cognitive decline. The forum was a great success 
with over 100 people in attendance and excellent 
presentations covering areas such as moving from 
moderate to severe dementia, and providing advocacy for 
those suffering cognitive decline. 

Allied Health
Following a successful application for funding through 
Better Care Victoria, the Allied Health Team have 
commenced a Telehealth project to improve the delivery 
of care and support to patients across Ballarat and the 
Grampians region. 
This year Ballarat Health Services appointed a female 
Aboriginal Health Liaison Officer to our Aboriginal Health 
team to support BHS staff; providing advice on culturally 
sensitive issues, case management and the coordination 
of our Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander patients being 
discharged back to the Ballarat community.

Health Promotion
As part of the Primary and Community Care Directorate’s 
focus on preventative care and health promotion and 
to strengthen our alliances with our community health 
partners, Ballarat Health Services has appointed a 
dedicated Health Promotion Program Manager.

Aboriginal Health 
For more than a decade, Ballarat Health Services (BHS) 
has been working in partnership with the Ballarat and 
District Aboriginal Co-operative (BADAC) to improve 
access, service delivery and health outcomes for the local 
Aboriginal community. The partnership is recognised as 
one of the strongest to influence positive health outcomes 
for Aboriginal people within the State of Victoria.
The partnership has resulted in a number of significant 
achievements, including:
• Ensuring that access, pathways and support are in  
 place for Aboriginal people accessing services at  
 BHS. The BHS Aboriginal Health Team works across  
 the organisation providing inpatient and outpatient  
 support, care coordination, discharge planning and a  
 culturally safe environment for Aboriginal people  
 accessing services at BHS.
• One third of our staff have now participated in cultural  
 insight training, including our Board and Executive  
 staff. Local Aboriginal artwork is displayed across  
 the organisation. The Aboriginal Health Team is made  
 up of both male and female workers and our care is  
 patient centred.
• The appointment of a midwife for Indigenous Maternity  
 Services has improved Aboriginal women’s  
 attendance at the Maternity Outpatient Clinic resulting  
 in lower mortality rates, higher birth weights,  
 educational opportunities and pre/postnatal support  
 initiatives. In 2016 there were 67 Aboriginal babies born  
 at BHS.
• Earlier this year we signed the new 5 year BHS and   
 BADAC Partnership Agreement, which included  
 a smoking ceremony and the unveiling of the Bunjil  
 sculpture. Aboriginal babies born at BHS during 2016  
 and their families were invited to attend the smoking  
 ceremony, which was overseen by Wathaurong elders  
 and the local Aboriginal community.
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2017
$000

2016
$000

2015
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

2012
$000

2011
$000

Total Revenue 450,563 415,983 388,957 372,541 346,418 329,341 287,312

Total Expenses 450,626 415,582 388,823 372,230 345,710 329,127 287,147

Other Operating flows included 
in the Net Result

1,789 (1,292) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Net Result for the Year (10,713) (4,468) (11,523) (10,027) 446 16,511 (8,155)

Operating Result 63 310 134 311 708 214 165

Total Assets 419,986 420,557 420,177 418,584 335,444 331,990 285,326

Total Liabilities 140,013 129,871 125,208 117,954 101,019 98,011 87,544

Net Assets 279,973 290,686 294,969 300,630 234,425 233,979 197,782

Total Equity 279,973 290,686 294,969 300,630 234,425 233,979 197,782

Ballarat Health Services recorded an operating surplus of $63,000 for the year ended 30 June 2017.  
The target was a breakeven operating result in the statement of priorities.

Resources & Planning
The Resources & Planning Directorate incorporates all Finance, Payroll/Salary Packaging, Information 
Technology (Inc. I.T. Alliance), Health Information, Diagnostic Business Unit, incl. Imaging & Breastscreen, 
Patient Services, Supply, Security, Infrastructure, Business Units, Hotel Services, Governance and Planning, 
Capital Redevelopment, Health Information Services, Decision Support Unit (previously Data Management 
and Reporting), Eureka Linen, BHS Catering and SafetyLink
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Financial Performance
The 2016/17 financial year has been a challenging one for Ballarat Health Services with continued growth in demand 
for services. Consistent with previous years Ballarat Health Services had a target of a breakeven operating result in the 
Statement of Priorities. This has been achieved through continued focus on generating revenue and improved efficiency 
to make a small surplus of $63,000 before capital and economic gains. The Health service continues to develop further in 
environmental sustainability.

Capital Projects
The current financial year saw the completion of the 
$46.4M redevelopment of the Gardiner-Pittard building 
which was officially opened on 22 February by Minister 
Jill Hennessy and both the families of Helen Gardiner and 
Mary Pittard who the building is named after.   This building 
has given an additional 32 acute beds for the Health 
Service, future expansion opportunity for theatre space and 
returned the main entrance to Drummond street.
  

Radiology & Diagnostic Services
Ballarat Health Services Radiology department is the major 
referral centre for diagnostic and interventional Radiology 
in the Western and Central Highlands regions of Victoria, 
servicing the inpatient and outpatient needs of Greater 
Ballarat, as well as regional towns such as Maryborough, 
Warracknabeal, Stawell, Ararat, Nhill, Bacchus Marsh, 
Melton and Warrnambool. The patient load of recent years 
has seen annual examination numbers approach 120,000.
This service offers state of the art imaging services though 
Computed Tomography (imaging technique) , Magnetic 
resonance imaging (MRI), traditional X-Ray and other 
imaging services.
 



Information Management
The Victorian Auditor General tabled a report in May 2017 
in which they assessed the effectiveness of information and 
communication and technology (ICT) strategic planning 
in the public health sector. They examined BHS as one of 
the selected agencies and confirmed BHS has effective 
health ICT Strategic planning processes. In November 
2016, the Minister for Health approved Digitising Health: 
How information and communications technology will 
enable person-centred health and wellbeing within Victoria 
(Digitising Health). The report Targeting Zero: Supporting 
the Victorian hospital system to eliminate avoidable harm 
and strengthen quality of care, released in October 2016, 
confirmed the need for integrated clinical ICT systems to 
allow patient information to be shared, to increase safety 
and the quality of care that hospitals provide.
The BHS ICT Strategic plan 2017 -2022 is currently being 
drafted to align with the recently released BHS Strategic 
Plan 2017 -2022 and Clinical Services Plan 2017 -2037 and 
the above mentioned reports at state level.In the coming 
year, BHS is expanding the Digital Medical Record to the 
Grampians Health Services to establish a shared regional 
digital medical record. The first site is expected to go live in 
the 2017 calendar year.
 

Environmental Performance
 In recognition of the health of our environment and long 
term health of our communities the BHS Environmental 
Sustainability Management Committee has continued to 
promote environmental sustainability within BHS.
In the last year the committee has developed an 
Environmental Sustainability Strategy for the next 5 years 
together with an Action Plan outlining key targets to be 
met. Key achievements this year include:
Development of a reporting system for existing renewable 
energy sources. Expanded PVC recycling program to 
hospital wards.
Revised waste management protocols.Innovative 
packaging to minimise food waste in residential facilities. 
Installation of 2 new chillers at Base Hospital reducing 
electrical consumption using new innovative technology
The new state of the art Gardiner/Pittard building with a 
number of features to reduce energy/ water consumption. 
The recent installation of new condenser heated hot water 
boilers replacing atmospheric boilers creating 20% more 
efficiency by utilising loss of heat through the flu of the 
previous boilers.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Activity
A continuing trend of recent years resulted in another busy year. The table shows an 1182 or nearly a 3% increase in acute 
separations. There has been a 8.75% decrease in the elective surgery waiting list  which is now at under 1000 and the elective 
surgery waiting list admissions has risen by 269 0r 5.2%

2016 - 17 2015 - 16 Change % Change
WIES 31,908 29,338 2,570 8.76%

Acute Separations 41,293 39,986 1,307 3.27%

Acute Discharged Bed days 89,054 87,926 1,128 1.28%

Discharged Births 1,374 1,423 -49 -3.44%

Theatre Cases 10,148 10,025 123 1.23%

Endoscopies 2,808 2,728 80 2.93%

Emergency Attendances 54,739 53,313 1,426 2.67%

Outpatient Attendances 76,080 77,641 -1,561 -2.01%

Elective Surgery Waiting List (ESWL) 986 1,080 -94 8.70%

ESWL Admission 5,363 5,092 271 5.32%
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Health, Safety & Wellbeing 
Ballarat Health Services is committed to providing a safe and 
healthy environment for staff, patients, residents, visitors, 
volunteers and contractors at all sites. 

Much of the focus over the last twelve months has been in 
ensuring we meet this commitment. The two  independent 
reviews have also informed the body of work undertaken, 
recognising there is further work to be completed. The 
reviews resulted in 156 recommendations being made, 
with all recommendations being endorsed by the Board of 
Directors. So far, 120 recommendations have been actioned, 
with the remaining actions due for completion in the next 
twelve months. 

The organisational cultural change program is being 
supported through the “BHS Together” program. The 
framework is based on empowerment and accountability of 
our staff in informing the future direction of Ballarat Health 
Services. 

The introduction of the Protected Disclosure Program has 
provided a platform for action and feedback from staff 
with 61% raising issues to be addressed. The remaining 
39% being compliments or opportunities for organisational 
improvement. 

A ‘Contact Liaison Officer’ program was launched in February 
2017, with six staff appointed and externally trained to 
provide an additional resource for staff in resolving issues 
or escalating concerns as they require. The program is a 
confidential service that staff can access with highly skilled 
colleagues in seeking advice or options in issue resolution.

Our commitment to our staff has further informed  the  
occupational health and safety agenda, with a strong focus 
on risk assessment, early intervention in injury management, 
robust training programs and continuous improvement 
strategies supporting staff wellbeing. 

The Occupational Health & Safety Department deliver several 
key training programs that include Safe Patient Handling 
& Mobility (SPHM), Management of Clinical Aggression 
(MOCA), Workplace  Conduct, Injury Management Training 
for Managers and Manual Handling.   This work has helped to 
realise a 12% reduction in the number of work-related injuries 
requiring staff to take time off work compared to last year. 

Ballarat Health Services takes occupational violence seriously 
and provides regional leadership through the coordination 
and delivery of Management of Clinical Aggression (MOCA) 
training. Through the program  Occupational Violence is 
recognised as “It’s never Ok” and reporting of incidents 
has doubled this last financial year - 1% of these reported 
incidents resulted in injury to staff and there has also been a 
significant reduction in the severity of such injuries.  Ballarat 
Health Services has been successful in securing $339,000 
in additional funding to upgrade and expand infrastructure 
to further enhance prevention and risk mitigation strategies 
aimed at protecting our staff from the threat to their safety 
and welfare posed by exposure to incidents of occupational 
violence.  

People & Culture
The People & Culture Directorate is responsible for all aspects of people management including recruitment, 
organisational change, industrial/employee relations, equal employment opportunity, employee health, safety 
and wellbeing, pastoral/spiritual care, non-clinical training , organisational development and volunteer services.  
The Directorate is also responsible for fundraising, media, communications and managing the relationship 
with the Ballarat Health Services Foundation
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Occupational violence statistics 2016 - 2017

1. Workcover accepted claims with an  
occupational violence cause per 100 FTE
2. Number of accepted Workcover claims 
with lost time injury with an occupational 
violence cause per 1,000,000 hours worked. 
3. Number of occupational violence 
incidents reported
4. Number of occupational violence 
incidents reported per 100 FTE
5. Percentage of occupational violence 
incidents resulting in a staff injury, illness or 
condition

0.18

1.05

1666

59

1.14%



Our People

Number of employees occupying full, part time and casual positions at 30/6/2017 is 4367

Labour Category JUNE
Current Month FTE

JUNE
YTD FTE

2016 2017 2016 2017

Nursing 1237 1230 1207 1220

Administration and Clerical 531 526 512 528

Medical Support 271 274 266 265

Hotel and Allied Services 391 390 395 391

Medical Officers 48 43 46 43

Hospital Medical Officers 175 182 165 186

Sessional Clinicians 46 50 45 50

Ancillary Staff (Allied Health) 257 249 250 252

Total 2955 2944 2886 2935
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Staff Scholarships
Scholarship awards provide an outstanding opportunity for 
BHS staff to further develop their careers, by visiting centres 
of excellence at different health care providers, or attending 
conferences to further develop knowledge and skills and then 
return and transfer their knowledge within the health service. 

Congratulations are extended to all staff who have been 
awarded scholarships.

Doreen Bauer Travelling Scholarship

The 2017 Doreen Bauer Travelling Scholarship was awarded 
to two staff to participate in further career development. 

Jan Mitchell, Midwife. 
Jan was awarded the scholarship to attend the International 
Lactation Consultant Association annual conference in 
Canada and visit two ‘baby friendly’ health facilities in Toronto. 
The scholarship provided Jan with the opportunity to further 
develop her role as Midwife to include human lactation and 
its integration in clinical practice and provide further learning 
and insight into awareness of cultural and social support of 
breastfeeding. 

Katrina Bevelander,  
Centre Against Sexual Assault Counsellor. 
Katrina received the scholarship to attend the eight day 
Synergetic Play Therapy Intensive seminar at the Play 
Therapy Institute of Colorado. This training is based on a 
new and cutting edge model and designed to introduce play 
therapists to the pertinent information of brain development, 
the projective process, affect attunement and nervous system 
regulation that impacts the children in the play therapy room. 
This model of intervention for children and young people 
who have experienced sexual assault is non-invasive and 
is showing remarkable results. Training for this new and 
evolutionary style of intervention is only offered in Colorado.

Mental Health Travelling Scholarship 

Bethany Coates, Youth Mental Health Clinician. 
Bethany received the scholarship to undertake a clinical 
placement in the use of Dialectical Behavioural Therapy 
at Canada’s largest mental health and addiction teaching 
hospital. She will also attend the 67th Canadian Psychiatric 
Association’s Annual Conference in Ottawa.

Fundraising 
In 2016/17 donations, bequests, gifts in kind, pledges, 
distributions from philanthropic trusts and fundraising events 
provided $1.7 million to support facility development and 
equipment acquisition across Ballarat Health Services. 
This included $250,000 from the Ballarat Health Services 
Foundation. Run Ballarat, now in its fifth year, continues to 
grow in numbers and has raised just on $1 million for the 
Paediatric and Adolescent Unit redevelopment. The Ballarat 
Regional Integrated Cancer Centre has become a focus for 
community fundraising through events such organised by 
Dry July and Woolworth’s supermarkets. However it is the 
support BHS receives from individuals and groups across 
the community that underpin a relationship that we gratefully 
acknowledge.

Media 
Ballarat Health Services enjoys a positive relationship with 
our local media outlets and through the media BHS has taken 
the  opportunity to communicate to  our community including 
health promotion messages and alerts, information about 
new services and building developments, achievements and 
performance information and special health related events 
and celebrations.

In 2016/17 Ballarat Health Services media strategy focussed 
on developing messages of a positive nature with a total of 
550 mentions in the media.
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Ballarat Health Services is very well supported by a strong 
and dedicated volunteer workforce. Approximately 300 
volunteers represent a variety of backgrounds, ages and 
motivations. The demographic is gradually changing and 
there are increasing numbers of younger volunteers, as well 
as migrants and people with disabilities, which enriches 
diversity.

Of note within the past 12 months, the following programs 
have been developed:

• Volunteers have been assisting with childcare for the  
 Mother and Family Unit, ‘Circle of Security’ parenting  
 course, minding the babies and toddlers during the  
 sessions.

• 8 existing volunteer have been trained for the ‘Volunteer  
 Simulated Patient’ program, which allows educators  
 to provide realistic scenarios for students, enhancing  
 their learning outcomes. This program is proving to be  
 very successful, and there is great potential for growth so  
 more volunteers will be trained in the near future.

• Several volunteers have been inducted to participate in  
 the interview panels for ‘Transition to practice’ applicants,  
 bringing a non-clinical, consumer-focussed view to the  
 exercise.

• The boarders at St Patrick’s College have been visiting  
 residents at Talbot place for the last two terms, one night  
 a week after school. This project was the brainchild of one  
 of the leaders, with the intention of engaging the boarders  
 in their local community. It has been a wonderful  
 opportunity to bring together two groups of people who  
 live away from their families and loved-ones.

• There has been significant growth in demand for patient  
 transport in Ballarat Regional Integrated Cancer Centre 
 (BRICC), with the numbers of drivers increasing. Transport  
 services are also provided to some TCP clients, and  
 Residential Services now has the services of two bus  
 drivers, enabling Lifestyle staff to take residents on 
 outings with extra support.

• Volunteer Services has a continuing relationship with  
 Pinarc’s ‘Independent Living Skills’ program, and to-date,  
 has engaged four young people with a disability. These  
 dedicated young people are volunteering in PAGs and  
 Residential Services.

• The Welcome Team were commended for their  
 responsiveness to the opening of the Gardiner-Pittard  
 building. They were able to adjust their rostering to allow  
 for the changes and have been of great assistance to  
 people finding their way around the hospital.

Volunteer Services looks forward to another year of 
development, in response to the needs of the organisation 
and the community at large.

Volunteering at Ballarat Health Services
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AS AT 30 JUNE 2016

Chair
Rowena Coutts LLB BJuris

Appointed: July 2013 
Term of appointment:  
1 July 2016 - 30 June 2019

Board meetings attended: 11
Committee Meetings attended:
Board Executive & Remuneration 
Committee (Chair), Audit & Risk 
Committee, Finance & Resources 
Committee, People & Culture 
Committee, Medical Credentials 
& Appointments Committee, 
Primary Care & Population Health 
Advisory Committee, Community 
Advisory Committee, Quality Care 
Committee.

Deputy Chair
Patty Kinnersly  
BEd GradCertMgt DipAOD MMgt GAICD

Appointed: July 2015 
Term of appointment:  
1 July 2015 - 30 June 2018

Board meetings attended: 9
Committee Meetings attended:
Board Executive & Remuneration 
Committee, Audit & Risk 
Committee, Finance & Resources 
Committee, Primary Care & 
Population Health Advisory 
Committee (Chair)

David Miller  
DipCmmtyStud

Appointed: July 2015 
Term of appointment:  
1 July 2015 - 30 June 2018
Board meetings attended: 10
Committee Meetings attended:
Board Executive & Remuneration 
Committee, Finance & Resources 
Committee, Primary Care & 
Population Health Advisory 
Committee, Medical Credentials & 
Appointments Committee, People 
& Culture Committee, Project 
Control Group

Juliana Addison  
BA(Hons) GradDipEd MA(Communications) 

Appointed: July 2015 
Term of appointment:  
1 July 2015 - 30 June 2018
Board meetings attended: 11
Committee Meetings attended:
Board Executive & Remuneration 
Committee, Finance & Resources 
Committee, Quality Care 
Committee (Chair), Community 
Advisory Committee (Chair), 
People & Culture Committee

Craig Coltman MAICD

Appointed: July 2011 
Term of appointment:  
1 July 2014 - 30 June 2017
Board meetings 
attended: 9
Committee Meetings attended:
Audit & Risk Committee (Chair), 
Finance & Resources Committee, 
Quality Care Committee

Garry Jennings
AO, MB.BS, MD, FRCP, FRACP, FAAHMS,  
FAHA, FCSANZ, MAICD

Appointed: November 2016 
Term of appointment:  
28 November 2016 -  
30 June 2019
Board meetings  
attended: 5
Committee Meetings attended:
Quality Care Committee, Audit & 
Risk Committee

Kirby Clark
BCom CA FAICD

Appointed: July 2016 
Term of appointment:  
1 July 2016 - 30 June 2019
Board meetings  
attended: 11
Committee Meetings attended:
Finance & Resources (Chair),  
Quality Care Committee, Board 
Executive & Remuneration 
Committee, Community Advisory 
Committee

Natalie Reiter
MBA, BBUS, BA

Appointed: July 2016 
Term of appointment:  
1 July 2016 - 30 June 2019
Board meetings  
attended: 9
Committee Meetings attended:
People & Culture Committee (Chair)

Board of Directors as at 30 June 2017
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Chief Executive Officer
Dale Fraser
Appointed July 2016
Dale has worked exclusively with regional health services for the past 23 years, including time within the Hume, Barwon and 
Grampians region. Dale is currently the President of the Victorian Hospitals Industrial Association, a Director of Health Purchasing 
Victoria, a Director of Western Alliance and a Director of The Committee for Ballarat.
Bringing world class public health care to the most needy in our community, regardless of their social status or capacity to pay, is 
at the cornerstone of Dale’s belief system. 

Chief Medical Officer
Associate Professor Rosemary Aldrich 
Appointed May 2017
A journalist in electronic and print media before qualifying as a doctor and subsequently as a public health physician with 
specialty qualifications in medical leadership and management. Rosemary has extensive experience in public health and health 
services planning, delivery, management, policy, research, teaching, governance, workforce development, and clinician and 
consumer engagement. 
Underpinning all roles Rosemary has sought to support people working in health systems to do their best to provide high quality 
services to those who seek care. Rosemary’s research has examined how language is used to characterise groups as deserving 
or undeserving, and how a health system can best serve the most vulnerable in our community. 

Chief Nursing and Midwifery Officer
Leanne Shea 
Appointed November 2016
Leanne is a positive role model with many years’ experience in managing and coaching employees to reach their fullest potential 
across the public health sector. Leanne has extensive clinical experience having worked in executive positions in public health, 
her own consulting practice and senior nursing positions. Leanne believes in values driven leadership, engaging and building 
relationships based on trust and respect. Leanne is passionate about ensuring the patient and family experience is informed, 
inclusive and positive.

Executive Director - Acute Operations
Ben Kelly
Appointed November 2016
Ben has extensive clinical experience in mental health, acute and sub-acute public health environments. Ben’s personal 
leadership philosophy includes harnessing and embracing his skills and abilities as a leader, to ensure service delivery excellence 
for the benefit of the community, and fostering a work environment of respect, pride, nurturing, and professional development for 
staff.

Executive Team as at 30 June 2017
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Executive Director – Aged Operations
Jodie Cranham
Appointed December 2016
Jodie is an energetic and enthusiastic senior health care leader with a diverse background in leadership across the health 
care setting. She has extensive health care experience as a clinician and as a manager of multi-disciplinary teams across 
metropolitan, regional and rural Victoria. She started her career as a Dental Therapist working in dental vans across Barwon 
South Western Region.
Jodie enjoys investing time in employee engagement, development and alignment to values to create a great place to work and 
an exceptional consumer experience. 

Executive Director - Primary and Community Care 
Craig Wilding
Appointed December 2016
Craig trained as a radiographer in 1991 and is still very passionate about the profession. He went on to complete an MBA in 
2015. 

Executive Director - Resources and Planning
Rod Hansen
Appointed December 2016
Rod has extensive experience across both public and private health systems. He is an advocate for transparent decision making 
and a keen steward of resources. Rod enjoys working in the team environment that is essential for achieving great outcomes 
for our community. Rod’s proactive approach to leadership enables his colleagues to develop their strengths, thereby building a 
strong and positive team.

Executive Director - People and Culture
Fiona Brew 
Appointed November 2016
Fiona recognises people are our most important asset and is passionate about providing an empowering environment for them 
to learn and grow. We are in the business of ‘caring’ and collectively we are all responsible for our patient, client and resident 
outcomes.
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CEO
Chief Executive Officer
Dale Fraser

MEDICAL
Chief Medical Officer  
Rosemary Aldrich
Deputy Chief Medical Officer 
Linda Danvers 
Manager Senior Medical Governance 
Workforce and Research Office 
Susan Shea 
Manager Clinical Research Manager, IMS 
Research Fund 
Carmel Goss
Medical Workforce Governance Officer 
Prue Orchard
Director of Clinical Training and Supervisor 
of Intern Training 
Jaycen Cruickshank
Emergency Management Manager 
Don Garlick 
Director of Pharmacy 
Aaron Fitzpatrick 
Manager Infection Prevention and Control Unit 
Sue Flockhart

ACUTE OPERATIONS
Executive Director Acute Operations  
Ben Kelly
Clinical Director Medical Services  
Brett Knight
Operations Director Medical Services  
Steve Medwell
Clinical Director Mental Health Services 
Abdul Khalid
Operations Director Mental Health Services 
Mick Fryar
Clinical Director Specialist Clinics, Women’s 
& Children’s Services 
David Tickell
Director of Midwifery, Specialist Clinics, 
Women’s & Children’s Services  
Carolyn Robertson
Clinical Director Surgical Services 
Matthew Hadfield
Operations Director Surgical Services 
Joy Taylor
Clinical Director Emergency & Intensive 
Care Medicine 
Angus Richardson
Director of Nursing, Access & Operations 
Angie Spencer
Senior Medical Staff 
Emergency & Intensive Care 
Emergency 
Ali Al Joboory 
Bruce Beal 
Nigel Beck 
Pauline Chapman  
Linda Chow 
Stephen Costa
Andrew Crellin
Heather Crook 
Jaycen Cruickshank 
Tanya Dean
Kirsty Dunn
Mark Hartnell 
Jocelyn Howell
Jeniffer Kim-Blackmore
Helen Laurence  
Amanda Lishman  
Alastair Meyer

Petra Niclasen
Treena Quarin
Thomas Razga
James  Roberts 
Rajesh Kumar Sannappareddy 
Gino Toncich
Spiro Tsipouras 
Andrew Underhill
Amanda Wilkin
Intensive Care
William Ainslie
Robert Gazzard
William Silvester 
Anthony Sutherland
Intensive Care/Anaesthetics
Bruce Christie
Sudharshan Karalapillai 
Doug Paxton 
Robert Ray
Angus Richardson  

Medical Services  
Gastroenterology  
Mohammed Alansari
Timothy Elliott 
Maree Pekin

General Medicine
Arunasalam Ambikapathy 
James Hurley 
Anurada (Binara) Jayasinghe 
Brett Knight
Prabahavan Manoharan 
John Richmond 
Ramesh Sahathevan
Susheel Sharma
Konkaduwa Silva 
Alex Tai 
John Van Den Broek
Haematology
Ashwini Bennetty 
Song Chen 
Simon He 
Prahlad Ho  
Swe Myo Htet 
Matthew KU
Pohan Lukito 
Paul Turner
Medical Oncology
Vishal Boolell 
Stephen Brown 
Craig Carden 
Geoffrey Chong 
Wasek Faisal 
George Kannourakis 
Prashanth Prithviraj 
Sabine Roithmaier 
Bhaumikkumar Shah
Sharad Sharma
John Sycamnias
Lee Teo
Respiratory and Sleep Medicine 
Camelia Borta
Cardiology
Wayne Childs 
Christopher Hengel 
Joshua Martin
Romulo Oqueli Flores
Rodney Reddy 
Anand Sharma  
Baohua Zhu 
Infectious Diseases
Raquel Cowan
Sarah Sparham
Radiation Oncology
Louise Gorman 
Carminia Lapuz
Simone Reeves 
Jonathon Tomaszewski
Neurology
Michael Hayman 
Thomas Kraeme
Mandy Lau 

Neurosurgery
Thomas Morris
Microbiology 
Yvonne Hersusianto
Lymphoedema
Susan Hodson
Endocrinology
Christopher Jung
Christine Rodda 
Sun Kun (David) Song 
Dermatology
Bishakha Rajagopalan
 
Mental Health Services 
Psychiatry
Priya Allencherry
David Barton
Ramesh Chandra 
Hany Farag Ghabrash
Sonia Ghai 
Richard Kefford
Abdul Khalid
Nalaka Kolamunna
Manisha Mishra
Ravindra Mutha
Ranjith Nallahewa
Anoop Raveendran Nair Lalitha
Anne Seneviratne
Ram Singh 
Rajul Tandon

Surgical Services 
General Surgery
Douraid Abbas
Ruth Bollard 
Michael Condous 
David Deutscher 
Stuart Eaton 
Tom Fisher 
Andrew Lowe  
Ahmed Naqeeb  
Michael Ng   
Kontoku Shimokawa 
Bruce Stewart  
Stephen Tobin  
Daniel Wong  
Ru Wei Xu  
Otolaryngology 
Karin Annertz
Paul Donoghue
Mark Guirguis
Niall McConchie 
Anaesthetist
Michael Bassett
Deas Brouwer  
Wai Li Chew   
Peter Commons   
Richard Connell    
Suzanne Cook    
Rachel Cowell   
Jonathan Evans   
Michael Farrell   
Samuel Frost    
Gregory Henderson    
Gregory Hughes    
Anthony Keeble    
Jeyanthi Kunadhasan     
Alison Lilley    
Kapila Liyanapathirana    
Daniel McIntyre   
Ryan McMullan    
Craig Mitchell   
Williemena Ong    
Shaktivel Palanivel    
Duncan Phillips    
Lloyd Roberts    
Frederick Rosewarne   
Rachna Shankar   
Sanjay Sharma   
Michael Shaw   
Peter Shea    
Gwendolyn-Mary Stewart   
Hock Tan    
Michael Whitehead    
Faizan Zia   

SENIOR STAFF AS AT 30 JUNE Senior Staff as at 30 June 2017
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Urology
David Cook    
Adee-Jonathan Davidson   
Lachlan Dodds   
Robert Forsyth   
Lydia Johns Putra    
Richard McMullin    
Prassannah Satasivam   
Orthopaedic Surgery 
John Dillon
Michael English 
Scott Mason  
David Mitchell 
John Nelson 
Luke Spencer 
Ophthalmology 
David Francis
Trent Roydhouse  
Michael Toohey 
Vascular Surgery 
Matthew Hadfield
Pain Medicine
Malcolm Hogg 
Kiran Tippur
 
Women’s and Children’s Services  
Paediatrics 
Paulina Alhucema
Philippa Bolton    
Louise du Plessis  
Maurice Easton    
Austen Erasmus    
Lakshman Gadag Doddamani    
Jubal John    
David Krieser     
Mark Nethercote    
Fiona Noble   
Shabna Rajapaksa    
Adam Scheinberg    
David Tickell    
Robert Weintraub    
Janie Worth    
Obstetrics & Gynaechology
Michael Bardsley
Michael Carter 
Russell Dalton  
Paul Davey 
Natasha Frawley  
Katrina Guerin 
Thomas Jobling 
Iruka Kumarage 
Jeanette Lim  
Patrick Moloney 
Deepika Monga 
Zainab Sabri 
Chantelle Stubna 

NURSING & MIDWIFERY
Chief Nursing & Midwifery Officer 
Leanne Shea
Director of Nursing Clinical Education 
and Practice Development 
Denielle Beardmore
Director Governance & Risk 
Management 
Keren Day 
Library Manager 
Gemma Siemensma 
Manager Central Allocations Unit 
Annie Rivett

AGED OPERATIONS
Executive Director Aged Operations 
Jodie Cranham
Clinical Director of Sub-Acute Medicine 
Joseph Ibrahim 
Director of Nursing - Sub-Acute  
(Bed Based) Services  
Meredith Theobald
Director of Nursing Ballarat East  
Jacqui King
Director of Nursing Ballarat North and 
Wendouree 
Kenneth Pfukwa

Director of Nursing Sebastopol and  
Central Complexes  
Michael Kirby 
Senior Medical Staff 
Geriatrics 
Judith Adams   
Chelsea Baird   
Joseph Ibrahim    
Alfredo Obieta    
Tamsin Santos   
Rosemarie Shea   
Yasmin Sheikh   
Philip Street   
Mark Yates   
Palliative
Penelope Cotton  
Chi Li - Palliative
Gregory Mewett  
Eve Westland  
Rehabilitation
Richard Bignell 
Susan Hodson  
Thomas Kraemer 
Michael McDonough 
Jay Patel
Ramesh Sahathevan

PRIMARY AND 
COMMUNITY CARE
Executive Director Primary and 
Community Care 
Craig Wilding
Operations Director Community 
Programs 
Michelle Veal
Operations Director State Wide 
Equipment Program 
Jeni Burton
Operations Director Dental Services 
Jacqui Nolan
Operations Director Centre Against 
Sexual Assault 
Shireen Gunn
Program Manager, Health Promotion 
Kerry Walsh
Allied Health Clinical Managers 
Acushla Thompson (Speech Pathology)
Anna Wong Shee (Clinical Associate Professor  
Allied Health)
Catherine Ludbrook (Social Work)
Dimitri Diacogiorgis (Podiatry)
Georgie Kemp (Physiotherapy and Exercise 
Therapy)
Kylie McKenzie (Psychology)
Margaret Dawson (Allied Health Assistants  
and Administration)
Meredith Atkinson (Dietetics) 
Michele Pearson (Occupational Therapy)
Michelle Oliver (Prosthetics and Orthotics)
Senior Medical Staff
Dental 
Mitchell Barker 
Alice Chen
Tiffany Chuo
William Del Rio 
Preeti Grover
Awat Haghtalab 
Jane Lee
Siamak Mardani 
Mira Mikhail
Pallavi Mishra
Elizabeth Regan
Mairi (Anne) Stewart
Theja Surapaneni 
Nidhi Tandon
Nhat Tran  

RESOURCES AND 
PLANNING
Executive Director Resources and 
Planning 
Rod Hansen
Director Corporate Services 
Russell Hardy 
Director of Property and Infrastructure 
Gerard Kennedy
Director Information Management 
Kate Nolan 
Director Remuneration Services 
Paul Keane 
Director Radiography and Diagnostic 
Services 
Richard van Dreven 
Director of Radiology 
Arthur McKenna
Senior Medical Staff
Radiology 
Radiology 
Paul Riley
Jamie Tran
Simon Ussher  
Richard Ussher  
Alicia Wang  
Xavier Yu  
Nuclear Medicine
Genevieve Flannery 
Reza Garzan 
Kenny Wong

PEOPLE AND CULTURE 
Executive Director People and Culture 
Fiona Brew  
Deputy Executive Director/Employee 
Relations Manager 
Kevin Stewart  
Workforce and Recruitment Services 
Manager 
Angela Turley 
Occupational Health and Safety 
Manager 
Alisha Bedggood  
Acting Learning and Development 
Manager 
Fiona Murphy
Volunteer Services Manager 
Sue Jakob 
Director Foundation and Fundraising 
Geoff Millar 
Media and Communications Manager 
Daniel Anderson 
Pastoral/Spiritual Care Coordinator 
Johanna Niedra  
Manager Workforce Analytics 
Jenny Paulson
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Quality 
and safety

Implement systems 
and processes 
to recognise and 
support person-
centred end of life 
care in all settings, 
with a focus on 
providing support 
for people who 
chose to die at 
home. 

Advance care 
planning is included 
as a parameter 
in an assessment 
of outcomes 
including: mortality 
and morbidity 
review reports, 
patient experience 
and routine data 
collection.  

Ensure that 100% of 
patients presenting 
at the end stage 
of life are provided 
with supported and 
coordinated care 
using the Ballarat 
Health Services 
Care of the Dying 
Management Plan, 
which is based on 
the internationally 
recognised 
Liverpool Care 
Pathway.  

Implement 
supportive training 
to the junior medical 
workforce regarding 
person centred 
end of life care and 
the completion of 
the individualised 
Ballarat Health 
Services Care of the 
Dying Management 
Plan, with a target 
of 80% participation 
in the education 
program. 

Instigate clinical 
initiatives that will 
ensure at least 80% 
of patients admitted 
with an advance 
care plan, will have 
documentation 
within their medical 
record of reference 
to that advance care 
plan during their 
admission.    

Clinical Directors have been provided with monthly 
feedback on individual cases at the Mortality Review 
Committee meetings. This has resulted in a marked 
increase in the utilisation and completion of the Care of the 
Dying Management Plan from 60% this time last year, to 
86% in the 2017 April-June quarter. 

Ongoing monitoring of the utilisation and completion of 
the Care of the Dying Forms continues and is discussed at 
relevant Mortality Review Committee meetings.

Further education of clinical staff and leadership is 
required to ensure further improvement and completion of 
the Care of the Dying Management Plan. The Operations 
and Clinical Directors at BHS will facilitate this.

Intern, Hospital Medical Officers and Emergency 
Department Registrar training in Advance Care Plans/End 
of Life Care has been provided. 

An education plan for the new interns and registrars in 
2017 has been developed and implemented.

Over 100 BHS staff attended the Grand Round in March 
2017 with the presentation focused on patient centred 
care in regards to terminal illness, effective communication 
and care of the dying.

By June 2017, 87% of the junior medical workforce had 
participated in training pertaining to the Care of the Dying 
Management Plan.

Meetings have occurred with BHS Health Information 
Services and the Grampians Regional Palliative Care Team 
to progress this work. The recently implemented Clinical 
Alert Module is used to capture evidence of an advance 
care plan located in a patient’s medical record, however 
extracting this data from the Clinical Alert Module for 
admitted patients has not been successful.

Work continues on finding a solution for capturing 
evidence of an advanced care plan within the medical 
record.

 DOMAIN ACTION DELIVERABLES OUTCOMES 2016 - 2017

In 2016-17 Ballarat Health Services will contribute to the achievement of the Government’s commitments by:

Strategic Priorities
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Progress 
implementation 
of a whole-of-
hospital model for 
responding to family 
violence. 

Continue to improve 
the utilisation of 
the Oncology 
Supportive Care 
Screening Tool 
within radiation 
oncology, day 
chemotherapy and 
with a particular 
focus on oncology 
related surgery 
and specialist 
outpatients, for 
patients that have 
been recently 
diagnosed with 
cancer. 

Implement a whole 
of organisation 
response to family 
violence utilising 
the Strengthening 
Hospitals Response 
to Family Violence 
tool kit, with an 
initial focus on 
the emergency 
department and 
maternity services.

Following an audit in 2016, an implementation plan for 
improved utilisation of the supportive care screening at 
BHS commenced.

Currently documented evidence of the utilisation of 
supportive care screening is 33%.

The ARIA Oncology Information System will be utilised for 
future audits as it is anticipated that a new functionality 
within the next version of the ARIA software will provide 
easier access to this information, which is expected to 
significantly improve audit results.

The BHS Strengthening Hospitals Response to Family 
Violence project officer commenced in January 2017 and 
has since met with all key stakeholders. 

A Steering Committee has been formed to oversee project 
activity and an implementation plan has been developed.

A baseline staff survey was undertaken in April/May 2017 
to determine employees understanding of family violence 
prior to the rolling out of education. Over 600 surveys were 
completed with 90% of staff identified as having no prior 
training in Family Violence.

The training schedule for BHS and across the region has 
been developed and is currently being finalised, with 
priority areas identified as:

• Human Resources

• Management

• Hospital Staff (priority areas)

• Broader hospital staff

The Project Officer has met regularly with regional health 
services through the Health Services Quality Managers 
Meetings to inform them of the project and to work 
through requirements for regional education in the future.

Information sessions have been held across the region. 

Draft Policy and Procedure documents have been 
completed and are under review.

Strategic planning for the People and Culture directorate 
has been completed with a clear pathway established.

BHS plans to sign onto the Communities of Respect and 
Equality (CoRE) Family Violence strategy through Women’s 
Health Grampians in July 2017

 DOMAIN ACTION DELIVERABLES OUTCOMES 2016 - 2017
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Develop a regional 
leadership culture 
that fosters 
multidisciplinary and 
multi organisational 
collaboration to 
promote learning 
and the provision 
of safe, quality care 
across rural and 
regional Victoria.  

Provide corporate 
and clinical 
leadership across 
the region through 
strengthening 
partnerships and 
identifying new 
opportunities. 

Further develop 
and strengthen 
partnerships across 
the region aimed 
at collaborative 
delivery of elective 
surgery to improve 
surgical waiting 
lists and capacity 
management. 

The BHS 2017-2022 Strategic Plan has been developed 
and new strategies commenced, including providing 
leadership and strengthening partnerships across the 
region. The Strategic Plan is currently with the Health 
Minister awaiting her final approval.

The BHS 2017-27 Clinical Service Plan is being finalised 
following extensive consultation with key stakeholders 
from across the region. The Service Plan will identify new 
opportunities and partnerships across the region and will 
ascertain key priority areas for the health service to focus 
on over the next ten years. The Service Plan is due to be 
endorsed by the Board of Directors at the July 2017 board 
meeting.

In 2017, the Executive visited the Grampians region 
health services to gain a greater understanding of their 
current issues and priority areas. The visits enabled 
the development of new connections, communication 
pathways and to identify collaborative opportunities with 
each health service.

A draft model of subregional clinical governance has been 
developed and is currently being implemented. 

Progress continues to be made to strengthen 
Corporate areas by identifying opportunities for regional 
collaboration. 

The BHS 2017-2027 Clinical Service Plan is currently 
being finalised. Its compilation has included extensive 
consultation with health services across the region. 
The consultation process included identifying various 
opportunities to work collaboratively with other health 
services with the aim to improve surgical waiting lists and 
capacity management.

BHS has established elective surgery referral pathways 
with Ballarat Day Procedure Centre, St John of God 
Hospital Ballarat, Maryborough District Health Services, 
East Grampians Health Service, Stawell Regional Health, 
Hepburn Health Service and Kyneton District Health 
Service.

The outsourcing of 651 surgeries across the region has 
played a significant role in BHS achieving its Elective 
Surgery Waiting List Target and improving surgical waiting 
list times.

 DOMAIN ACTION DELIVERABLES OUTCOMES 2016 - 2017
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Establish a foetal 
surveillance 
competency policy 
and associated 
procedures for 
all staff providing 
maternity care 
that includes the 
minimum training 
requirements, 
safe staffing 
arrangements and 
ongoing compliance 
monitoring 
arrangements.

Building on existing 
foetal surveillance 
processes, develop 
a policy around safe 
staffing and training 
requirements in 
regard to the level 
of competency in 
foetal surveillance 
needed to work 
in Ballarat Health 
Services Maternity 
Services. 

Ensure that Ballarat 
Health Services’ 
midwifery and 
medical workforce 
groups achieve a 
95% competency 
rate in foetal 
surveillance. 

A working group was established to oversee the 
enhancement of the current BHS Foetal Surveillance 
Policy and to develop a clinical protocol that outlines the 
competency requirements for midwives and obstetricians.

The Foetal Surveillance Policy has been completed and 
work has commenced on the governance process.

The Royal Australian and New Zealand College of 
Gynaecologists and Obstetricians foetal surveillance 
program, level three competency, is now required of all 
obstetric and gynaecology consultants and registrars, 
midwives who are associate nurse unit managers or 
clinical nurse specialists, and midwifery educators.

All other areas are required to have level one competency. 

Staff in charge of a shift must have immediate access to 
a level three clinician to assess cardiotocography (CTG) 
readings as required.

Extra training sessions delivered by Royal Australian and 
New Zealand College of Gynaecologists and Obstetricians 
have been booked for 2017 throughout the Grampians 
region.

A new policy regarding foetal surveillance competency 
was introduced in 2017, which has resulted in BHS not 
achieving a 95% competency rating for midwifery and 
medical groups. Previously this training was available 
online and has now been changed to mandatory 
attendance to one of the Royal Australian and New 
Zealand College of Gynaecologists and Obstetricians 
Foetal Surveillance Workshop and Assessment sessions. 
Workshop training has been identified as an issue as it 
has attendance limitations due to staff requirements to fill 
rosters and the training being held over a full day.

Staff having achieved the appropriate level of training 
for their position in 2017, now have access to the online 
training module next year. It is expected to take 12 months 
for all staff to have attended the required training in line 
with the new policy.

As of June 2017, competency rates  for the obstetric 
workforce were:

Midwifery - 96%

Senior Medical Staff - 83%

Registrars - 50%

Residents - 100%

 DOMAIN ACTION DELIVERABLES OUTCOMES 2016 - 2017
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Use patient 
feedback, including 
the Victorian 
Healthcare 
Experience Survey 
to drive improved 
health outcomes 
and experiences 
through a strong 
focus on person 
and family centred 
care in the 
planning, delivery 
and evaluation of 
services, and the 
development of new 
models for putting 
patients first.

Develop a whole of 
hospital approach 
to reduce the use of 
restrictive practices 
for patients, 
including seclusion 
and restraint.

Review quarterly the 
Victorian Healthcare 
Experience 
Survey data to 
identify areas that 
are consistently 
underperforming.

Develop an action 
plan for 100% 
of consistently 
underperforming 
areas in the survey.

Review and 
monitor across 
the organisation to 
ensure the use of 
restrictive practices 
for patients is in 
alignment with 
Ballarat Health 
Services’ restraint 
policy. Implement 
strategies for 
improvement where 
identified.

The lowest performing items on the Victorian Healthcare 
Experience Survey have been identified; action plans 
developed and are currently being implemented. Progress 
against the action plans is being monitored by the relevant 
service areas and reported through to the Health Service 
Executive Governance Committee.

A promotional campaign has been developed to raise 
awareness with patients and families regarding the 
Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey, with the aim to 
improve the uptake in completion of the survey when 
received. 

BHS Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey data for the 
first quarter of 2017 showed 96% of patients rated overall 
hospital experience as very good or good. This was 4% 
above the state average.

BHS has a Clinical Practice Guideline which guides the 
acute, sub-acute and residential aged care services on the 
least restrictive practices to be taken in relation to physical 
restraint.

The Clinical Practice Guideline in relation to the use 
of physical restraints was reviewed in May 2017 and 
the Victorian Healthcare Incident Management System 
developed further to monitor processes relating to the use 
of restrictive practices across the organisation for, on the 
rare occasion, when it is medically identified as necessary. 

Residential Aged Care benchmark restraint practices 
with the rest of Public Sector Aged Care through the 
quality indicators and comply with BHS Clinical Practice 
Guideline: Physical Restraint Use.

Acute Inpatient Services are compliant with BHS Clinical 
Practice Guideline: Physical Restraint Use.

Sub-Acute Services do not use any forms of physical 
restrictive restraint.

The Mental Health Service follows the Mental Health 
Act 2014 prescribed guidelines regarding restrictive 
interventions such as restraint. The Mental Health Service 
also has a Clinical Practice Guideline on Reducing 
Restrictive Interventions. This guideline provides direction 
and guidance on the use of restrictive interventions 
within a context of least restrictive treatment. The BHS 
Mental Health Service Creating Safety Committee reviews 
all mental health restrictive interventions and quarterly 
audits are conducted. Monthly reports are forwarded to 
Department of Health and Human Services with rates 
noted as below the state benchmark.

 DOMAIN ACTION DELIVERABLES OUTCOMES 2016 - 2017
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Ensure that all 
employees engaged 
in direct patient/
resident/client care 
have attended 
management of 
clinical aggression 
training thus 
building on the 
knowledge and 
skills within the 
organisation to 
manage complex 
situations and 
reduce the overall 
need to use 
restrictive practices. 

In 2016, Acute Inpatient Services nursing workforce had 
completion rates for Management of Clinical Aggression 
training between 72% - 100% in the identified high risk 
areas with an overall completion of 69%. Refresher 
training was offered in 2017 and staff scheduled to attend 
training as per the agreed BHS Management of Clinical 
Aggression training schedule.  

In 2017, competency rates dropped to 46.2% organisation 
wide.  Bookings show that approximately 65% of 
available training capacity is being utilised. A trial is 
being conducted to review more effective delivery of 
Management of Clinical Aggression training and the results 
will inform the 2018 training calendar. 

 DOMAIN ACTION DELIVERABLES OUTCOMES 2016 - 2017
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Access 
and 
timeliness

Ensure the 
development and 
implementation of 
a plan in specialist 
clinics to: (1) 
optimise referral 
management 
processes and 
improve patient flow 
through to ensure 
patients are seen 
in turn and within 
time; and (2) ensure 
Victorian Integrated 
Non-admitted 
Health data 
accurately reflects 
the status of waiting 
patients.

Undertake a 
specialist clinics 
review to optimise 
patient flow, 
including the 
identification and 
implementation 
of an effective 
electronic referral 
management 
system to ensure 
a consistent and 
standardised 
administrative 
process across all 
outpatient clinics 
with the aim of 
ensuring patients 
are seen in turn and 
within time.

In collaboration with 
Western Victoria 
Primary Health 
Network introduce 
a new web based 
portal health 
pathway system 
that has defined 
referral guidelines 
for external health 
providers to utilise, 
as the preferred 
referral mechanism 
to Ballarat 
Health Services 
specialist clinics, 
thus ensuring the 
appropriateness and 
improved quality of 
all referrals.

Ensure the Victorian 
Integrated Non-
Admitted Health 
data accurately 
reflects the status 
of waiting patients 
through a review 
of common errors 
and development 
of an effective 
communication 
strategy for all staff 
with data entry 
responsibility.  

Geographical separation of the call-centre and referral 
management centre has been scoped by the Business 
Manager Specialist Clinics

Data has been collected and collated on each specialist 
clinic regarding human resource requirements, physical 
space and equipment needs.

BHS submitted a successful application to participate 
in the Better Care Victoria Specialist Clinic Collaborative 
Project. Funding will  support a twelve month project with 
the aim to improve patient flow and waiting times.

A Memorandum of Understanding has been signed with 
Western Victoria Primary Health Network.

Western Victoria Primary Health Network has recruited 
for General Practitioner Editor positions and a Steering 
Committee has been established. 

The Primary Health Network Steering Committee meets 
regularly and has two representatives from BHS on the 
Committee.

Mapping of pathways by the Primary Health Network is 
nearing completion.

Issues with the Victorian Integrated Non-Admitted Health 
Data and BHS Integrated Patient Management System 
(IBA) incompatibility have been corrected.
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Ensure the 
implementation of a 
range of strategies 
(including processes 
and service models) 
to improve patient 
flow, transfer times 
and efficiency in 
the emergency 
department, with 
particular focus on 
patients who did not 
wait for treatment 
and/or patients that 
re-presented within 
48 hours

Develop and 
implement criteria 
to enable nurse led 
discharge processes 
on the acute wards 
to address routine 
and weekend 
discharges.

Establish a 
dashboard report 
which captures 
planned and 
unplanned returns 
to the emergency 
department within 
48 hours, enabling 
monitoring, 
identification of 
themes and action 
planning from this 
data.

A Transition of Care Project report was completed on 30 
June 2016. A working group was established to identify 
patient cohorts suitable for criteria led discharge.
BHS received $2.8 million funding from the Department 
of Health and Human Services, for improvement work to 
systems and processes in the emergency department. 
An independent consultant was engaged to complete 
further diagnostic work with a focus on patient flow. 
This data has informed priority areas of focus to assist 
improvement in length of stay, transfer times from the 
emergency department and implementation of criteria led 
discharge. This work is progressing. 
The recent diagnostic studies undertaken included an 
acute inpatient ward study – ‘Why am I still here?’ The 
study concluded an overall lack of discharge and patient 
journey planning at the ward level with a recommendation 
to develop a Discharge Planning Initiative with key clinical 
leaders across the hospital incorporating a discharge 
planning focus into the ward leadership multidisciplinary 
team strategy i.e. ward rounds, timely decision making, 
before 10.00am discharges. 
Discussions regarding nurse led discharges has been 
incorporated into this work.
A business case to recruit three ‘senior’ hospital 
medical officers to focus on weekend discharges has 
been completed and recruitment to these positions has 
commenced.
The role of Nurse Navigator has been introduced to the 
Emergency Department and is currently being piloted.
Work on standard daily ward processes is commencing 
and will be inclusive of daily meetings in the acute services 
area, led by the Operations Director Access and Flow.

An Acute Operations Clinical Performance Dashboard has 
been developed and implemented. The following reports 
are now available:
The emergency department dashboard provides data on 
the current status of the waiting room and treatment areas, 
as well as throughput data for the current day. Additionally, 
the report tracks key performance data including waiting 
time performance.
An internal medicine dashboard has been created and 
refreshes every three minutes. This dashboard tracks 
current internal medicine inpatients including number, 
location and length of stay. The discharge rate is shown, 
including the number of discharges expected each day 
before 10am.
A daily emergency department and elective surgery report 
tracks NEAT and NEST data, and inpatient discharges 
against daily targets.
This work will be ongoing and aligned with flow and 
access improvements.
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Identify 
opportunities and 
implement pathways 
to aid prevention 
and increase care 
outside hospital 
walls by optimising 
appropriate use of 
existing programs 
(i.e. the Health 
Independence 
Program or 
telemedicine).  

Increase the 
proportion of 
patients (locally 
and across 
the state) who 
receive treatment 
within clinically 
recommended 
time for surgery 
and implement 
ongoing processes 
to ensure patients 
are treated in turn 
and within clinically 
recommended 
timeframes. 

Develop and 
implement the 
community 
programs central 
intake model for 
acute and sub-acute 
services to ensure 
patients have timely 
and appropriate 
access to health 
independence 
programs, with the 
aim of improving 
the management 
of an individual’s 
chronic disease and 
therefore reducing 
presentations to 
the emergency 
department due 
to exacerbation of 
disease processes.

Through 
collaboration with 
surgical unit heads 
develop strategies 
to ensure there 
are no overdue 
Category 2 or 3 
patients by June 
2017.

Review ‘treat in turn’ 
principles against 
individual surgeon 
sub-specialisation, 
operating time and 
equipment; and with 
a particularly focus 
on orthopaedics; 
reduce the number 
of overdue category 
two patients on the 
surgical list.

A review is underway to identify community need and 
the ideal model for our aging population. The aim will be 
to redesign the Geriatric Evaluation Management in the 
Home Program to enhance Health Independence Program 
opportunities.

An expression of interest was submitted to Department 
of Health and Human Services for a Persistent Pain 
Management Telehealth Project for Specialist Clinics and 
Allied Health Programs. The submission was successful 
and BHS received $67K in funding to establish the 
Telehealth Pain Management Project. Ordering of required 
equipment has commenced and a web page is under 
development.
The project lead organisation has been identified and the 
target date for commencement of service is August 2017.

Meetings have been held with each surgical unit head and 
strategies documented.
It was noted that demand is greater than BHS capacity to 
treat in a timely manner.
The proportion of Category 1 patients continues to impact 
on the ability to treat within the clinically recommended 
timeframes. 
Approximately 50% of the overdue waiting list are patients 
requiring ear, nose and throat surgery. A program to 
outsource surgical procedures and the introduction of a 
Saturday surgical list commenced in mid-April and has 
assisted with addressing some of the issues relating to the 
overdue list.
A number of planning, implementing and monitoring 
mechanisms have been enacted for 2017/18, with a target 
of no overdue Category 1, 2 and 3 elective procedures by 
June 2018.

Following consultation it was decided the 20% longest 
wait patient list would take priority.

The Regional Surgical Strategy and Saturday surgical 
lists in Quarter 4 has reduced significantly the number of 
overdue cases, with further planning and implementation 
of strategies in place to eradicate the overdue list by 30 
June 2018.
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Develop and 
implement a 
strategy to ensure 
the preparedness 
of the organisation 
for the National 
Disability and 
Insurance Scheme 
and Home and 
Community Care 
program transition 
and reform, 
with particular 
consideration 
to service 
access, service 
expectations, 
workforce 
and financial 
management. 

Health services 
develop and 
implement 
strategies within 
their organisation to 
ensure identification 
of potential organ 
and tissue donors 
and partner with 
DonateLife Victoria 
to ensure that all 
possible donations 
are achieved. 

Ensure that a 
strategy is in 
place for the 
commencement 
of the National 
Disability Insurance 
Scheme by January 
2017 and that the 
scheme is able to 
be implemented 
smoothly with 
consideration 
to service 
access, service 
expectations, 
workforce 
and financial 
management.

Promote and hold 
a DonateLife Week 
‘Match Day’ event 
to raise awareness 
and deliver the 
key messages of 
DonateLife Week 
2016.

Facilitate relevant 
staff attending 
organ donation 
awareness training 
courses offered by 
DonateLife Victoria.

BHS has established a National Disability Insurance 
Scheme Committee. 
Costings have been undertaken to provide therapeutic 
service provision under the National Disability Insurance 
Scheme.
Strategies identified include the provision of support 
co-ordination, continence, prosthetics and orthotics 
services. In addition, service models are being developed 
for allied health services including access to dieticians, 
occupational therapists and exercise physiologists. 
Working arrangements have been established between 
BHS State Wide Equipment Program and the National 
Disability Insurance Scheme until June 2018.
The State Wide Equipment Program is undergoing 
transition with replacement funding to the National 
Disability Insurance Scheme. A working group has 
commenced with the aim to transition Community 
Programs to the National Disability Insurance Scheme. A 
short-term project lead has been contracted to look at the 
service delivery model.
Carers and Packaged client transition is in the planning 
phase.
State Wide Equipment Program transitioning, North 
Eastern Metropolitan Area working arrangements in place 
and quarterly review meetings held.
The State-Wide Equipment Program continue to have a 
working relationship with National Disability Insurance 
Scheme and have staff currently seconded to the National 
Disability Insurance Agency to assist in developing work 
practises.

The Donate Life Week Match Day was held on 6 August 
2016 in collaboration with North Ballarat Football Club.  
Preliminary discussions have already been held with the 
North Ballarat Football Club to repeat the event in 2017.

Many and varied training courses are facilitated by 
DonateLife Victoria each year.  The nurse donation 
specialist regularly distributes the dates for these to the 
relevant staff/areas.  
A workshop held for theatre nurses in July 2016 had 
excellent attendance and this has prompted some positive 
changes in practise for the health service.  
Staff from the intensive care unit, emergency department 
consultants and relevant nursing staff have attended 
Family Donation Conversation Workshops held by 
DonateLife Victoria during 2017 to increase their skill and 
knowledge when involved in conversations with potential 
organ donor families.
Currently planning for the annual Donate Life Week events 
in collaboration with North Ballarat Football Club.  
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Supporting 
healthy 
populations

Health Services 
support shared 
population health 
and wellbeing 
planning at a local 
level - aligning 
with the Local 
Government 
Municipal Public 
Health and 
Wellbeing plan and 
working with other 
local agencies and 
Primary Health 
Networks. 

Implement 
the Organ and 
Tissue Authority 
Clinical Practice 
Improvement 
Program into 
hospital services, 
and comply 
with reporting 
requirements 
identified by 
DonateLife Victoria.

Continue to build 
on the collaborative 
partnerships with 
Ballarat City Council 
through active 
participation on 
the Municipal Early 
Years Program 
Executive Group 
and with Central 
Highlands Family 
Services Alliance 
Executive Group.

The Organ and Tissue Authority’s Clinical Practice 
Improvement Program has been implemented at BHS and 
the health service is compliant with reporting requirements 
identified by DonateLife Victoria. 
As a result of the overarching agreement between 
Department of Health and Human Services and the Organ 
and Tissues Authority, funding for hospital based positions 
has included BHS receiving ongoing funding for a Nurse 
Donation Specialist Position through until June 2018.
This has provided ongoing opportunity for key 
stakeholders to work collaboratively to achieve the key 
performance indicators as documented in the Organ and 
Tissue Authority Clinical Practice Improvement Program.
In addition, BHS and DonateLife Victoria held their annual 
meeting in December 2016. A number of strategies to 
improve compliance with the key performance indicators 
were discussed, including:
• Attendance at Family Conversation Workshops  
• Discussion at Intensive Care Services and Morbidity  
 and Mortality meetings.
• Participation in the clinical champions program 
• Opportunities for ‘grand round’ presentations, and
• Governance and reporting for the nurse donation  
 specialist in the new organisational structure.

The Municipal Early Years Program Executive Group has 
met each quarter. BHS Chief Nurse and Midwifery Officer 
is a representative on this group. 
5 key objectives have been identified for the program:
• Healthy Children, thriving families 
• Lifelong learning
• Positive Leadership for a Child Friendly City 
• Information for and about families
• Planning for Growth and change
Five key working groups have been established to address 
the priorities:
• Childhood Health 
• Literacy & Numeracy
• Access & Participation
• Parent Place reference group
• Data & Evidence.
BHS has representatives on the Childhood Health Working 
Group and the Parent Place Reference Group.
Central Highlands Family Services Alliance Executive 
Group has met each quarter and have focused on two 
project areas: 
• Engaging Families
• Service & Intensity data review
The BHS Enhanced Family Services Model continues to 
deliver responsive and timely care to vulnerable families. 
The model was implemented as part of the 2015/16 
demand funding from Department Health and Human 
Services. 
All additional social worker and midwife EFT positions 
that support the model have been filled and the model is 
working well. Data is reported up and through to Central 
Highlands Family Services Alliance Operational group and 
Executive. 
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That health 
services focus on 
primary prevention, 
including suicide 
prevention activities, 
and aim to impact 
on large numbers of 
people in the places 
where they spend 
their time adopting 
a place based, 
whole of population 
approach to tackle 
the multiple risk 
factors of poor 
health.

Establish a strategic 
steering group 
and working 
parties to develop 
and implement 
specific specialist 
referral pathways 
for Ballarat and 
regional general 
practitioners.

 

Develop health 
promotion and 
prevention activities 
in conjunction with 
regional primary 
health providers, 
and interested 
stakeholders, with 
the aim of tackling 
the multiple risk 
factors of poor 
health through a 
whole of population 
approach and 
consistent 
communication 
themes. 

HealthPathways Ballarat Grampians Steering Group 
implemented and meetings have commenced. 

WestVic Primary Health Network Working Party has been 
formed and the BHS Executive Director Primary and 
Community Care appointed Chair. Regional meetings have 
commenced.

Neurology and vascular pathways, along with stroke 
and transitional ischaemic attack pathways have been 
developed.

HealthPathways continue to be developed for oncology, 
gastroenterology, and hepatitis C.

HealthPathways for lung cancer patients will include 
a smart referral link for general practitioners to use for 
referrals to the new Rapid Access Clinic at the Ballarat 
Regional Integrated Cancer Centre (BRICC). 

BHS is a partner in the City of Ballarat Our Partners in 
Health 2015-2018 Agreement. Key priorities include: 
increasing physical activity; reducing tobacco related 
harm; improving healthy eating and food security; 
promoting gender equity; and preventing violence against 
women.

BHS signed a Memorandum of Understanding with the 
SpiritWest Foundation to support the Sons of the West 
Men’s Health Program. This program focuses on four 
areas: physical activity; healthy eating; health literacy; and 
social connection.

The BHS Primary Care and Population Health Board 
Advisory Committee and member organisations have 
commenced a ‘Water - drink of choice’ initiative to reduce 
the consumption of sugar sweetened beverages in their 
workplaces. This collaborative project is designed to 
raise awareness of the link between sugar sweetened 
beverages, overweight, obesity, and the development of 
chronic conditions. The six organisations participating with 
BHS in the project include Ballarat Community Health, 
WestVic Primary Health Network, Central Highlands 
Primary Care Partnership, YMCA, City of Ballarat, St John 
of God Hospital.

BHS has formed a new committee, the Equity and 
Diversity Committee. This committee enables greater 
inclusivity and representation for high risk communities, 
including LGBTIQ, CALD, Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander, family violence support services, and advocates 
for those that are economically disadvantaged. Targeted 
health messages and associated plans will be developed 
for these specific groups.

BHS is currently developing Healthy Food Choices 
governance documentation which will complement the 
Water Drink of Choice Project.
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Develop and 
implement 
strategies that 
encourage cultural 
diversity such as 
partnering with 
culturally diverse 
communities, 
reflecting the 
diversity of your 
community in the 
organisational 
governance, and 
having culturally 
sensitive, safe 
and inclusive 
practices. 

Improve the 
health outcomes 
of Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait 
Islander people 
by establishing 
culturally safe 
practices which 
recognise and 
respect their cultural 
identities and safely 
meets their needs, 
expectations and 
rights. 

Review the 
Ballarat Health 
Services Cultural 
Responsiveness 
Plan and initiatives 
to align with the      
2017– 2022 Ballarat 
Health Services 
Strategic Plan. 

Continue to deliver 
a cultural education 
program across 
the organisation to 
increase employees 
understanding 
of the impact 
of colonisation, 
transgenerational 
trauma and 
aboriginal cultural 
considerations 
when delivering 
care to Aboriginal 
people accessing 
services at Ballarat 
Health Services, 
with a target of 
50% of staff having 
participated in 
cultural insight 
training by June 
2017.

In partnership with 
the local Aboriginal 
community 
controlled health 
service, develop 
a new three 
year partnership 
agreement that 
has a focus on 
improving access 
and service delivery 
for Aboriginal 
people with the aim 
of improving health 
outcomes, cultural 
responsiveness, 
employment 
prospects and 
community 
connectivity.

BHS has a Cultural Diversity and Equity Committee 
that reports directly to the Board People and Culture 
Committee.

Cultural Diversity Week was celebrated in March 2017 and 
included the successful launch of a staff initiated BHS 
Cultural Diversity Cookbook. 

Aboriginal & Torres Strait Islander Recruitment & Retention 
Strategy has been developed and approved by the Board 
and DHHS. 

The BHS and Ballarat & District Aboriginal Co-operative 
2017-22 Partnership Agreement was renewed and signed 
in February 2017. An Aboriginal Taskforce, with high-level 
representation from both organisations, meets quarterly 
to monitor progress on the key actions identified in the 
Partnership Agreement.

A local Aboriginal person has been engaged to support 
the delivery of Cultural Education Training across the 
organisation. 

To date 1400 staff, including Board Members and 
Executive, have participated in cultural education training, 
which is 35% of Ballarat Health Services staff.

The 2017-2022 BHS & BADAC Partnership Agreement was 
signed on 23 February 2017. Priority areas identified and 
included in the agreement include: -

• Health Improvement Initiatives with a focus on access  
 and service delivery;

• Enhancing Community Relations;

• Increasing Cultural Awareness;

• Delivering on the BHS Aboriginal Employment and  
 Recruitment Strategy;

• Using Aboriginal Health Data and Research to inform 
  and analyse specific health initiatives
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Drive improvements 
to Victoria’s mental 
health system 
through focus and 
engagement in 
activity delivering 
on the 10 Year Plan 
for Mental Health 
and active input into 
consultations on the 
Design, Service and 
infrastructure Plan 
for Victoria’s Clinical 
mental health 
system.

That health services 
further their 
engagement with 
relevant academic 
institutions and 
other partners 
to increase 
participation in 
clinical trials.

Collaborate with 
the Department of 
Health and Human 
Services and 
key stakeholders 
to support the 
implementation of 
the 10 Year Plan for 
Mental Health.

Continue to work 
collaboratively 
with Federation 
University, Monash 
University, Deakin 
University and 
Australian Catholic 
University to 
increase Ballarat 
Health Services’ 
level of participation 
in clinical trials. 

In 2016, BHS Mental Health Service staff attended 
Department of Health and Human Services stakeholder 
workshops relating to the development of Victoria’s 
10 Year Mental Health Plan. The workshops included 
discussion papers on the ‘system architecture needed to 
support the achievement of the outcomes in Victoria’s 10 
Year Mental Health Plan.’

In early 2017, Biruu Health were engaged by BHS to 
consult with stakeholders and develop a Mental Health 
Services Plan for the Grampians Area Mental Health 
Services. This plan will support the implementation of the 
10 Year Plan for Mental Health. 

The Service Plan is in final draft following feedback from 
Department of Health and Human Services.  The Service 
Plan will be presented to the BHS Board in early 2017/18 
for endorsement and clearly identifies strategies that are in 
accordance with the Victorian 10 Year Mental Health Plan 
and the newly developed BHS 2017-22 Strategic Plan.

BHS Ballarat Regional Integrated Cancer Centre (BRICC) 
and Austin Health have collaborated on a Cancer Trial 
Management Scheme competitive grant for increasing 
cancer trial access.  Based on a “hub and spoke model 
between a metro trials centre and regional trial sites”.  
The joint application has been accepted through the first 
stage of the evaluation process and if successful is worth 
approximately $230K per annum for 3 years. Currently 
Radiation Oncology has no access to trial co-ordination 
resources at Ballarat.
BHS and Federation University Health Faculty have met 
to review the BHS-Federation University Research Affiliate 
Institution Agreement.
To strengthen relationships with Federation University and 
Fiona Elsey Institute, BHS hosted a Research Symposium 
with key note speaker Associate Professor Stuart Berzins.
BHS Aged Care Services are collaborating with Monash 
University on the following projects in residential care: 
• Medication related deaths in Aged Care
• The role of Medication Advisory Committees in RACF
• Towards mitigating risk and minimising polypharmacy - 
• Development of a communication tool to facilitate  
 de-prescribing
• Towards mitigating risk and minimising polypharmacy  
 Implementation of three new medicines-related  
 quality sub-indicators
Collaboration is occurring with Deakin University for the 
‘National Evaluation of the Dementia Care in Hospitals 
Program’ project.
Projects in partnership with Monash University continue 
across BHS Residential Aged Care, including; 
• Lundbeck Neurosciences Foundation Grant – $21,000  
 through the Aged Care Research Group partnering with  
 Dr Ramesh Sahathevan to expand the Dementia  
 Pathways Tool and run general practitioner education. 
• DHHS Victorian Cancer Survivorship Grant - $980K.  
 The project is being run from Grampians Integrated  
 Cancer Services and involves a BHS Geriatrician who is  
 also the Director of Clinical Studies Deakin University.
• Memory Health Support Service – APNA funded grant 
  to the Ballarat Community Health to develop a model  
 for a nurse enhanced cognitive support role. The  
 Dementia Pathways Tool is a key element of the  
 program. 

 DOMAIN ACTION DELIVERABLES OUTCOMES 2016 - 2017



PAGE 40 - BALLARAT HEALTH SERVICES

Using the 
Government’s 
Rainbow eQuality 
Guide, identify 
and adopt ‘actions 
for inclusive 
practices’ and be 
more responsive 
to the health and 
wellbeing of lesbian, 
gay, bisexual, 
transgender and 
intersex individuals 
and communities.

Track trials 
with academic 
institutions by 
participating in the 
standardised data 
collection service 
with Biomedical 
Research Victoria.

Using the ‘Lesbian, 
Gay, Bisexual, 
Transgender and 
Intersex Individuals 
Inclusive Practice 
Guide for Health 
and Community 
Services’, identify 
and incorporate key 
initiatives to ensure 
inclusive practices 
and patient centred 
care.

•The Aged Care Research Group has two grants in 
process: a Dementia Aged Services Grant to expand the 
Memory Health Support Service across the Grampians 
region; a NCMRC National Dementia Research Institute 
grant to drive a rapid uptake of the DCHP.
•BHS and St John of God Ballarat developing a grant for 
the Ballarat Collaborative Health Research Cluster. 
The Research Governance Committee refreshed with new 
research structure scheduled and a new membership. 
Education program enhanced for early clinician researcher.

The central collection of trials information is accessed 
through Au-RED, (via the Department of Health and 
Human Services), which capture the bulk of the trial 
activity. 
DHHS AURED reporting upgrade implemented for 
standard reporting for all new research approved since 
November 2016. 
Retrospective audit has identified, closed and archived all 
completed research. Current research flow through data 
entry and cleaning in progress. 
Preliminary AURED report shows 57 Clinical Trials and 
313 Research study files active, registered and approved 
in compliance with DHHS NMA SERP (National Mutual 
Acceptance Single Ethical Review Process) MOU and 
VMIA SSA (Victorian Site Specific Authorisation).
BHS Clinical Trial Authorisation Time = 6 days (median) 
Range 1 – 27 days (DHHS KPI = 30 days)

A gap analysis has been undertaken and reported to the 
BHS Executive Governance Committee. An action plan 
has been developed based on the gap analysis findings.
This work is currently on hold and will be progressed 
later in 2017, after the completion of NSQHS Survey in 
November.
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Governance 
and 
Leadership

Demonstrate 
implementation 
of the Victorian 
Clinical Governance 
Policy Framework: 
Governance for the 
provision of safe, 
quality healthcare 
at each level of 
the organisation, 
with clearly 
documented and 
understood roles 
and responsibilities. 
Ensure effective 
integrated systems, 
processes, 
leadership are in 
place to support the 
provision of safe, 
quality, accountable 
and person centred 
healthcare. It is an 
expectation that 
health services 
implement to 
best meet their 
employees’ and 
community’s 
needs, and that 
clinical governance 
arrangements 
undergo frequent 
and formal review, 
evaluation and 
amendment to 
drive continuous 
improvement.

Lead the 
development and 
implementation of 
Local Region Action 
Plans under the 
series of statewide 
design, service and 
infrastructure plans 
being progressively 
released from 2016 
/17. Development of 
Local Region Action 
Plans will require 
partnerships and 
active collaboration 
across regions to 
ensure plans meet 
both regional and 
local service needs, 
as articulated 
in the statewide 
design, service and 
infrastructure plans.

Following the 
release of the 
revised Victorian 
Clinical Governance 
Policy Framework, 
undertake a gap 
analysis against the 
current framework 
and implement the 
changes required 
to be compliant 
with the new policy 
framework, followed 
by an evaluation 
to ensure full 
implementation, 
effectiveness and 
sustainability of the 
changes.

Through 
partnerships 
and active 
collaboration lead 
the development 
and implementation 
of Local Region 
Action Plans as they 
are progressively 
released by the 
department during         
2016–17.

Review against the new Victorian Clinical Governance 
Framework has commenced. A draft BHS Safety and 
Quality Framework is currently out for consultation with the 
CEO and Executive Team. 

Governance documentation will be updated to ensure 
all domains are covered off in key committees Terms of 
Reference and an Action Plan developed to identify any 
changes that need to be implemented in line with the 
framework.

BHS Governance Committees are being reviewed and re-
structured in line with the new 2017-22 BHS Strategic Plan 
and the new BHS Executive Structure.

BHS Executives attended the Public Consultation - Rural 
& Regional Health Services System Design & Infrastructure 
Plan Forum held during September 2016.

A facilitated Regional Chief Executive Officer Workshop 
has been held to identify collaborative opportunities. A 
framework has been agreed upon to support regional 
partnerships.

Regional forums and visiting program have commenced.
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Ensure that an 
anti-bullying and 
harassment policy 
exists and includes 
the identification 
of appropriate 
behaviour, internal 
and external support 
mechanisms 
for staff and a 
clear process 
for reporting, 
investigation, 
feedback, 
consequence and 
appeal and the 
policy specifies 
a regular review 
schedule.  

Review workplace 
conduct policies 
and complaints 
procedures, 
ensuring that an 
effective pathway 
is in place for the 
reporting and 
interpretation of 
workplace conduct 
complaints, and that 
all staff are aware of 
these processes.

Workplace Conduct Policy reviewed and separated into:
• Work Health and Safety Policy
• Workplace Bullying Policy
• Equal Opportunity & Prevention of Sexual Harassment  
 Policy
Policies have been discussed at the People & Culture 
Board Committee during April 2017 and are currently 
moving through the Workplace Implementation Committee 
for further consultation. 
In addition, an Issue Resolution Policy has been 
purchased.
New initiatives have been introduced to facilitate an 
effective reporting pathway, including a direct email 
address to the CEO to enable positive and negative 
feedback to be received and evaluated; the employment 
of an interim complaints officer who directly reports to the 
CEO; availability of face to face meetings with the CEO 
and/or Board Chair.
Approximately 60% of staff feedback received through the 
feedback email address are complaints and 40% of the 
feedback is of a positive nature.
Conduct in the Workplace training has been implemented. 
To date, 77.8% (3,208) of staff have completed the training 
requirement.
HR Consultants have attended workplace investigation 
training.
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Board and senior 
management 
ensure that an 
organisational 
wide occupational 
health and safety 
risk management 
approach is in place 
which includes: 

(1) A focus on 
prevention and 
the strategies 
used to manage 
risks, including 
the regular review 
of these controls; 
(2) Strategies to 
improve reporting of 
occupational health 
and safety incidents, 
risks and controls, 
with a particular 
focus on prevention 
of occupational 
violence and 
bullying and 
harassment, 
throughout all levels 
of the organisation, 
including to the 
board; and 

(3) Mechanisms for 
consulting with, 
debriefing and 
communicating with 
all staff regarding 
outcomes of 
investigations and 
controls following 
occupational 
violence and 
bullying and 
harassment 
incidents.

Ensure 
recommendations 
of the Cultural 
Workplace Review 
and Mental 
Health Review 
are implemented 
and monitored 
by the board and 
executive. Ensure 
staff are provided 
with regular 
progress updates.

Review the 
Occupational 
Health and Safety 
Risk Profile and 
Treatment Plans to 
ensure occupational 
health and safety 
strategies and 
controls are in 
place.

Ensure recent 
internal 
occupational health 
and safety audit 
recommendations 
have been 
completed.

The Board of Directors has established a new People & 
Culture Board Committee to monitor the implementation of 
the recommendations from both reviews. The Committee 
meets bi-monthly and has staff representatives, executive 
and board directors as members.

A BHS Workplace Culture Action Plan has been developed 
from the Cultural Workforce Review & Mental Health 
Review undertaken at BHS during 2015-16.

The Victorian Auditor General’s Office released a report on 
Bullying & Harassment in Public Health Services in March 
2017. Key themes and initiatives identified in the report 
have been added to the BHS Workplace Culture Action 
Plan and implementation commenced.

The Plan is monitored through the People and Culture 
Board Committee.

PEACEMAKER ADR (Susan Zeitz) Mental Health Cultural 
Review – Action Plan continues to be implemented 
and monitored through the People and Culture Board 
Committee.

From the reviews conducted and in consultation with 
staff from across the organisation, a draft Staff Rewards 
and Recognition Framework has been developed and 
implementation commenced. 

A total of 21 findings from the internal safety audit have 
been completed to date, with a further 12 in progress.
The OHS Management System improvements ensure 
organisational governance, priority and methods to 
assess, control and monitor OHS risk. Actions currently 
outstanding are addressing any systems gaps for further 
improvement and reduction in risk.
Key focus of work is currently with the Engineering 
Department. The Engineering Department are working 
closely with OHS during the planning and execution of 
high risk work to ensure risk containments are appropriate 
while a more systematic approach is under development.

 DOMAIN ACTION DELIVERABLES OUTCOMES 2016 - 2017
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Implement and 
monitor workforce 
plans that: improve 
industrial relations; 
promote a learning 
culture; align with 
the Best Practice 
Clinical Learning 
Environment 
Framework; 
promote effective 
succession 
planning; increase 
employment 
opportunities for 
Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander 
people; ensure 
the workforce 
is appropriately 
qualified and skilled; 
and support the 
delivery of high-
quality and safe 
person centred 
care.  

Review the terms of 
reference of the new 
board committee 
People and Culture 
to ensure they 
are inclusive of 
the occupational 
health and safety 
governance 
reporting 
framework, by April 
2017.

Continue to 
implement the 
organisational wide 
2015–17 workforce 
plan initiatives and 
recommendations.

In partnership with 
the local aboriginal 
community, develop 
and implement 
an Aboriginal 
Employment Plan 
with the aim to 
increase the number 
of aboriginal people 
employed within 
the organisation 
to 1% of total 
employees. 

The new People and Culture Committee’s Terms of 
Reference were endorsed by the Board of Directors on 28 
June, 2016 and includes oversight of occupational health 
and safety high level reports.
Occupational health and safety reports are provided and 
discussed at the bi-monthly People and Culture Board 
Committee meetings and are listed as a standing agenda 
item. 
An occupational health and safety dashboard has been 
completed to facilitate improved reporting, including 
incidents, actions and injury management.

Components of the 2015-17 workforce plan have been 
implemented, however the plan requires reworking to 
respond to the BHS 2017-22 Strategic Plan.
The BHS 2017-27 Service Plan is under development and 
will inform the development of the new Organisational 
Workforce Plan.
Not Achieved
 
An Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander (ATSI) Recruitment 
& Retention Strategy has developed and feedback 
provided by Ballarat and District Aboriginal Cooperative 
and DHHS. 
The People & Culture Board Committee endorsed the ATSI 
Recruitment & Retention Strategy in April 2017.
The plan is monitored through BHS Equity and Diversity 
Committee which reports to the People & Culture Board 
Committee
Current employment rate of aboriginal people is 0.3% of 
total employees.

 DOMAIN ACTION DELIVERABLES OUTCOMES 2016 - 2017
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Create a workforce 
culture that: (1) 
includes staff in 
decision making; 
(2) promotes and 
supports open 
communication, 
raising concerns 
and respectful 
behaviour across 
all levels of the 
organisation; and (3) 
includes consumers 
and the community.

Ensure 
recommendations of 
the Ballarat Health 
Services Cultural 
Workplace Review, 
and the Mental 
Health Review are 
implemented.  

Recommendations from both reviews have been 
discussed at Board and Executive level.
Action plans have been developed in consultation 
with staff across the organisation to address each 
recommendation and identified service area need.
The Board of Directors has established a People 
and Culture Board Committee to ensure that the 
recommendations of both reviews are progressed and 
monitored.
In consultation with WorkSafe, compulsory face-to-face 
Occupational Health & Safety Manager’s Responsibilities 
Training has been rolled out across the organisation 
involving all leaders who have people management 
accountabilities.
Other initiatives implemented include:
• An organisational structure review;
• Recruitment process commenced to fill identified gaps 
 and revised Executive Director positions;
• An interim independent Complaints Manager position  
 has been created to provide assistance and advice;  
 reporting directly to the CEO;
• A staff feedback process has been implemented  
 enabling staff to have direct contact with the CEO;
• Opportunity for current and past staff effected by  
 bullying or harassment to meet individually with the  
 CEO or Board Chair has been widely promoted and  
 accessed.
• A protected disclosure process introduced to allow  
 staff to identify and report inappropriate behaviour.
• Introduction of mandatory face-to-face training for all  
 BHS staff to include workplace behaviour and values;  
 with 60 % completion rate to date;
• The external Employee Assistance Program has been  
 enhanced and promoted further across the  
 organisation;
• The ‘Together BHS’ cultural change program was  
 launched in December 2016, with a second stage  
 launch held in February 2017.
• Onsite coaching for all managers has commenced with  
 > 200 managers having now participated. 
 Workplace Conduct Policy has been reviewed and  
 separated into:
• Work Health and Safety Policy
• Workplace Bullying Policy
• Equal Opportunity & Prevention of Sexual Harassment  
 Policy
The policies were approved at People & Culture Board 
Committee meeting in April 2017 and the policy 
framework has been referred to Workplace Implementation 
Committees for consultation.
All People and Culture staff have attended Workplace 
Investigation Training.
Employee Assistance Program reflects a decrease in 
access, reducing to industry standard. The previous 
quarter also reflects for the first time that people are 
accessing the program for personal reasons and not work 
related issues.
Equal Employment Opportunity Training continues to be 
rolled out.
A training program is currently being developed for Mental 
Health Managers pertaining to human resource processes.
Restructures continue within the organisation.

 DOMAIN ACTION DELIVERABLES OUTCOMES 2016 - 2017
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Ensure that the 
Victorian Child 
Safe Standards 
are embedded in 
everyday thinking 
and practice to 
better protect 
children from abuse, 
which includes the 
implementation of: 
strategies to embed 
an organisational 
culture of child 
safety; a child safe 
policy or statement 
of commitment 
to child safety; a 
code of conduct 
that establishes 
clear expectations 
for appropriate 
behaviour with 
children; screening, 
supervision, training 
and other human 
resources practices 
that reduce the 
risk of child abuse; 
processes for 
responding to and 
reporting suspected 
abuse to children; 
strategies to identify 
and reduce or 
remove the risk of 
abuse and strategies 
to promote the 
participation and 
empowerment of 
children. 

Ensure that the 
four employee 
representatives 
are appointed to 
the newly formed 
People and Culture 
Board Committee 
to represent the 
views of the broader 
employee group 
and consider 
those views 
when developing 
action plans and 
responses.
  
Implement Child 
Safe Standards 
across the 
organisation 
which includes a 
gap analysis, the 
development of an 
action plan and the 
monitoring of each 
action against a 
specified timeframe.

Formally sign the 
Memorandum of 
Understanding 
between Ballarat 
Health Services 
and Department of 
Health and Human 
Services – Child 
Protection Central 
Highlands.

Terms of Reference pertaining to the membership of the 
People and Culture Board Committee states that the 
committee members include three (3) Board Members, 
four (4) Executive and four (4) employee representatives. 
The first meeting of the People and Culture Committee 
was held in September 2016 with all four employee 
representatives present. 
Meeting minutes reflect staff attendance and that staff 
have been actively participating in the People and Culture 
meeting.

A gap analysis has been completed and reported to BHS 
Executive Governance Committee in November 2016. 
An Action Plan has been developed and a Working Group 
established to address and implement each of the actions 
identified. Timeframes for each action have been applied.
A new policy has been developed.
Work continues against the action plan in preparation for 
accreditation and is overseen by the BHS Strengthening 
Hospitals Responses to Family Violence & Implementation 
of Child Safe Standards Steering Committee.
The aim is that BHS will be compliant to the Child Safe 
Standards by October 2017.

Memorandum of Understanding between BHS – Women’s 
and Children’s Services and DHHS Child Protection 
service (Central Highlands) was signed in September 2016. 
The Memorandum of Understanding reflects the 
understanding between Child Protection and BHS in 
relation to their joint work with children at risk, including 
where those concerns exist before the birth of a baby.

 DOMAIN ACTION DELIVERABLES OUTCOMES 2016 - 2017
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Financial 
sustainability 

Implement policies 
and procedures to 
ensure patient facing 
staff have access to 
vaccination programs 
and are appropriately 
vaccinated and/or 
immunised to protect 
staff and prevent 
the transmission of 
infection to susceptible 
patients or people in 
their care. 

Further enhance cash 
management strategies 
to improve cash 
sustainability and meet 
financial obligations as 
they are due.

Actively contribute to 
the development of the 
Victorian Government’s 
policy to be net zero 
carbon by 2050 and 
improve environmental 
sustainability by 
identifying and 
implementing projects, 
including workforce 
education, to reduce 
material environmental 
impacts with particular 
consideration of 
procurement and 
waste management, 
and publicly reporting 
environmental 
performance data, 
including measureable 
targets related to 
reduction of clinical, 
sharps and landfill 
waste, water and 
energy use and 
improved recycling.

Conduct a strong 
promotional campaign 
encouraging all staff 
with direct patient 
contact to receive the 
annual flu vaccination 
to ensure that the 
risk of infection 
to themselves, 
colleagues, patients 
and visitors is 
minimised.  

Implement a range 
of cost saving and 
revenue generating 
activities aimed at 
improving financial 
performance, which 
will in turn enhance 
levels of cash and 
investments held. 

Undertake a 
stocktake of all 
material assets, with 
a view to liquidate 
assets deemed to be 
under-utilised. 

Establish and monitor 
key financial metrics 
aimed at improving 
financial health of the 
organisation.

Develop and 
implement a whole 
of organisation 
Environmental 
Sustainability Plan. 
Evaluate progress by 
June 2017.

BHS has achieved 75.11% of staff receiving flu 
immunisation in 2016 and by June 2017 the new campaign 
had reached 78%.
The 2017 staff influenza program commenced in April 
with more than 500 staff members attending the influenza 
‘super clinic’ to receive their annual flu vaccine on the 
first day. The ‘super clinic’ was promoted alongside a free 
raffle opportunity and show bags for the first 50 staff who 
received their flu injection on the day. By having multiple 
nurse immunisers available on the ‘super clinic’ day staff 
were able to receive their immunisation quicker than ever 
before as it eliminated any wait times.
Departmental influenza clinics have been held each week 
and a nurse immuniser has been accessible each day in an 
easily locatable spot. 
Regular statistical updates have been provided to the 
department managers as a visual guide on the tracking of 
compliance.

A BHS Sustainability Action Plan has been developed 
and reported against at the monthly Board Finance and 
Resources Committee Meeting. 
The Sustainability Plan will now form part of the budget 
process moving forward, becoming business as usual from 
2017/2018 year.

A stocktake has been undertaken of all material assets 
and a report is to be provided to the Board Finance and 
Resources Committee in July 2017.

Key financial metrics have been identified and through a 
continuous review process will be monitored via Board 
Finance and Resources Committee

A BHS Sustainability Action Plan has been developed 
and reported against at the monthly Board Finance and 
Resources Committee Meeting. 
The sustainability plan will now form part of the budget 
process moving forward, becoming business as usual from 
2017/2018 year.
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QUALITY AND SAFETY
PERFORMANCE PRIORITIES

Key performance indicator Target 2016 - 17 Actual

Accreditation

Compliance with NSQHS Standards accreditation Full compliance Achieved

Compliance with the Commonwealth’s Aged Care Accreditation Standards Full compliance Not Achieved*

Infection prevention and control

Compliance with cleaning standards Full compliance Achieved

Very high risk (Category A) 90 points Achieved

High risk (Category B) 85 points Achieved

Moderate risk (Category C) 85 points Achieved

Compliance with the Hand Hygiene Australia program 80% 81%

Percentage of healthcare workers immunised for influenza 75% 75%

Patient experience

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey  - data submission Full compliance Achieved

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey – patient experience Quarter 1 95% positive experience 92%

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey – patient experience Quarter 2 95% positive experience 95%

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey – patient experience Quarter 3 95% positive experience 96%

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey – discharge care Quarter 1 75% very positive 
experience

79%

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey – discharge care Quarter 2 75% very positive 
experience

79%

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey – discharge care Quarter 3 75% very positive 
experience

85%

Healthcare associated infection

Number of patients with surgical site infection No outliers Not Achieved**

ICU central line-associated blood stream infection No outliers Achieved

SAB rate per occupied bed days <2/10,000 0.5

Maternity and newborn

Percentage of women with prearranged postnatal home care 100% 100%

Rate of singleton term infants without birth anomalies with APGAR score <7 to 
5 minutes

≤1.6% 3.1%

Rate of severe foetal growth restriction in singleton pregnancy undelivered by 40 
weeks

≤28.6% 7.6%

Mental health

Percentage of adult inpatients who are readmitted within 28 days of discharge 14% 10%

Rate of seclusion events relating to an acute admission - composite seclusion 
rate

≤15/1,000 11

Rate of seclusion events relating to a child and adolescent acute admission ≤15/1,000 0

Rate of seclusion events relating to an adult acute admission ≤15/1,000 17

Rate of seclusion events relating to an aged acute admission ≤15/1,000 0

Percentage of child and adolescent patients with post-discharge follow-up 
within seven days

75% 90%

Percentage of adult patients who have post-discharge follow-up within seven 
days

75% 84%

Percentage of aged patients who have post-discharge follow-up within seven 
days

75% 95%

Continuing care

Functional independence gain from admission to discharge, relative to length of 
stay

≥0.39 (GEM) and ≥0.645 
(rehab)

Met
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GOVERNANCE AND LEADERSHIP

ACCESS AND TIMELINES

FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY

Key performance indicator Target 2016 - 17 Actual
People Matter Survey - percentage of staff with a positive response to 
safety culture questions

80% 89%

Key performance indicator Target 2016 - 17 Actual
Emergency care

Percentage of ambulance patients transferred within 40 minutes 90% 92%

Percentage of Triage Category 1 emergency patients seen immediately 100% 100%

Percentage of Triage Category 1 to 5 emergency patients seen within 
clinically recommended times 

80% 65%

Percentage of emergency patients with a length of stay less than four hours 81% 64%

Number of patients with a length of stay in the emergency department 
greater than 24 hours

0 0

Elective surgery

Percentage of urgency category 1 elective patients admitted within 30 days 100% 100%

Percentage of urgency category 1, 2 and 3 elective patients admitted within 
clinically recommended timeframes

94% 80%

20% longest waiting Category 2 and 3 removals from the elective surgery 
waiting list

100% 97%

Number of patients on the elective surgery waiting list 1,000 985

Number of hospital initiated postponements per 100 scheduled admissions ≤8 /100 5.3

Number of patients admitted from the elective surgery waiting list – annual 
total

5,500 5,363

Specialist Clinics

Percentage of urgent patients referred by a GP or external specialist who 
attended a first appointment within 30 days 

100% 87%

Percentage of routine patients referred by GP or external specialist who 
attended a first appointment within 365 days 

90% 96%

Key performance indicator Target 2016 - 17 Actual
Finance

Operating result ($m) 0.00 0.06

Trade creditors 60 days 29

Patient fee debtors 60 days 35

Public & private WIES performance to target 100% 99%

Adjusted current asset ratio 0.7 0.50

Number of days with available cash 14 days -2.4

Asset managemernt

Basic asset management plan Full compliance Achieved

*The Australian Aged Care Agency identified compliance against 1 of 44 expected outcomes was not met at Eureka Village Hostel in May 2017.Ballarat Health 
Services has taken action and has now achieved full compliance with the aged care accreditation standards.

**Ballarat Health Services received notice in the first quarter of 2016-17 of higher than expected surgical infection rates for the 6 months from January 2016 
to June 2016. Following a thorough investigation, it was found there was no single contributing factors and no ongoing risk to patients.
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Funding type 2016-17 Activity Achievement
Acute Admitted

WIES Public 25,829

WIES Private 5,734

WIES (Public and Private) 31,563

WIES DVA 171

WIES TAC 174

WIES TOTAL 31,908

Acute Non-Admitted

Home Enteral Nutrition 382

Subacute & Non-Acute Admitted

Subacute WIES - Rehabilitation Public 462

Subacute WIES - Rehabilitation Private 173

Subacute WIES - GEM Public 567

Subacute WIES - GEM Private 107

Subacute WIES - Palliative Care Public 170

Subacute WIES - Palliative Care Private 54

Subacute WIES - DVA 40

Transition Care - Bed days 12,013

Transition Care - Home days 7,520

Subacute Non-Admitted

Health Independence Program - Public 40,581

Aged Care

Residential Aged Care 144,425

HACC 31,047

Mental Health and Drug Services

Mental Health Ambulatory 50,314

Mental Health Inpatient - Available bed days 9,595

Mental Health Inpatient - Secure Unit 3,707

Mental Health Residential 10,343

Primary Health

Community Health / Primary Care Programs 9,929

Other

Health Workforce 126

ACTIVITY AND FUNDING
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Application of Merit and Equity 
We are an equal opportunity employer and ensure open competition in recruitment, selection, transfer and promotion.

Employment decisions are based on merit and without consideration gender, marital status, age, pregnancy, disability, 
race, religious or political beliefs or activities, or on the grounds of being a parent, childless or in a de facto relationship.

Our people are treated fairly and reasonably and provided with redress against any unfair or unreasonable treatment.

Ex-gratia Payments
There were no ex-gratia payments during 2016-2017.

Freedom of Information Requests
Ballarat Health Services complies with the Victorian Freedom of Information Act 1982 (FOI). Since 2013 we have 
received the following number of requests.

•  2012-2013: 497
•  2013-2014: 475
•  2014-2015: 511
•  2015-2016: 488
• 2016-2017: 607

Building Act 1993
Ballarat Health Services complies with building standards and regulations. All buildings constructed after July 1994 
have been designed to conform to the Building Act 1993 and its regulations, as well as meet our statutory regulations 
that relate to health and safety matters.

All buildings have been issued with occupancy permits and all building practitioners engaged by BHS are required to 
produce evidence of current registration on commencing a project, as well as evidence that their registered status will 
be maintained throughout the year. 

Consultancies
In 2016-17, there were 10 consultancies where the total fees payable to the consultants were $10,000 or greater.   
The Total expenditure incurred during 2016-17 in relation to these consultancies is $468,927 excl GST.   
Details of individual consultancies can be viewed at www.bhs.org.au/node/19

In 2016-17, there were 4 consultancies where the total fees payable to the consultants were less than $10,000.   
The Total expenditure incurred during 2016-17 in relation to these consultancies is $19,194 excl GST.

National Competition Policy
Ballarat Health Services complied with all government policies regarding competitive neutrality with respect to all tender 
applications.

Protected Disclosure Act
Ballarat Health Services had no disclosures notified to the IBAC under section 21(2) of the

Protected Disclosure Act 2012 in the past financial year.

Contracts
We abide by the Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003.

In 2016 -17 there were two contracts continued by Ballarat Health Services under this Act.

The contracts were: 

• Community Programs – Personal and domestic care to the value of $2 million. The service proposes the use of more 
than 85 percent local content and has created more than 100 new jobs since its inception.

• Statewide Equipment Program – Non Customised Equipment, to the value of $4 million per annum distributed via 10 
suppliers awarded. On average the suppliers propose to provide goods and services utilising around 60 per cent local 
content. 
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Protected Disclosure Act
Ballarat Health Services had no disclosures notified to the IBAC under section 21(2) of the Protected Disclosure Act 2012 
in the past financial year.

Contracts
We abide by the Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003.

In 2016 -17 there were two contracts continued by Ballarat Health Services under this Act.

The contracts were: 

• Community Programs – Personal and domestic care to the value of $2 million. The service proposes the use of more 
than 85 percent local content and has created more than 100 new jobs since its inception.

• Statewide Equipment Program – Non Customised Equipment, to the value of $4 million per annum distributed via 10 
suppliers awarded. On average the suppliers propose to provide goods and services utilising around 60 per cent local 
content. 

Carers Recognition Act
The Carers Recognition Act 2012 promotes and values the role of people in care relationships and formally recognises 
the contribution that carers and people in care relationships make to the social and economic fabric of the Victorian 
community. Ballarat Health Services recognises carers make a substantial contribution to the wellbeing of the Ballarat and 
regional community.

BHS has taken all practicable measures to comply with its obligations under the Act.

BHS has promoted the principles of the Act to people in care relationships who receive our services and to the wider 
community by distributing printed material about the Act at community events or service points.

BHS has taken all practicable measures to consider the carer relationships principles set out in the Act when setting 
policies and providing services by reviewing our employment policies such as flexible working arrangements and leave 
provisions to ensure these comply with the statement of principles in the Act.

Information and Communication Technology (ICT) expenditure 2016 -17 
The total ICT expenditure incurred during 2016-17 is $8,792,403.12 (excluding GST) with the details shown below:

Car Parking Fees
Ballarat Health Services complies with the DHHS hospital circular on car parking fees effective 1 February 2016 and 
details of car parking fees and concession benefits can be viewed at www.bhs.org.au/node/46

Safe Patient Care Act 2015
The hospital has no matters to report in relation to its obligations under section 40 of the Safe Patient Care Act 2015.

Business As Usual (BAU) 
ICT Expenditure

Non-Business As Usual  
(non-BAU) ICT 

Expenditure

Operating expenditure 
(excluding GST)

Capital expenditure 
(excluding GST)

$5,211,266.87 $3,581,136.25 $185,757.41 $3,395,378.84
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Attestation for compliance with the Ministerial Standing Direction 3.7.1– Risk 
Management Framework and Processes

Attestation on Compliance with Health Purchasing Victoria (HPV) Health  
Purchasing Policies

I, Dale Fraser, certify that Ballarat Health Services (BHS) has complied with the Ministerial 
Standing Direction 3.7.1 – Risk Management Framework and Processes, including the Australian/
New Zealand Risk Management Standard 31000:2009. The BHS Audit and Risk Committee has 
verified this.

Dale Fraser
Chief Executive Officer
Ballarat Health Services
10 August, 2017

 I, Dale Fraser certify that Ballarat Health Services has put in place appropriate internal controls and 
process to ensure that it has complied with all requirements set out in the HPV Health Purchasing 
Policies including mandatory HPV collective agreements as required by the Health Services Act 1988 
(Vic) and has critically review these controls and processes during the year. 

Dale Fraser
Chief Executive Officer
Ballarat Health Services
10 August, 2017
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The annual report of Ballarat Health Services is prepared in accordance with all relevant Victorian legislation. This index 
has been prepared to facilitate identification of the Department’s compliance with statutory disclosure requirements.

Legislation Requirement Page

Ministerial Directions Report of Operations 

Charter and purpose
FRD 22H Manner of establishment and the relevant Ministers 1
FRD 22H Purpose, functions, powers and duties 1,2
FRD 22H Initiatives and key achievements 3-19
FRD 22H Nature and range of services provided Inside front cover
Management and structure
FRD 22H Organisational structure 20
Financial and other information
FRD 10A Disclosure index 54
FRD 11A Disclosure of ex-gratia expenses 51
FRD 21C Responsible person and executive officer disclosures 3
FRD 22H Application and operation of Protected Disclosure 2012 51
FRD 22H Application and operation of Carers Recognition Act 2012 52
FRD 22H Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982 51
FRD 22H Compliance with building and maintenance provisions of Building Act 1993 51
FRD 22H Details of consultancies over $10,000 51
FRD 22H Details of consultancies under $10,000 51
FRD 22H Employment and conduct principles 51
FRD 22H Information and Communication Technology Expenditure 52
FRD 22H Major changes or factors affecting performance 14
FRD 22H Occupational Health and Safety 16
FRD 22H Operational and budgetary objectives and performance against objectives 14
FRD 22H Summary of the entity’s environmental performance 15
FRD 22H Significant changes in financial position during the year 14
FRD 22H Statement on National Competition Policy 51
FRD 22H Subsequent events 87
FRD 22H Summary of the financial results for the year  14
FRD 22H Additional information available on request  55
FRD 22H Workforce Data Disclosures including a statement on the application of employment 

and conduct principles
51

FRD 25C Victorian Industry Participation Policy disclosures 52
FRD 103F Non-Financial Physical Assets 71
FRD 110A Cash flow Statements 60
FRD 112D Defined Benefit Superannuation Obligations 68
SD 5.2.3 Declaration in report of operations 3
SD 3.7.1 Risk management framework and processes. 53

Other requirements under Standing Directions 5.2
SD 5.2.2 Declaration in financial statements 56
SD 5.2.1 (a) Compliance with Australian accounting standards and other authoritative 

pronouncements
61

SD 5.2.1 (a) Compliance with Ministerial Directions 53

Legislation
 Freedom of Information Act 1982 51

Protected Disclosure Act 2012 52
Carers Recognition Act 2012 52
Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003 52
Building Act 1993 51
Financial Management Act 1994 56
Safe Patient Care Act 2015 52

Non Statutory Obligations
Reporting of compliance regarding Car Parking Fees 52
Occupational Violence reporting 16
Reporting of compliance Health Purchasing Victoria Policy 53
Reporting obligations under the Safe Patient Care Act 2015 52
Reporting of outcomes from Statement of Priorities 2015 - 2016 26 - 50

DISCLOSURE INDEX
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Consistent with FRD 22H (Section 5.19), the items listed below have been retained by Ballarat Health Services
and are available to the relevant Ministers, Members of Parliament and the public on request (subject to the
freedom of information requirements, if applicable):

(a)	Declarations	of	pecuniary	interests	have	been	duly	completed	by	all	relevant	officers

(b)	Details	of	shares	held	by	senior	officers	as	nominee	or	held	beneficially;

(c) Details of publications produced by the entity about itself, and how these can be obtained

(d)	Details	of	changes	in	prices,	fees,	charges,	rates	and	levies	charged	by	the	Health	Service;

(e)	Details	of	any	major	external	reviews	carried	out	on	the	Health	Service;

(f) Details of major research and development activities undertaken by the Health Service that are not otherwise 
covered	either	in	the	report	of	operations	or	in	a	document	that	contains	the	financial	statements	and	report	of	
operations;

(g)	Details	of	overseas	visits	undertaken	including	a	summary	of	the	objectives	and	outcomes	of	each	visit;

(h) Details of major promotional, public relations and marketing activities undertaken by the Health Service to 
develop	community	awareness	of	the	Health	Service	and	its	services;

(i) Details of assessments and measures undertaken to improve the occupational health and safety of 
employees;

(j) General statement on industrial relations within the Health Service and details of time lost through industrial 
accidents	and	disputes,	which	is	not	otherwise	detailed	in	the	report	of	operations;	

(k) A list of major committees sponsored by the Health Service, the purposes of each committee and the extent 
to	which	those	purposes	have	been	achieved;

(l) Details of all consultancies and contractors including consultants/contractors engaged, services provided, 
and expenditure committed for each engagement.
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Board of Ballarat Health Services 

Opinion I have audited the financial report of Ballarat Health Services (the health service) which 

comprises the: 

 balance sheet as at 30 June 2017

 comprehensive operating statement for the year then ended

 statement of changes in equity for the year then ended

 cash flow statement for the year then ended

 notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting

policies

 board member's, accountable officer's and chief finance and accounting officer's

declaration.

In my opinion the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of the health service as at 30 June 2017 and their financial performance and cash 

flows for the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of 

Part 7 of the Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable Australian Accounting 

Standards.   

Basis for 

Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the 

Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the Act are further described in the 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are 

independent of the health service in accordance with the ethical requirements of the 

Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in 

Australia. My staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 

with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for my opinion. 

Board’s 

responsibilities 

for the 

financial 

report 

The Board of the health service is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of 

the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Financial 

Management Act 1994, and for such internal control as the Board determines is necessary 

to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Board is responsible for assessing the health service’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, and using the going concern basis of accounting 

unless it is inappropriate to do so. 



2 

Auditor’s 

responsibilities 

for the audit 

of the financial 

report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 

report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance 

about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 

to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 

professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,

and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our

opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is

higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,

intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the health service’s internal control

 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board

 conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis of

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material

uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on

the health service’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a

material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to

the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate,

to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up

to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause

the health service to cease to continue as a going concern.

 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report,

including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

I communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 

internal control that I identify during my audit. 

MELBOURNE 

22 August 2017 

Charlotte Jeffries 

as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 



BALLARAT HEALTH SERVICES
COMPREHENSIVE OPERATING STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

2017 2016
Note $000 $000

Revenue from Operating Activities 2.1 449,298 413,911

Revenue from Non-Operating Activities 2.1 1,328 1,981

Employee Expenses 3.1 (307,043) (286,697)

Supplies and Consumables 3.1 (84,216) (70,207)

Other Expenses 3.1 (59,304) (58,678)
Net Result before Capital and Other Ecomonic Flows 63 310

Other Economic Flows Included in Net Result

Revaluation of Long Service Leave 3.3(a) 1,789 (1,292)
Total Other Economic Flows Included in Net Result 1,789 (1,292)

Net Result before Capital 1,852 (982)

Capital Purpose Income 2.1 18,590 24,086

Capital Purpose Expense 3.1 (2,633) (4,458)

Depreciation and Amortisation 4.4 (28,522) (25,683)
Net Capital Result (12,565) (6,055)

Net Result for the Year (10,713) (7,037)

Other Comprehensive Income

Item that will not be reclassified to Net Results

Changes in Physical Asset Revaluation Surplus 8.1(a) - 2,569
Comprehensive Result for the Year (10,713) (4,468)

BALLARAT HEALTH SERVICES
BALANCE SHEET AS AT 30 JUNE 2017

2017 2016
Note $000 $000

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 6.1 4,976 2,380

Receivables 5.1 18,209 16,183

Inventory 5.2 1,551 1,614

Prepayments 5.3 1,713 1,356

Other Financial Assets 4.1 15,320 17,175

Total Current Assets 41,769 38,708

Non-Current Assets

Receivables 5.1 12,298 10,784

Property, Plant and Equipment 4.3 352,492 357,526

Intangible Assets 4.5 425 536

Other Financial Assets 4.1 13,002 13,003

Total Non-Current Assets 378,217 381,849
Total Assets 419,986 420,557

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Employee Benefits 3.3 61,142 58,669

Payables 5.5 31,637 24,697

Other Liabilities 5.4 34,282 33,491

Total Current Liabilities 127,061 116,857

Non-Current Liabilities

Employee Benefits 3.3 12,952 13,014

Total Non-Current Liabilities 12,952 13,014

Total Liabilities 140,013 129,871
Net Assets 279,973 290,686

EQUITY

Unrestricted Specific Purpose Reserve 8.1(a) 563 486

Asset Revaluation Reserve 8.1(a) 174,127 174,127

Contributed Capital 8.1(b) 155,997 155,997

Retained Earnings 8.1(c) (50,714) (39,924)
Total Equity 279,973 290,686

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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BALLARAT HEALTH SERVICES
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Property, Plant Unrestricted Contributions Accumulated Total

& Equipment Specific By Owners Surpluses/

Revaluation Purpose (Deficits)

Surplus Surplus

Note $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Balance as at 30 June 2015 171,557 503 155,814 (32,905) 294,969

Net Result for the Year - - - (7,037) (7,037)

Other Comprehensive Income for the Year 8.1(a) 2,569 - - - 2,569

Transfer to/Returned from Contributed Capital 8.1(b) - - 183 - 183

Transfer to Accumulated Surplus 8.1(a),(c) - (17) - 17 - 
Balance as at 30 June 2016 174,127 486 155,997 (39,924) 290,686

Net Result for the Year - - - (10,713) (10,713)

Other Comprehensive Income for the Year 8.1(a) - - - - - 

Transfer to/Returned from Contributed Capital 8.1(b) - - - - - 

Transfer to Accumulated Surplus 8.1(a),(c) - 77 - (77) - 
Balance as at 30 June 2017 174,127 563 155,997 (50,714) 279,973

BALLARAT HEALTH SERVICES
CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

2017 2016

$000 $000

Inflows/ Inflows/

Note (Outflows) (Outflows)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Receipts
Operating Grants from Government 378,749 341,670

Capital Grants 16,609 22,571

Proceeds from Donations 672 973
Capital Proceeds from Donations and Bequests 1,028 - 

Proceeds from Monies Held in Trust 14,287 15,201

Patient Fees 20,766 20,946

Interest and Dividends Received 1,332 2,225

Other 46,409 48,099

GST Received from/(Paid to) ATO 9,566 6,828

Total Receipts 489,418 458,514

Payments

Employee Benefits (302,931) (282,814)
Supplies & Consumables (86,897) (77,533)

Repayment of Monies Held in Trust (13,391) (12,108)

Capital Expense (2,666) (3,825)

Other Payments (60,330) (65,515)

Total Payments (466,215) (441,794)

Net Cash Inflows/(Outflows) from Operating Activities 8.2 23,203 16,720

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Purchase of Non-Financial Assets (23,622) (29,047)

Purchase of Financial Assets (533) (11,263)

Proceeds from Disposal of Financial Assets 3,012 12,000

Proceeds from Disposal of Non-Financial Assets 7.2 536 622
Net Cash Inflows/(Outflows) from Investing Activities (20,607) (27,688)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Contributed Capital from Government - 183
Net Cash Inflows/(Outflows) from Financing Activities - 183

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,596 (10,785)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Financial Year 6.1 2,380 13,165
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Financial Year 4,976 2,380

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Ballarat Health Services 
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2017 

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The annual financial statements represent the audited general purpose financial statements for Ballarat Health Services for 
the period ending 30 June 2017. The report provides users with information about the Health Services’ stewardship of 
resources entrusted to it. 

(a) Statement of Compliance
These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with
the  Financial  Management  Act  1994  and  applicable  Australian  Accounting  Standards  (AASs),  which  include
interpretations  issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board  (AASB) and other mandatory requirements.
The AASs  include Australian equivalents to  International Financial Reporting Standards.   They are presented  in a
manner consistent with the requirements of AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements.

The financial statements also comply with relevant Financial Reporting Directions (FRDs) issued by the Department
of Treasury and Finance, and relevant Standing Directions (SDs) authorised by the Minister of Finance.

Ballarat Health Services  is a not‐for‐profit entity and therefore where applicable applies the additional Australian
paragraphs applicable to not‐for‐profit health services under the AASs.

The annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of Ballarat Health Services on

10/08/2017.

(b) Reporting Entity
The financial statements include all of the controlled activities of Ballarat Health Services.

Its principal address is:
Drummond St North
Ballarat, Victoria, 3350

A description of the nature of Ballarat Health Services operations and its principal activities is included in the report
of operations, which does not form part of these financial statements.

Objectives and funding
Ballarat Health Service’s overall objective is to deliver quality care to the communities we serve by providing safe,
accessible and  integrated health services  resulting  in positive experiences and outcomes as well as  improve  the
quality of life to Victorians.

Ballarat Health Service is predominantly funded by accrual based grant funding for the provision of outputs.

(c) Basis of Accounting Preparation and Measurement
Accounting policies are selected and applied  in a manner which ensures  that  the  resulting  financial  information
satisfies  the  concepts  of  relevance  and  reliability,  thereby  ensuring  that  the  substances  of  the  underlying
transactions or other events are reported.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 30
June 2017 and  the comparative  information presented  in these  financial statements  for  the year ended 30  June
2016.

The going concern basis was used to prepare the financial statements.
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Ballarat Health Services 
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2017 

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, the functional and presentation currency of Ballarat 
Health Services. 

The financial statements, except for cash flow information, have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. 
Under the accrual basis, items are recognised as assets, liabilities, equity, income or expenses when they satisfy the 
definition and recognition criteria for those items, that is they are recognised in the reporting period to which they 
relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid. 

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention, except for: 

 Non‐current physical assets, which subsequent to acquisition, are measured at a revalued amount being their
fair  value  at  the  date  of  the  revaluation  less  any  subsequent  accumulated  depreciation  and  subsequent
impairment losses.  Revaluations are made and are reassessed when new indices are published by the Valuer
General Victoria (VGV) to ensure that the carrying amounts do not materially differ from their fair values

 Available‐for‐sale investments which are measured at fair value with movements reflected in equity until the
asset is derecognised

 The fair value of assets other than land is generally based on their depreciated replacement value.

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
that  are  not  readily  apparent  from  other  sources.  The  estimates  and  associated  assumptions  are  based  on 
professional  judgements  derived  from  historical  experience  and  various  other  factors  that  are  believed  to  be 
reasonable under  the  circumstances. Actual  results may differ  from  these estimates.   Management have made 
judgments and estimates specifically in the following areas: 

 Discount rates, probability and inflation factors used in the calculation of employee benefits, disclosed further
in Note 3.3

 Bad Debt Write‐offs, disclosed further in Note 5.1

 Fair value of financial and non‐financial assets, disclosed further in Note 4.1, 4.3 and 4.5

(d) Principles of Consolidation

Ballarat Health Services does not have any consolidated reporting entities.

Inter‐Segment Transactions
Transactions between segments within Ballarat Health Services have been eliminated to reflect the extent of Ballarat
Health Services operations as a group.

Joint Operations
Interests  in the  jointly controlled operations of Grampians Rural Health Alliance are not consolidated by Ballarat
Health  Services  but  are  accounted  for  in  accordance  with  the  policy  outlined  in  Note  4.2  Jointly  Controlled
Operations.

(e) Rounding
All  amounts  shown  in  the  financial  statements  are  expressed  to  the  nearest  thousand  dollars  unless  stated
otherwise. Minor discrepancies in the tables between totals and sum of components are due to rounding.

(f) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from  investing or financing
activities which  are  recoverable  from  or  payable  to  the  Australian  Taxation Office  (ATO)  are  presented  as  an
operating cash flow.

Commitments and contingent assets and liabilities are presented on a gross basis.
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Ballarat Health Services

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2017

Note 2:  Funding Delivery of our Services

Note 2.1: Analysis of Revenue by Source
Admitted Non EDS Mental RAC Aged Other Total

Patients Admitted Health Care

2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2017
Revenue from Operating Activities

Government Grants 204,600 13,242 18,141 32,268 41,892 8,941 61,794 380,878
Patient and Resident Fees 10,918 56 316 326 7,836 486 7 19,945
Business Units and Special Purpose Funds - - - - - - 37,600 37,600
Indirect Contributions by the Department of Health & Human Services 113 13 15 30 29 8 47 255
Donations and Bequests - - - - - - 672 672
Grampians Rural Health Alliance - - - - - - 1,095 1,095

Other Revenue from Operating Activities 5,762 103 903 302 377 63 1,343 8,853
Total Revenue from Operating Activities 221,393 13,414 19,375 32,926 50,134 9,498 102,558 449,298

Revenue from Non-Operating Activities
Interest and Dividends - - - - - - 1,328 1,328

Total Revenue from Non-Operating Activities - - - - - - 1,328 1,328

Capital Purpose Income
Capital Purpose Income (excluding interest) - - - - - - 17,136 17,136
Capital Interest - - - - - - 42 42
Donations and Bequests - - - - - - 1,028 1,028
Grampians Rural Health Alliance - - - - - - 384 384
Total Capital Purpose Income - - - - - - 18,590 18,590
Total Revenue 221,393 13,414 19,375 32,926 50,134 9,498 122,476 469,216

The Department of Health & Human Services makes Indirect Contributions for insurance payments on behalf of Ballarat Health Services. These amounts have been brought to account in determining the 
operating result for the year by recording them as revenue and expense.

Note 2.1: Analysis of Revenue by Source
Admitted Non EDS Mental RAC Aged Other Total

Patients Admitted Health Care

2016 2016 2016 2016 2016 2016 2016 2016
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2016
Revenue from Operating Activities
Government Grants 179,525 12,932 16,271 29,854 41,451 7,982 54,999 343,014
Patient and Resident Fees 12,537 40 232 143 8,054 503 5 21,514
Business Units and Special Purpose Funds - - - - - - 38,237 38,237

Indirect contributions by the Department of Health & Human Services 132 12 14 28 27 7 45 266
Donations and Bequests - - - - - - 973 973
Grampians Rural Health Alliance - - - - - - 1,027 1,027
Other Revenue from Operating Activities 5,724 127 768 399 460 76 1,326 8,880
Total Revenue from Operating Activities 197,918 13,111 17,285 30,424 49,992 8,569 96,613 413,911

Revenue from Non-Operating Activities

Interest and Dividends - - - - - - 1,981 1,981
Total Revenue from Non-Operating Activities - - - - - - 1,981 1,981

Capital Purpose Income
Capital Purpose Income (excluding interest) - - - - - - 23,371 23,371
Capital Interest - - - - - - 43 43
Grampians Rural Health Alliance - - - - - - 672 672

Total Capital Purpose Income - - - - - - 24,086 24,086

Total Revenue 197,918 13,111 17,285 30,424 49,992 8,569 122,680 439,978

Other income includes non-property rental, dividends and bad debt reversals.

Indirect Contributions from the Department of Health & Human Services

Dividend revenue is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.  Dividends represent the income arising from Ballarat Health Services investment in financial assets.

Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield of the financial asset.

The gain/loss from the sale of an investment is recognised when the investment is realised. 

Donations and Bequests

Other Income

Sale of Investments

Interest Revenue

Dividend Revenue

Donations and bequests are recognised as revenue when received.  If donations are for a special purpose, they may be appropriated to a reserve such as the specific purpose reserve.

Grants are recognised as income when Ballarat Health Services gains control of the underlying assets in accordance with AASB 1004 Contributions . For reciprocal grants, Ballarat Health 

Services is deemed to have assumed control when the performance has occurred under the grant. For non-reciprocal grants, Ballarat Health Services is deemed to have assumed control when 

the grant is received or receivable. Conditional grants may be reciprocal or non-reciprocal depending on the terms of the grant. 

• Insurance is recognised as revenue following advice from the Department of Health & Human Services

Patient and resident fees are recognised as revenue at the time invoices are raised.  Private practice fees are recognised as revenue at the time invoices are raised.

• LSL Revenue is recognised upon finalisation of movements in LSL liability in line with the arrangements set out in the Metropolitan Health and Aged Care Services Division Hospital 

Circular 03/2016 & 04/2017

Patient and Resident Fees

Government Grants

Income from Transactions
Income is recognised in accordance with AASB 118 Revenue and is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to Ballarat Health Services and the income 

can be reliably measured at fair value. Unearned income at reporting date is reported as income received in advance.

Amounts disclosed as revenue are where applicable, net of returns, allowances and duties and taxes.

The Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) makes Indirect Contributions for insurance payments on behalf of Ballarat Health Services.  These amounts have been brought to account in determining the operating 

result for the year by recording them as revenue and expense.
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Ballarat Health Services

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2017

Note 2.1: Analysis of Revenue by Source (cont)

Aged care comprises a range of in-home, specialist geriatric, residential care and community based programs and support services, such as Home and Community Care (HACC) 

programs that are targeted to older people, people with a disability and their carers.

RAC including mental health has been referred to in the past as psychogeriatric residential services and comprises those Commonwealth-licensed residential aged care services in 

receipt of supplementary funding from the Department of Health & Human Services, under the mental health program. It excludes all other residential services funded under the 

mental health program, such as mental health funded Community Care Units (CCUs) and Secure Extended Care Units (SECUs).

Other services includes services not separately classified above including public health services laboratory testing, blood borne viruses/sexually transmitted infections, clinical 

services, Koori liaison officers, immunisation and screening services, drugs services including drug withdrawal, counselling and the needle and syringe program, disability services 

including aids and equipment and flexible support packages to people with a disability, community care programs including sexual assault support, early parenting services, 

parenting assessment and skills development, and various support services.  Health and Community Initiatives also fall into this category group.

Other Services Not Reported Elsewhere (Other) 

Residential Aged Care including Mental Health (RAC including Mental Health)

These services aim to identify mental illness early, and seek to reduce its impact through providing timely acute care services and appropriate longer-term accommodation and 

support for those living with a mental illness. 

Non-Admitted comprises acute and subacute non-admitted services, where services are delivered in public hospital clinics and provide models of integrated community care, 

which significantly reduces the demand for hospital beds and supports the transition from hospital to home in a safe and timely manner. 

EDS comprises all emergency department services. 

Aged Care

Emergency Department Services (EDS) 

Category Groups
Ballarat Health Services have used the following category groups for reporting purposes in the current and previous financial years:

Admitted patients comprises all acute and subacute admitted patient services, where services are delivered in public hospitals.

Mental Health comprises all specialised mental health services providing a range of inpatient, community based residential, rehabilitation and ambulatory services which treat and 

support people with a mental illness and their families and carers. This excludes any Emergency Department Services.

Mental Health Services (Mental Health) 

Admitted Patient Services (Admitted Patients)

Non-Admitted Services (Non-Admitted)
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Ballarat Health Services

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2017

Note 3: The Cost of Delivering Services

Note 3.1: Analysis of Expenses by Source
Admitted Non EDS Mental RAC Aged Other Total

Patients Admitted Health Care

2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2017

Expenditure from Operating Activites

Employee Expenses 147,748 15,147 23,557 35,016 44,384 7,091 31,538 304,481

Contract Labour Costs 941 56 153 247 895 238 32 2,562

Supplies and Consumables 22,655 440 33 345 705 92 1,798 26,068

Medical and Surgical Supplies 11,930 468 989 286 685 77 43,713 58,148

Insurance Costs 2,460 252 392 583 739 118 525 5,069

Purchased Services 8,454 720 26 445 356 2,432 3,153 15,586

Grampians Rural Health Alliance - - - - - - 1,063 1,063

Other Expenses 17,896 2,872 557 2,784 2,698 1,256 9,523 37,586

Total Expenditure from Operating Activities 212,084 19,955 25,707 39,706 50,462 11,304 91,345 450,563

Other Expenses

Expenditure for Capital Purpose - - - - - - 3,016 3,016

Impairment of Financial Assets - - - - - - (383) (383)

Depreciation 9,513 2,813 562 4,663 2,847 6,900 1,224 28,522
Total Other Expenses 9,513 2,813 562 4,663 2,847 6,900 3,857 31,155

Total Expenses 221,597 22,768 26,269 44,369 53,309 18,204 95,202 481,718

Note 3.1: Analysis of Expenses by Source
Admitted Non EDS Mental RAC Aged Other Total

Patients Admitted Health Care

2016 2016 2016 2016 2016 2016 2016 2016

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2016

Expenditure from Operating Activites

Employee Expenses 138,154 13,924 21,119 31,906 41,497 6,584 31,087 284,271

Contract Labour Costs 1,293 45 122 102 549 235 80 2,426

Supplies and Consumables 17,952 449 32 353 757 99 1,803 21,445

Medical and Surgical Supplies 11,061 315 913 190 668 49 35,566 48,762

Insurance Costs 2,356 237 360 544 708 112 530 4,848

Purchased Services 7,842 634 22 401 339 2,261 4,338 15,837

Grampians Rural Health Alliance - - - - - - 990 990

Other Expenses 17,044 2,660 506 2,719 2,604 1,233 10,238 37,003

Total Expenditure from Operating Activities 195,702 18,264 23,074 36,215 47,123 10,573 84,632 415,582

Other Expenses

Expenditure for Capital Purpose - - - - - - 3,975 3,975
Impairment of Financial Assets - - - - - - 483 483

Depreciation 8,566 2,533 506 4,199 2,563 6,213 1,101 25,683

Total Other Expenses 8,566 2,533 506 4,199 2,563 6,213 5,559 30,141

Total Expenses 204,268 20,797 23,580 40,414 49,686 16,787 90,191 445,723

Refer to Note 5.1

Expense Recognition

Costs of goods sold are recognised when the sale of an item occurs by transferring the cost or value of the item/s from inventories.

Employee Expenses

Employee expenses include:

• Wages and salaries

Grants and other Transfers

Grants and other transfers to third parties (other than contribution to owners) are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are paid or payable.  

• Superannuation expenses which are reported differently depending upon whether employees are members of defined benefit or defined contribution plans

Expenses are recognised as they are incurred and reported in the financial year to which they relate.

Cost of Goods Sold

• Annual leave

• Sick leave

• Work cover premiums

• Long service leave 

Refer to note 7.1 - Financial Instruments

Revaluation Gain/(Loss) of Non-Financial Physical Assets

Net Gain/(Loss) on Disposal of Non-Financial Assets

Net Gain/(Loss) on Financial Instruments

Any gain or loss on the disposal of a non-financial asset is recognised at the date of disposal and is the difference between the proceeds and the carrying value of the asset at that time.

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments include:

• Realised and unrealised gains and losses from revaluation of financial instruments at fair value

Other Operating Expenses

Supplies and Consumables

Bad and Doubtful Debts

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations and include:

Supplies and service costs are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred.  The carrying amounts of any inventories held for distribution are expensed when 

distributed.

• The revaluation of the present value of the Long Service Leave liability due to changes in the bond rate movements, inflation rate movements and the impact of changes of probability 

factors; and
• Transfer of amounts in the reserves to accumulated surplus or net result due to disposal or derecognition or reclassification.

• Impairment and reversal of impairment for financial instruments at amortised cost; and 

• Disposals of financial assets and de-recognition of financial liabilities

Other Gains/(Losses) from Other Economic Flows

Other gains/(losses) include: 
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Note 3.2: Analysis of Expense and Revenue by Special Purpose Funds

2017 2016 2017 2016

$000 $000 $000 $000

Business Units

Safety Link 5,936 5,268 6,042 5,945

Eureka Linen 5,721 6,164 6,492 7,417

Catering 10,398 10,333 9,820 10,426
Radiology 17,950 16,583 18,416 17,488

Business Unit Total 40,005 38,348 40,770 41,276

Other Services

Education Services 3,041 3,553 2,519 3,342

Private Practice 2,298 1,909 3,282 2,496

Breastscreen 1,522 1,449 1,546 1,661

Grampians Integrated Cancer Service 1,482 1,244 1,498 1,245

Dental Teaching Clinic 1,333 1,400 1,402 1,286

Accommodation 851 892 1,254 1,151

Diabetic Shop 371 360 391 352

IMS Research 356 350 305 291

Child and Youth Redesign 315 817 403 844

Car Park 224 192 791 674

Salary Packaging 192 110 1,834 1,869

Print Shop 162 164 341 345

Midwifery 130 118 123 123

Hospital Improvement 77 177 91 129

Other 2,914 3,150 3,364 3,482

Grampians Rural Health Alliance 1,063 990 1,095 1,027
Other Services Total 16,331 16,875 20,239 20,317

Total 56,336 55,223 61,009 61,593

Note 3.3: Employee Benefits in the Balance Sheet
2017 2016

$000 $000

Current Provisions

Employee Benefits

Annual Leave

- Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months 16,623 15,987

- Unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months 2,078 2,640

Long Service Leave

- Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months 4,726 4,259

- Unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months 22,242 21,169

Other

- Accrued Wages and Salaries 7,465 7,607

- Accrued Days Off 480 436

Provisions related to Employee Benefit On-Costs

- Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months 3,359 2,540

- Unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months 3,175 3,024

Other

- Accrued Wages and Salaries 933 952

- Accrued Days Off 61 55
Total Current 61,142 58,669

Non-Current Provisions
Conditional Long Service Leave 12,952 13,014

Total Non-Current 12,952 13,014

Total Provisions 74,094 71,683

(a): Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs
2017 2016

$000 $000

Current

Unconditional Long Service Leave 30,400 28,664

Accrued Leave 21,803 20,956

Accrued Wages and Salaries 8,398 8,558

Accrued Days Off 541 491

Total Current 61,142 58,669

Non-Current

Conditional Long Service Leave 12,952 13,014

Total Non-Current 12,952 13,014

Total Employee Benefits 74,094 71,683

Movement in Long Service Leave:

Opening Balance 41,678 37,477

Provision made during the year 6,743 7,187
Revaluation LSL (1,789) 1,292

Settlement made during the year (5,069) (4,278)

Closing Balance 41,563 41,678

Expense Revenue
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Note 3.3: Employee Benefits in the Balance Sheet (cont)

The amount recognised as a liability is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and 

uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present 

value of those cash flows, using a discount rate that reflects the time value of money and risks specific to the provision.

Provisions

Provision for Long Service Leave in accordance with AASB 101: Presentation of Financial Statements , Provision for Long Service Leave is considered a current liability in 

respect to employees who have met the required qualification period, and therefore Ballarat Health Services does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of 

the liability for at least 12 months after the balance date.

Provisions are recognised when Ballarat Health Services has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of economic benefits is probable and the amount of the provision 

can be measured reliably. 

Current Liability – Unconditional LSL (representing 10 or more years of continuous service) 

Long Service Leave (LSL)

Liabilities for wages and salaries including annual leave and accrued days off, which are expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in 

the provision for employee benefits in respect of employee’s services up to the reporting date and are classified as current liabilities and measured at their nominal 

values.

The liability for LSL is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. The revaluation of the long service leave liability is due to changes in the bond interest rates.

Employee Benefits

• Nominal value – component that Ballarat Health Services expects to settle within 12 months

This provision arises for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and Long Service Leave (LSL) for services rendered to the reporting 

date.

Wages and Salaries, Annual Leave and Accrued Days Off

The components of this current LSL liability are measured at:

• Present value – component that Ballarat Health Services does not expect to settle within 12 months

Employee benefit for on-costs such as payroll tax, workers compensation and superannuation are recognised together with provision for employee benefits, while LSL 

taken in service are recognised separately.

This is disclosed in the notes of the financial statements as a current liability even where Ballarat Health Services does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months as 

it will not have the unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months.  An unconditional right arises after a 

qualifying period.

Any gain or loss followed revaluation of the present value of non-current long service leave liability is recognised as a transaction, except to the extent that a gain or loss 

arises due to changes in estimations e.g bond rate movements, inflation rate movements and changes in probability factors which are then recognised as other economic 

flows.

This is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement until the employee has completed the requisite years 

of service. Conditional LSL is required to be measured at present value.

Consideration is given for expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted 

using interest rates of the Commonwealth Government guaranteed securities in Australia.

Liabilities for termination benefits are recognised when a detailed plan for the termination has been developed and a valid expectation has been raised with those 

employees affected that the terminations will be carried out. The liabilities for termination benefits are recognised in other creditors unless the amount or timing of the 

payments is uncertain, in which case they are recognised as a provision. 

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange 

for these benefits.

On-Costs

Termination Benefits

Non-Current Liability – Conditional LSL (representing less than 10 years of continuous service) 
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Note 3.4: Superannuation

2017 2016 2017 2016

$000 $000 $000 $000

Defined Benefit Plans (i):

First State Super 1,203 1,282 98 102

Defined Contribution Plans:

First State Super 13,871 13,467 1,119 1,115

Hesta 5,719 4,815 497 437

Emergency Services Scheme 354 415 55 33

Other 836 714 57 54

Total 21,983 20,693 1,826 1,742

(i) The basis for calculating the level of contributions is determined by the various actuaries of the defined benefit superannuation plans.

Defined Benefit Superannuation Plans 
The amount charged to the Comprehensive Operating Statement in relation to the defined benefit superannuation plans represent the contributions made by 

Ballarat Health Services to the superannuation plan, in respect to the services of current Ballarat Health Services staff during the reporting period. 

Ballarat Health Services does not recognise any unfunded defined benefit liability in respect of the superannuation plan as Ballarat Health Services has no legal or 

constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees; its only obligation is to pay superannuation contributions as they fall due. The Department 

of Treasury and Finance administers and discloses the state’s defined benefit liabilities in its financial statements. 

Paid Contribution Contribution Outstanding

Employees of Ballarat Health Services are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and Ballarat Health Services contributes to both the defined benefit and 

defined contribution plans based on the relevant rules of each plan and upon actuarial advice. The defined benefit plans provide benefits based on years of service 

and final average salary.

Superannuation contributions paid or payable for the reporting period are included as part of employee benefits in the Comprehensive Operating Statement for 

Ballarat Health Service.  

Defined Contribution Plans
In relation to defined contribution (i.e. accumulation) superannuation plans, the associated expense is simply the employer contributions that are paid or payable in 

respect of employees who are members of these plans during the reporting period. Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed when 

incurred.
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Note 4: Key Assets to Support Service Delivery

Note 4.1: Investments and Other Financial Assets
Operating Operating Specific Specific Trust Trust Capital Capital Total Total

Fund Fund Purpose Purpose Fund Fund Fund Fund

Fund Fund

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Current

Shares 704 650 - - - - - - 704 650
Term Deposits - - - 486 - 163 - 2,351 - 3,000

Managed Investment Schemes (VFMC) - - 563 - 12,003 12,258 567 - 13,133 12,258

Grampians Rural Health Alliance - - 1,483 1,267 - - - - 1,483 1,267

Total Current 704 650 2,046 1,753 12,003 12,421 567 2,351 15,320 17,175

Non-Current

Floating Rate Notes - - - - 13,002 13,003 - - 13,002 13,003

Total Non-Current - - - - 13,002 13,003 - - 13,002 13,003

Total 704 650 2,046 1,753 25,005 25,424 567 2,351 28,322 30,178

Represented by:

Health Service Investments 704 650 563 486 - - 567 2,351 1,834 3,486

Monies Held in Trust

- Accommodation Bonds - - - - 23,407 23,653 - - 23,407 23,653

- Patient Monies - - - - 800 833 - - 800 833

- State Wide Equipment Program - - - - 462 677 - - 462 677

- Grampians Intergrated Cancer Services - - - - 336 262 - - 336 262

Grampians Rural Health Alliance - - 1,483 1,267 - - - - 1,483 1,267
Total 704 650 2,046 1,753 25,005 25,424 567 2,351 28,322 30,178

(a): Ageing Analysis of Other Financial Assets

(b): Nature and Extent of Risk Arising from Other Financial Assets

Please refer to Note 7.1 for the ageing analysis of other financial assets

Please refer to Note 7.1 for the nature and extent of credit risk arising from other financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, Ballarat Health Services assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets are impaired. Objective 

evidence includes financial difficulties of the debtor, default payments, debts which are more than 60 days overdue and changes in debtor credit ratings. All financial instrument 

assets, except those measured at fair value through the profit and loss, are subject to annual review for impairment.

The amount of the allowance is the difference between the financial assets carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective 

interest rate.

In assessing impaiment of statutory (non-contractual) financial assets, which are not financial instruments, professional judgement is applied in assessing materiality using 

estimates averages and other computational methods in accordance with AASB136 Impairment of Asset .

Investments and Other Financial Assets

Impairment of Financial Assets 

Investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date where purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract, whose terms require delivery of the investment within 

the timeframe established by the market concerned and are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. 

Ballarat Health Services classifies its other financial assets between current and non-current based on the purpose for which the assets were acquired. Management determines 

the classification of its other assets at initial recognition.

Ballarat Health Services assesses at each balance sheet date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

All financial assets, except those measured at fair value through the profit and loss, are subject to annual review for impairment.
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Note 4.2: Jointly Controlled Operations and Assets

2017 2016

$000 $000

Revenue 1,479 1,699

Expenses (1,159) (1,051)

Net Result 320 648

Assets 1,483 1,267

Liabilities (116) (221)

Net Assets 1,367 1,046

Equity 1,367 1,046

Ownership Interest 19.98% 20.14%

Ballarat Health Services has an interest in a Jointly Controlled Operation.  The Jointly Controlled Operation is Grampians Rural Health Alliance.  Details of operations 

are listed as follows:

In June 2008, the Department of Health issued circular number 17/2008, which outlines government requirements for the operation of rural health Information and 

Communication Technology (ICT) alliances.  The policy outlines the accepted governance model for the operation of the ICT alliances.  

The policy requires public hospitals, public health services and multipurpose services which are declared or established under the Health Services Act 1988, to enter 

into the alliance for the region in which they operate, in accordance with a Joint Operation Agreement.  Consistent with this policy, the Grampians Rural Health 

Alliance came into effect on 9th of December 2008.

• Its share of the revenue from the sale of the of the output by the operation

• Its expenses including its share of any expenses incurred jointly

Investments in Joint Operations
In respect of any interest in joint operations, Ballarat Health Services recognises in the financial statements:

• Its assets including its share of any assets held jointly

• Any liabilities including its share of liabilities that it had incurred

• Its revenue from the sale of its share of the output from the joint operation
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Note 4.3: Property, Plant and Equipment

(a): Gross Carrying Amount and Accumulated Depreciation
Gross Cost Accumulated Written Down Written Down
Valuation Dep'n Value Value

2017 2017 2017 2016
$000 $000 $000 $000

Land 21,866 - 21,866 21,866
Under Construction 9,334 - 9,334 29,398
Buildings 351,900 55,627 296,273 282,529

Plant and Equipment 22,852 13,247 9,605 9,306
Medical Equipment 31,173 22,348 8,825 8,373

Computers and Communications 6,025 4,794 1,231 1,376
Furniture and Fittings 4,048 3,437 611 751
Personal Alarm Call Systems 6,417 3,783 2,634 1,549
Linen Stock 1,588 865 723 835
Motor Vehicles 3,911 2,521 1,390 1,542
Total Property, Plant and Equipment 459,114 106,622 352,492 357,526

No managerial revaluation was required this financial year based on land indexation factors issued by the VGV.

(b): Reconciliations of the Carrying Amount of each Class of Assets

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of assets for the entity at the beginning and end of the previous and current financial year is set out below.
Land Under Buildings Plant and Medical Computers Furniture and Personal Linen Stock Motor Total

Construction Equipment Equipment and Fittings Alarm Call Vehicles

Comm'n Systems
Note $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2017
Balance at 1 July 2016 21,866 29,398 282,529 9,306 8,373 1,376 751 1,549 835 1,542 357,526

Additions - 16,646 239 2,188 1,724 287 37 1,683 160 760 23,724

Revaluations - - - - - - - - - - - 
Net transfers between classes 4.5 - (36,710) 34,010 566 1,720 283 126 - - - (5)
Disposals - - - (537) (6) - - - - (209) (752)
Depreciation - - (20,505) (1,919) (2,986) (715) (303) (598) (272) (703) (28,001)

Balance at 30 June 2017 21,866 9,334 296,273 9,605 8,825 1,231 611 2,634 723 1,390 352,492

2016
Balance at 1 July 2015 19,297 12,637 296,928 8,351 9,326 638 1,001 741 577 1,503 350,999
Additions - 23,519 144 463 2,168 413 111 1,174 511 1,027 29,530

Revaluations 2,569 - - - - - - - - - 2,569
Net transfers between classes - (6,758) 3,235 2,386 227 830 131 - - - 51

Disposals - - - (90) (3) - (91) - - (204) (386)
Depreciation - - (17,778) (1,805) (3,345) (505) (401) (365) (253) (785) (25,237)

Balance at 30 June 2016 21,866 29,398 282,529 9,306 8,373 1,376 751 1,549 835 1,542 357,526

An independent valuation of Ballarat Health Services buildings was peformed by the VGV to determine the fair value of the buildings.  The valuation, which conforms to Australian Valuation Standards, was determined to reference to the 

amounts to which assets could be exchanged between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm's length transaction.  The valuation was based on independent assesments.  The effective date of the valuation is 30 June 2014.  
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Note 4.3: Property, Plant and Equipment (cont)

(c): Fair Value Measurement Hierarchy for Assets at 30 June 2017

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Land at fair value

Non-Specialised Land 11,021 - 11,021 - 

Specialised Land 10,845 -                             - 10,845

Total of Land at fair value 21,866 - 11,021 10,845

Buildings at fair value

Non-Specialised Buildings 127,562 - 127,562 - 

Specialised Buildings 168,711 -                             - 168,711

Total of Buildings at fair value 296,273 - 127,562 168,711

Plant, Equipment and Vehicles at fair value

- Motor Vehicles 1,390 - 1,390 - 

- Plant and Equipment 9,605 - 6,914 2,691

- Furniture and Fittings 611 - 611 - 

- Medical Equipment 8,825 - 5,316 3,509

- Computers and Communications 1,231 - 1,231 - 

- Personal Alarm Call Systems 2,634 - 2,634 - 

- Linen Stock 723 - 723 - 

Total of Plant, Equipment and Vehicles at fair value 25,019 - 18,819 6,200

Total 343,158 - 157,402 185,756

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Land at fair value

Non-Specialised Land 11,021 - 11,021 - 

Specialised Land 10,845 -                             - 10,845

Total of Land at fair value 21,866 - 11,021 10,845

Buildings at fair value

Non-Specialised Land 131,506 - 131,506 - 

Specialised Land 151,023 -                             - 151,023

Total of Buildings at fair value 282,529 - 131,506 151,023

Plant, Equipment and Vehicles at fair value

- Motor Vehicles 1,542 - 1,542 - 

- Plant and Equipment 9,307 - 7,628 1,679

- Furniture and Fittings 751 - 751 - 

- Medical Equipment 8,373 - 5,534 2,839

- Computers and Communications 1,377 - 1,377 - 

- Personal Alarm Call Systems 1,549 1,549 - 

- Linen Stock 834 - 834 - 

Total of Plant, Equipment and Vehicles at fair value 23,733 - 19,215 4,518

Total 328,128 - 161,742 166,386

Carrying amount as at 

30 June 2017

Fair value measurement at end of reporting period using:

Carrying amount as at 

30 June 2016

Fair value measurement at end of reporting period using:

The fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it 

to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

• The fair value of land and buildings
• Superannuation expense - Refer Note 3.4

• that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market (or the most advantageous market, in the absence of the principal market), either

of which must be accessible to the Health Service at the measurement date;
• that the Health Service uses the same valuation assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their 

economic best interest.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 

affects only that period; or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. Judgements made by management in the application of AASs 

that have significant effects on the financial statements and estimates, with a risk of material adjustments in the subsequent reporting period, relate to:

Consistent with AASB 13 (Fair Value Measurement ), Ballarat Health Services determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value measurements such as property, plant and 

equipment, investment properties and financial instruments, and for non-recurring fair value measurements such as non-financial physical assets held for sale, in accordance with the 

requirements of AASB 13 and the relevant FRDs. 

Health Services need to use valuation techniques that are appropriate for the circumstances and where there is sufficient data available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant 

observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

In accordance with paragraph AASB 13.29, Ballarat Health Services can assume the current use of a non-financial physical asset is its HBU unless market or other factors suggest that a 

different use by market participants would maximise the value of the asset.

Therefore, an assessment of the HBU will be required when the indicators are triggered within a reporting period, which suggest the market participants would have perceived an alternative 

use of an asset that can generate maximum value. Once identified, Health Services are required to engage with VGV or other independent valuers for formal HBU assessment.

External factors:
These indicators, as a minimum, include:

Judgements about highest and best use must take into account the characteristics of the assets concerned, including restrictions on the use and disposal of assets arising from the asset’s 

physical nature and any applicable legislative/contractual arrangements.

In considering the HBU for non-financial physical assets, valuers are probably best placed to determine highest and best use (HBU) in consultation with Health Services. Health Services and 

their valuers therefore need to have a shared understanding of the circumstances of the assets. A Ballarat Health Service has to form its own view about a valuer’s determination, as it is 

ultimately responsible for what is presented in its audited financial statements.

• Level 2- Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly 
• Level 3- Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable 

• Changed acts, regulations, local law or such instrument which affects or may affect the use or development of the asset;
• Changes in planning scheme, including zones, reservations, overlays that would affect or remove the restrictions imposed on the asset’s 
• Evidence that suggest the current use of an asset is no longer core to requirements to deliver a Health Service’s service obligation;
• Evidence that suggests that the asset might be sold or demolished at reaching the late stage of an asset’s life cycle.

In addition, Health Services need to assess the HBU as part of the 5-year review of fair value of non-financial physical assets. This is consistent with the current requirements 
on FRD 103F Non-financial physical assets and FRD 107B Investment properties. 

Valuation hierarchy

Fair value measurement

Consideration of highest and best use (HBU) for non-financial physical assets

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the following assumptions:

Ballarat Health Services in conjunction with the VGV, monitors the changes in the fair value of each asset and liability through relevant data sources to determine whether revaluation is 

required.

• Level 1- Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, based on the lowest level input that is significant 

to the fair value measurement as a whole described as follows:

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, Ballarat Health Services has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and 

the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above. In addition, Ballarat Health Services determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing 

categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole), at the end of each reporting period.

The Valuer General Victoria (VGV) is Ballarat Health Services independent valuation agency.
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Note 4.3: Property, Plant and Equipment (cont)

Note 4.3(d): Reconciliation of Level 3 Fair Value
Land 

$000

Buildings 

$000

Plant and Equipment 

$000

Medical Equipment 

$000

2017
Opening Balance 10,845 151,023 1,678 2,839

Purchases (sales) - 32,704 1,166 1,569

Subtotal 10,845 183,727 2,844 4,408

Gains or losses recognised in net result

- Depreciation - (15,016) (153) (899)

- Impairment loss - - - - 

Subtotal - (15,016) (153) (899)

Items recognised in other comprehensive income

- Revaluation - - - - 

Subtotal - - - - 
Closing Balance 10,845 168,711 2,691 3,509

Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy, see Note 4.3 (c).  There have been no transfers between levels during the period.

Land 

$000

Buildings 

$000

Plant and Equipment 

$000

Medical Equipment 

$000
2016
Opening Balance 9,521 162,742 - 3,938

Purchases (sales) - 626 1,723 - 

Subtotal 9,521 163,368 1,723 3,938

Gains or losses recognised in net result

- Depreciation - (12,345) (45) (1,099)

- Impairment loss - - - - 

Subtotal - (12,345) (45) (1,099)

Items recognised in other comprehensive income

- Revaluation 1,324 - - - 

Subtotal 1,324 - - - 

Closing Balance 10,845 151,023 1,678 2,839

Identifying unobservable inputs (level 3) fair value measurements

Level 3 fair value inputs are unobservable valuation inputs for an asset or liability. These inputs require significant judgement and assumptions in deriving fair value for both 

financial and non-financial assets.

Unobservable inputs shall be used to measure fair value to the extent that relevant observable inputs are not available, thereby allowing for situations in which there is little, if 

any, market activity for the asset or liability at the measurement date. However, the fair value measurement objective remains the same, i.e., an exit price at the measurement 

date from the perspective of a market participant that holds the asset or owes the liability. Therefore, unobservable inputs shall reflect the assumptions that market participants 

would use when pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risk.

Non-specialised land, non-specialised buildings are valued using the market approach. Under this valuation method, the assets are compared to recent comparable sales or sales 

of comparable assets which are considered to have nominal or no added improvement value.

To the extent that non-specialised land, non-specialised buildings do not contain significant, unobservable adjustments, these assets are classified as Level 2 under the market 

approach.

Assumptions about risk include the inherent risk in a particular valuation technique used to measure fair value (such as a pricing risk model) and the risk inherent in the inputs to 

the valuation technique. A measurement that does not include an adjustment for risk would not represent a fair value measurement if market participants would include one 

when pricing the asset or liability i.e. it might be necessary to include a risk adjustment when there is significant measurement uncertainty. For example, when there has been a 

significant decrease in the volume or level of activity when compared with normal market activity for the asset or liability or similar assets or liabilities, and the Health Service has 

determined that the transaction price or quoted price does not represent fair value.

Ballarat Health Service shall develop unobservable inputs using the best information available in the circumstances, which might include the Health Service’s own data. In 

developing unobservable inputs, Ballarat Health Service may begin with its own data, but it shall adjust this data if reasonably available information indicates that other market 

participants would use different data or there is something particular to the Health Service that is not available to other market participants. Ballarat Health Service need not 

undertake exhaustive efforts to obtain information about other market participant assumptions. However, a Health Service shall take into account all information about market 

participant assumptions that is reasonably available. Unobservable inputs developed in the manner described above are considered market participant assumptions and meet the 

object of a fair value measurement.

Non-specialised land, non-specialised buildings

Plant and Equipment
Plant and Equipment is held at carrying value (depreciated cost).  When plant and equipment is specialised in use, such that it is rarely sold other than as part of a going concern, 

the depreciated replacement cost to estimate the fair value.  Unless there is market evidence that current replacement costs are significantly different from the original 

acquistion cost, it is considered unlikely that depreciated replacement costs will is used be materially different from the existing carrying value.

There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period 30 June 2017.

For all assets measured at fair value, the current use is considered the highest and best use.

Specialised land, buildings and other assets
The market approach is also used for specialised land and specialised buildings although is adjusted for the Community Service Obligation (CSO) to reflect the specialised nature of 

the assets being valued. Specialised assets contain significant, unobservable adjustments; therefore these assets are classified as Level 3 under the market based direct 

comparison approach.

The CSO adjustment is a reflection of the valuer’s assessment of the impact of restrictions associated with an asset to the extent that is also equally applicable to market 

participants.  This approach is in light best use consideration required for fair value measurement, and takes into account the use of the asset that is physically possible, legally 

permissible and financially feasible. As adjustments of CSO are considered as of the highest and significant unobservable inputs, specialised land would be classified as Level 3 

assets. 

For Ballarat Health Services, the depreciated replacement cost method is used for the majority of specialised buildings, adjusted for the associated depreciation. As depreciation 

adjustments are considered as significant and unobservable inputs in nature, specialised buildings are classified as Level 3 for fair value measurements.

Vehicles

Ballarat Health Service acquires new vehicles and at times disposes of them before completion of their economic life. The process of acquisition, use and disposal in the market is 

managed by Ballarat Health Service who set relevant depreciation rates during use to reflect the consumption of the vehicles. As a result, the fair value of vehicles does not differ 

materially from the carrying amount (depreciated cost).
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Note 4.3: Property, Plant and Equipment (cont)

Note 4.3(e): Description of Significant Unobservable Inputs to Level 3 Valuations
Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs 

Specialised Land

Queen Elizabeth Centre - Ascot Street Sth

908 Eyre Street

Base Hospital - Drummond Street Nth

Sebastopol Complex - Morgan Street

113 Ascot Street Sth

Plant and Equipment at Fair Value

Depreciated Replacement Cost  Cost Per Unit 

 Useful Life of Plant and Equipment 

(i) CSO adjustments of 20% were applied to reduce the market approach value for the Health Services specialised land

Property, Plant and Equipment 

Crown Land 

Land and Buildings

Plant, Equipment and Vehicles

Leasehold Improvements

Revaluations of Non-Current Physical Assets

Crown land is measured at fair value with regard to the property’s highest and best use after due consideration is made for any legal or constructive restrictions 

imposed on the asset, public announcements or commitments made in relation to the intended use of the asset. Theoretical opportunities that may be available 

in relation to the assets are not taken into account until it is virtually certain that any restrictions will no longer apply.

Market Approach (i) Community Service Obligation (CSO) Adjustment

Specialised Buildings

Depreciated Replacement Cost

Direct cost per square metre

Useful life of specialised buildings

Medical Equipment at Fair Value

Depreciated Replacement Cost

Cost Per Unit

Useful Life of Medical Equipment

All non-current physical assets are measured initially at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Where an 

asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, the cost is its fair value at the date of acquisition.  

Revaluation increases and revaluation decreases relating to individual assets within a class are offset against one another within that class but are not offset in 

respect of assets in different classes. 

Revaluation reserves are not normally transferred to accumulated funds on derecognition of the relevant asset.

In accordance with FRD 103F Non-Current Physical Assets , Ballarat Health Services non-current physical assets were assessed to determine whether revaluation 

of the non-current physical assets was required.

Land and buildings are recognised initially at cost and subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment.

Plant, equipment and vehicles are recognised initially at cost and subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment.  

Depreciated historical cost is generally a reasonable proxy for fair value because of the short lives of the assets concerned.

The cost of a leasehold improvement is capitalised as an asset and depreciated over the shorter of the remaining term of the lease or the estiamted useful life of 

the improvements.

Non-current physical assets are measured at fair value and are revalued in accordance with FRD 103F Non-Current Physical Assets . This revaluation process 

normally occurs at least every 5 years, based upon the assets Government Purpose Classification, but may occur more frequently if fair value assessments 

indicate material changes in values. Independent valuers are used to conduct these scheduled revaluations and any interim revaluations are determined in 

accordance with the requirements of the FRDs. Revaluation increments or decrements arise from differences between an asset carrying value and its fair value.

Revaluation increments are recognised in Other Comprehensive Income and are credited directly to the asset revaluation surplus, except that, to the extent that 

an increment reverses a revaluation decrement in respect of that same class of asset previously recognised as an expense in net result.

Revaluation decrements are recognised in Other Comprehensive Income to the extent that a credit balance exits in the asset revaluation surplus in respect of the 

same class of property, plant and equipment.
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Note 4.4: Depreciation and Amortisation
2017 2016

$000 $000

Buildings 20,505 17,778

Medical Equipment 2,986 3,345

Plant and Equipment 1,919 1,805

Motor Vehicles 703 785

Personal Alarm Call Systems 598 365

Linen Stock 272 253

Computers and Communications 715 505

Furniture and Fittings 303 401

Intangibles 521 446

Total 28,522 25,683

2017 2016
Buildings
 - Structure Shell Building Fabric 5-60 years 5-60 years
 - Site Engineering Services 5-53 years 5-53 years
 - Fitout 3-25 years 3-25 years
 - Trunk Reticulated Building Systems 3-30 years 3-30 years
Plant and Equipment 5-22 years 5-22 years
Medical Equipment 3-10 years 5-10 years
Furniture and Fittings 5 years 5 years
Personal Alert Call Systems 5 years 5 years
Linen 5 years 5 years
Motor Vehicles 3-7 years 3-7 years
Computers and Communications 3 years 3 years
Intangibles 3 years 3 years

Note 4.5: Intangible Assets
2017 2016

Note $000 $000

Computer Software 4,173 4,481
Less: Accumulated Amortisation (3,748) (3,945)

Total 425 536

Balance at 1 July 2016 536 936

Additions 405 97

Revaluations - - 

Net transfers between Classes 4.3(b) 5 (51)

Disposals - - 

Amortisation (521) (446)

Balance at 30 June 2017 425 536

Intangible Assets

Amortisation
Amortisation is allocated to intangible assets with finite useful lives on a systematic (typically straight line) basis over the assets useful life. Amortisation begins 

when the asset is available for use, which is when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 

management. The consumption of intangible non-produced assets with finite useful lives is classified as amortisation. The amortisation period and the 

amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each annual reporting period. In addition, an assessment 

is made at each reporting date to determine whether there are indicators that the intangible asset concerned is impaired. If so, the assets concerned are tested 

as to whether their carrying value exceeds their recoverable amount. 

Any excess of the carrying amount over the recoverable amount is recognised as an impairment loss. Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised over 

a 3-5 year period.

Intangible assets represent identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance such as patents, trademarks and computer software and development 

costs.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. Subsequently, intangible assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 

accumulated impairment losses.  Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised when it is expected that additional future economic benefits will 

flow to Ballarat Health Services.

All property, plant and equipment and other non-financial physical assets over $2,000 that have finite useful lives are depreciated (i.e. excludes land assets held 

for sale and investment properties). Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis, at a rate that allocates the asset value less any estimated residual value 

over its estimated useful life. 

Depreciation begins when the asset is available for use, which is when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in a manner 

intended by management. 

Linen and Personal Alarm Call Systems (PACS), used in the Linen and Safety Link services are considered fixed assets of Ballarat Health Services and depreciated 

accordingly. 

The following table indicates the expected useful lives of non-current assets on which depreciation charges are based.

Building works currently in progress are not depreciated until the completion of the building project.

Please Note: The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period and adjustments 

made where appropriate. This depreciation charge is not funded by the Department of Health & Human Services.  

As part of the building valuation, building values were separated into components and each component assessed for its useful life which is represented above.
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Note 5: Other Assets and Liabilities

Note 5.1: Receivables
Current Non-Current Total Current Non-Current Total

2017 2017 2017 2016 2016 2016

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Contractual

Trade Debtors

- Acute and Sub-Acute Inpatients 1,954 - 1,954 2,796 - 2,796

- RAC 374 - 374 353 - 353

- Eureka Linen 303 - 303 508 - 508

- Radiology 288 - 288 278 - 278

- Safety Link 367 - 367 387 - 387

- Sundry 2,643 - 2,643 3,307 - 3,307

Accrued Investment Income 139 - 139 143 - 143

Accrued Revenue Other 9,532 9,532 5,538 - 5,538

Less: Allowance for Doubtful Debts

Trade Debtors (144) - (144) (126) - (126)

Patient Fees (197) - (197) (132) - (132)

Total Contractual 15,259 - 15,259 13,052 - 13,052 

Statutory

GST Receivable 673 - 673 1,618 - 1,618

Department of Health & Human Services 2,277 12,298 14,575 1,513 10,784 12,297

Total Statutory 2,950 12,298 15,248 3,131 10,784 13,915

Total 18,209 12,298 30,507 16,183 10,784 26,967

Note 5.1(a): Movement in the Allowance for Doubtful Debts
2017 2016

$000 $000

Balance at Beginning of Year (258) (275)
Amounts Written off During the Year 64 54

Amounts Recovered During the Year 106 129
Increase/(Decrease) in Allowance Recognised in the Net Result (253) (166)

Balance at End of Year (341) (258)

(b): Ageing Analysis of Receivables
Please refer to Note 7.1 for the ageing analysis of receivables

(c): Nature and Extent of Risk Arising from Receivables
Please refer to Note 7.1 for the nature and extent of credit risk arising from receivables

Doubtful Debts
Bad and doubtful debts for financial assets are assessed on a regular basis. Those bad debts considered as written off and allowances for doubtful receivables are recognised as expenses in the 

net result. 

Trade debtors are carried at nominal amounts due and are due for settlement within 30 days from the date of recognition. Collectability of debts is reviewed on an ongoing basis and debts 

which are known to be uncollectible are written off. A provision for doubtful debts is raised where doubt as to collection exists. Bad debts are written off when identified.

Receivables consist of:
• Contractual receivables which include mainly debtors in relation to goods and services
• Accrued investment income; and
• Statutory receivables which include predominantly amounts owing from the Victorian Government and Goods and Services Tax 
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Note 5.2: Inventories
2017 2016

$000 $000

General (at cost) 883 916

Pharmaceuticals (at cost) 668 698

Total 1,551 1,614

Note 5.3: Prepayments
2017 2016

$000 $000

Current

Prepayments 1,713 1,356

Total 1,713 1,356

Note 5.4: Other Liabilities
2017 2016

$000 $000

Current

Monies Held in Trust*

- Refundable Accommodation Bonds 32,568 31,498

- Patient Monies 800 833

- Grampians Integrated Cancer Service 336 262

- State Wide Equipment Program 462 677

Grampians Rural Health Alliance 116 221

Total Other Liabilities 34,282 33,491

*Monies Held in Trust Represented by:

Other Financial Assets 34,166 33,270

Total 34,166 33,270

Note 5.5: Payables
2017 2016

$000 $000

Current

Trade Creditors and Accrued Expenses 30,087 23,782

Salary Packaging Held in Trust 599 688

Department of Health & Human Services (i) 951 227

Total 31,637 24,697

(i) Terms and conditions of amounts payable to the Department of Health & Human Services vary according to the particular agreement with the Department.

(a): Maturity Analysis of Payables

Please refer to Note 7.1 for the ageing analysis of payables

(b): Nature and Extent of Risk Arising from Payables
Please refer to Note 7.1 for the nature and extent of credit risk arising from payables

Inventories acquired for no cost or nominal considerations are measured at current replacement cost at the date of acquisition.

Other non-financial assets include prepayments which represent payments in advance of receipt of goods or services or that part of expenditure made in one accounting 

period covering a term extending beyond that period.

Inventories include goods and other property held either for sale, consumption or for distribution at no or nominal cost in the ordinary course of business operations. 

Inventories held for distribution are measured at cost, adjusted for any loss of service potential. All other inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable 

value. 

The basis used in assessing loss of service potential for inventories held for distribution include current replacement cost and technical or functional obsolescence. 

Technical obsolescence occurs when an item still functions for some or all of the tasks it was originally acquired to do, but no longer matches current technologies. 

Functional obsolescence occurs when an item no longer functions the way it did when it was first acquired.

Cost for all other inventory is measured on the basis of weighted average cost. 

Statutory payables such as goods and services tax and fringe benefits tax payables are recognised and measured similarly to contractual payables but are not classified as 

financial instruments and not included in the category of financial liabilities at amortised cost, because they do not arise from a contract. 

Contractual payables which consist predominantly of accounts payable representing liabilities for goods and services provided to Ballarat Health Services prior to the end 

of the financial year that are unpaid, and arise when Ballarat Health Services becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of those goods and 

services. The normal credit terms are 30 days from the end of the month, in which the invoice was raised.

Contractual payables are initially recognised at fair value and then subsequently carried at amortised cost.  
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Note 6: How we Finance our Operations

Note 6.1: Cash and Cash Equivalents
2017 2016

$000 $000

Cash on hand and at bank 4,976 2,380

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 4,976 2,380

Represented By
Cash for Health Services Operations (as per Cash Flow Statement) 4,976 2,380

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 4,976 2,380

Note 6.2: Commitments
2017 2016
$000 $000

Capital Expenditure Commitments

Land and Buildings 8,730 16,042

Furniture and Fittings 104 88
Medical Equipment 978 2,089

Computer 409 60
Plant and Equipment 128 721

Intangible Assets - 20
Total Capital Expenditure Commitments 10,349 19,020

Not later than 1 year 10,349 19,020
Total Capital Expenditure Commitments Payable 10,349 19,020

Operating Expenditure Commitments

Furniture and Fittings 60 23

Plant and Equipment 4,751 329

Computer 454 39

Medical Equipment 3,406 114

Other 1,670 1,086
Total Operating Expenditure Commitments 10,341 1,591

Not later than 1 year 4,740 1,584

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 5,200 7

Later than 5 years 401 - 
Total Operating Expenditure Commitments Payable 10,341 1,591

Operating Leases

Property 1,102 1,454

Medical Equipment 417 610

IT Equipment 230 314
Total Operating Leases 1,749 2,378

Not later than 1 year 854 848

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 895 1,530

Later than 5 years - - 
Total Operating Leases Payable 1,749 2,378

Total Commitments for Expenditure (inclusive of GST) 22,439 22,989

Less GST recoverable from the Australian Tax Office 2,023 2,074
Total Commitments for Expenditure (exclusive of GST) 20,416 20,915

All amounts shown in the Commitments note are nominal amounts inclusive of GST. Capital Commitments of $7,192,960 are fully funded by DHHS.

Capital Commitments for 2015/16 $13,498,953 and were fully funded by DHHS.

Cash and cash equivalents recognised on the balance sheet comprise of cash on hand and cash at bank, deposits at call and highly liquid investments with an original maturity of 

3 months or less, which are held for the purpose of meeting short term cash commitments rather than for investment purposes and are readily convertible to known amounts 

of cash and subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

Commitments for future expenditure include operating and capital commitments arising from contracts. Major project commitments are fully funded by the Department of 

Health & Human Services. These commitments are disclosed by way this note at their nominal value and are inclusive of the GST payable.  
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Note 7: Risks, Contingencies and Valuation Uncertainties

Note 7.1: Financial Instruments

(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

Categorisation of Financial Instruments

Carrying Carrying

Amount Amount

2017 2016

$000 $000

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 4,976 2,380

Receivables 15,259 13,052

Other Financial Assets 28,322 30,178
Total Financial Assets(i) 48,557 45,610

Financial Liabilities

Payables 30,686 24,470

Accommodation Bonds 32,568 31,498

Monies Held in Trust 1,598 1,772

Other 116 221
Total Financial Liabilities(ii) 64,968 57,961

(i) The total amount of financial assets disclosed here excludes statutory receivables (i.e. GST input tax credit recoverable)

(ii) The total amount of financial liabilities disclosed here excludes statutory payables (i.e. Taxes, payables)

(b) Net Holding Gain/(Loss) on Financial Instruments by Category

Carrying Carrying

Amount Amount

2017 2016

$000 $000

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents(i) 1,328 1,981

Receivables (83) (17)

Other Financial Assets 425 (440)

Total Financial Assets 1,670 1,524

Financial Liabilities

Accommodation Bonds 177 176
Total Financial Liabilities 177 176

Ballarat Health Services principal financial instruments comprise:

(i) For cash and cash equivalents, loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets, the net gain or loss is calculated by taking the interest revenue or losses arising from revaluation of 

the financial assets, and minus any impairment recognised in the net result.

(ii) For financial assets and liabilities that are held-for-trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss, the net gain or loss is calculated by taking the movement In the fair value of the 

financial asset or liability.

- Cash Assets

- Term Deposits

- Managed Investment Schemes (VFMC)

- Receivables (excluding statutory receivables)

- Available-for-sale Financial Assets

- Payables (excluding statutory payables)

- Accommodation Bonds

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and 

expenses are recognised, with respect to each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 1 and the respective subsequent notes.

Ballarat Health Services main financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. Ballarat Health Services manages these financial risks in accordance with its 

financial risk management policy.

The main purpose in holding financial instruments is to prudentially manage Ballarat Health Services financial risks within the government policy parameters.
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Note 7.1: Financial Instruments (cont)

(c) Credit Risk

Credit Quality of Contractual Financial Assets That Are Neither Past Due Nor Impaired

Total

$000 $000 $000 $000

2017

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 4,976 - - 4,976

Receivables

- Trade Debtors - - 15,120 15,120

- Other Receivables (i) 139 - - 139

Other Financial Assets

- Managed Investment Schemes (VFMC) - 13,133 - 13,133

- Floating Rate Notes 3,600 - 9,402 13,002

- Shares in Other Entities 704 - 1,483 2,187

Total Financial Assets 9,419 13,133 26,005 48,557

2016

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,380 - - 2,380

Receivables

- Trade Debtors - - 12,909 12,909

- Other Receivables (i) 143 - - 143

Other Financial Assets

- Term Deposits 3,000 - - 3,000

- Managed Investment Schemes (VFMC) - 12,258 - 12,258

- Floating Rate Notes 3,600 - 9,403 13,003

- Shares in Other Entities 650 - 1,267 1,917
Total Financial Assets 9,773 12,258 23,579 45,610

(i) The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (eg; amounts owing from Victorian Government and GST input  tax credit recoverable).

Ageing Analysis of Financial Assets as at 30 June

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2017

Financial Assets

  Cash and Cash Equivalents 4,976 4,976 - - - - - 

  Receivables 15,259 13,796 736 643 84 - - 
  Other Financial Assets 28,322 28,322 - - - - - 

Total Financial Assets 48,557 47,093 736 643 84 - - 

2016

Financial Assets

  Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,380 2,380 - - - - - 
  Receivables 13,052 11,880 564 556 52 - - 

  Other Financial Assets 30,178 30,178 - - - - - 

Total Financial Assets 45,610 44,438 564 556 52 - - 

3 Months-1 Year 1-5 Years

There are no financial assets that have had their terms renegotiated so as to prevent them from being past due or impaired, and they are stated as the carrying amounts as 

indicated.  

The ageing analysis table above discloses the ageing only of contractual financial assets that are past due but not impaired.

Impaired 

Financial Assets

Consolidated 

Carrying Amount

Not Past Due and 

Not Impaired

Less than 1 

Month

1-3 Months

Past Due But Not Impaired

Credit risk arises from the contractual financial assets of Ballarat Health Services, which comprise cash and deposits, contractual receivables and available for sale contractual 

financial assets.  Ballarat Health Services exposure to credit risk arises from the potential default of a counter party on their contractual obligations resulting in the financial loss to

Ballarat Health Services.  Credit risk is measured at fair value and is monitored on a regular basis.

In addition, Ballarat Health Services does not engage in hedging for its contractual financial assets and mainly obtains contractual financial assets that are on fixed interest, except 

for cash assets, which are mainly cash at bank.  Ballarat Health Services policy is to only deal with banks with high credit ratings.

Provision for impairment for contractual financial assets is recognised when there is objective evidence that Ballarat Health Services will not be able to collect a receivable.  

Objective evidence includes financial difficulties of the debtor, default payments, debts which are more than 60 days overdue, and changes in debtor credit ratings.  

Except as otherwise detailed in the following table, the carrying amount of contractual financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses, 

represents Ballarat Health Services maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained.

Financial 

Institutions 

(AA-Credit 

Rating)

Government 

Agencies 

(AAA-Credit 

Rating)

Other
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Note 7.1: Financial Instruments (cont)

(d) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that Ballarat Health Services would be unable to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due.  Ballarat Health Services operates

under the Government's fair payments policy of settling financial obligations within 30 days and in the event of dispute, making payments within 30 days from the 
date of resolution.  Ballarat Health Services maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities as disclosed in the balance sheet.

Ballarat Health Services manages its financial instruments so as to minimise liquidity risk.  This is achieved through a combination of daily cash flow forecasting 
and appropriate budget setting and monitoring.

Maturity Analysis of Financial Liabilities as at 30 June

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2017

Financial Liabilities

Payables 30,686 30,686 30,686 - - 

Accommodation Bonds 32,568 32,568 586 1,495 30,487

Monies Held in Trust 1,598 1,598 - 798 800

Other Liabilities 116 116 - - 116

Total Financial Liabilities 64,968 64,968 31,272 2,293 31,403

2016

Financial Liabilities

Payables 24,470 24,470 24,470 - - 

Accommodation Bonds 31,498 31,498 567 1,446 29,485

Monies Held in Trust 1,772 1,772 - 939 833

Other Liabilities 221 221 - - 221

Total Financial Liabilities 57,961 57,961 25,037 2,385 30,539

(e) Market Risk
Ballarat Health Services exposures to market risk are primarily through interest rate risk with only insignificant exposure to foreign currency and other price risks.
Objectives, policies and processes used to manage each of these risks are disclosed in the paragraph below.

Currency Risk

Interest Rate Risk

Other Price Risk

Interest Rate Exposure of Financial Assets and Liabilities as at 30 June

$000 $000 $000 $000

2017

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 1.50% 4,976 - 4,976 - 

Receivables 0% 15,259 - - 15,259

Other Financial Assets 3.84% 28,322 - 28,322 - 

Total Financial Assets 48,557 - 33,298 15,259

Financial Liabilities

Creditors 0% 30,686 - - 30,686

Accommodation Bonds 1.90% 32,568 32,568 - - 

Monies Held in Trust 0% 1,598 - - 1,598

Other Liabilities 0% 116 - - 116

Total Financial Liabilities 64,968 32,568 - 32,400

2016

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 1.75% 2,380 - 2,380 - 

Receivables 0% 13,052 - - 13,052

Other Financial Assets 3.85% 30,178 3,000 27,178 - 

Total Financial Assets 45,610 3,000 29,558 13,052

Financial Liabilities

Creditors 0% 24,470 - - 24,470

Accommodation Bonds 3.60% 31,498 31,498 - - 

Monies Held in Trust 0% 1,772 - - 1,772

Other Liabilities 0% 221 - - 221

Total Financial Liabilities 57,961 31,498 - 26,463

Management has concluded for cash at bank as for financial assets that can be left at floating rate without necessarily exposing Ballarat Health Services to 

significant bad risk, management monitors interest rates on a daily basis.

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  Ballarat 

Health Services has minimal exposure to cash flow interest rate risks through its cash and deposits that are at floating rate.  Ballarat Health Services manages this 

risk by mainly undertaking fixed rate or non-interest bearing financial instruments with relatively even maturity profiles, with only insignificant amounts of 

financial instruments at floating rate.  

Maturity Dates

Carrying Amount Nominal Amount Less than 1 

Month

1-3 Months 3 Months - 1 Year

Ballarat Health Services is exposed to insignificant foreign currency risk through its payables relating to purchases of supplies and consumables from overseas.

This is because of a limited amount of purchases denominated in foreign currencies and a short timeframe between commitment and settlement.

Ballarat Health Services is not subject to price risk.

Interest Rate Exposure

Weighted 

Average Effective 

Interest Rate (%)

Carrying Amount Fixed Interest 

Rate

Variable Interest 

Rate

Non-Interest 

Bearing
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Note 7.1: Financial Instruments (cont)

(e) Market Risk

Sensitivity Disclosure Analysis

Carrying Amount Profit Equity Profit Equity

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2017

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 4,976 (12) (12) 12 12

Other Financial Assets 28,322 (71) (71) 71 71

Financial Liabilities

Accommodation Bonds 32,568 81 81 (81) (81)

Carrying Amount Profit Equity Profit Equity

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2016

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,380 (6) (6) 12 12

Other Financial Assets 30,178 (75) (75) 151 151

Financial Liabilities

Accommodation Bonds 31,498 79 79 (157) (157)

(f) Fair Value

The fair values and net fair values of financial instrument assets and liabilities are determined as follows:

Comparison between carrying amount and Fair Value

Carrying Amount Fair Value Carrying Amount Fair Value 

2017 2017 2016 2016

$000 $000 $000 $000

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 4,976 4,976 2,380 2,380

Receivables 15,259 15,259 13,052 13,052

Other Financial Assets 28,322 28,322 30,178 30,178
Total Financial Assets 48,557 48,557 45,610 45,610

Financial Liabilities

Payables 30,686 30,686 24,470 24,470

Accommodation Bonds 32,568 32,568 31,498 31,498

Monies Held in Trust 1,598 1,598 1,772 1,772

Other Liabilities 116 116 221 221
Total Financial Liabilities 64,968 64,968 57,961 57,961

Financial assets measured at fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

$000 $000 $000 $000

2017

Financial Assets at fair value through Profit and Loss

Available for sale financial assets 28,322 28,322 - - 
Total Financial Assets 28,322 28,322 - - 

2016

Financial Assets at fair value through Profit and Loss

Available for sale financial assets 30,178 30,178 - - 
Total Financial Assets 30,178 30,178 - - 

Interest Rate Risk

-0.25% +0.25%

Interest Rate Risk

-0.25% +0.50%

• Level One - the fair value of financial instrument assets and liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded in active liquid markets are 

determined with reference to quoted market prices

• Level Two - the fair value is determined using inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the financial asset or liability, either directly or 

indirectly; and

• Level Three - the fair value of other financial instrument assets and liabilities is determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models 

based on discounted cash flow analysis using unobservable market inputs.

Taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts and management's knowledge and experience of the financial markets, 

Ballarat Health Services believe the following movements are 'reasonably possible' over the next 12 months (Base rates are sourced from the Reserve Bank 

of Australia) - A parallel shift of +0.25% and -0.25% in interest rate from year-end rates of 1.50%

The following table discloses the impact on net operating result and equity for each category of financial instrument held by Ballarat Health Services at year 

end as presented to key management personnel, if changes in the relevant risk occur.

The following tables show that the fair values of most of the contractual financial assets and liabilities are the same as the carrying amounts.

Ballarat Health Services considers that the carrying amount of financial instrument assets and liabilities recorded in the financial statements to be a fair 

approximation of their fair values, because of the short-term nature of financial instruments and the expectation that they will be paid in full.

 Fair value measurement at end of reporting period 
Carrying Amount 

as at 30 June
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Note 7.1: Financial Instruments (cont)

Financial Instruments

Loans and Receivables

Revaluation of Financial 

Note 7.2: Net Gain/(Loss) on Disposal of Non-Financial Assets
2017 2016
$000 $000

Proceeds from Disposal of Non-Financial Assets

Plant and Equipment 11 10

Medical Equipment - 15

Motor Vehicles 525 597
Total Proceeds from Disposal of Non-Financial Assets 536 622

Less: Written Down Value of Non-Financial Assets Sold

Plant and Equipment (537) (181)

Medical Equipment (6) (2)

Motor Vehicles (209) (203)
Total Written Down Value of Non-Financial Assets Sold (752) (386)

Net Gain/(Loss) on Disposal of Non-Financial Assets (216) 236

Disposal of Non-Financial Assets

Note 7.3: Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities

• Realised and unrealised gains and losses from revaluations of financial instruments that are designated at fair value through the profit and loss or 

held-for-trading

Where relevant, for note disclosure purposes, a distinction is made between those financial assets and financial liabilities that meet the definition of 

financial instruments in accordance with AASB 132 and those that do not.

Trade receivables, loans and other receivables are recorded at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less impairment. Term deposits with 

maturity greater than 3 months are also measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method less impairment.

Categories of non-derivative financial insturments

Available-for-Sale Financial Assets 

Net Gain/(Loss) on Financial Instruments 

The revaluation gain/(loss) on financial instruments at fair value excludes dividends or interest earned on financial assets. 

There were no contingent assets or liabilities as at 30 June 2017 (2016 NIL).

• Impairment and reversal of impairment for financial instruments at amortised cost
• Disposals of financial assets.

Any gain or loss on the sale of a non-financial asset is recognised at the date that control of the asset is passed to the buyer and is determined after 

deducting from the proceeds the carrying value of the asset at the time. Refer to note 8.2 – Reconciliation of Net Result for the Year to Net Cash 

Inflow/(Outflow) from Operating Activities.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. 

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or where 

appropriate, a shorter period.

Other financial instrument assets held by Ballarat Health Services are classified as being available-for-sale and are measured at fair value. Gains and losses 

arising from changes in fair value are recognised directly in equity until the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time the 

cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is included in the net result for the period. 

Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of 

another entity. Due to the nature of the Ballarat Health Services activities, certain financial assets and financial liabilities arise under statute rather than a 

contract. Such financial assets and financial liabilities do not meet with definition of financial instruments in AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation. 

For example, statutory receivables arising from taxes, fines and penalties do not meet the definition of financial instruments as they do not arise under 

contract.

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments includes:
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Note 8: Other Disclosures

Note 8.1: Equity
(a): Reserves

2017 2016

$000 $000
Asset Revaluation Reserve (i)

Balance at the beginning of the reporting period 174,127 171,557

Revaluation Increments/(Decrements)
- Land - 2,569

Balance at the end of the reporting period 174,127 174,127

Represented by:

- Land 14,324 14,324
- Buildings 159,803 159,803

174,127 174,127

Unrestricted Specific Purpose Reserve

Balance at the beginning of the reporting period 486 503
Transfer to accumulated surplus 77 (17)

Balance at the end of the reporting period 563 486
Total Reserves 174,690 174,613

(i) The land and buildings assets revaluation reserve arises on the revaluation of land and buildings.

(b): Contributed Capital

2017 2016

$000 $000

Balance at the beginning of the reporting period 155,997 155,814
Capital contribution received from the Victorian Government - 183

Balance at the end of the reporting period 155,997 155,997

(c): Retained Earnings
2017 2016

$000 $000

Balance at the beginning of the reporting period (39,924) (32,905)

Net Result for the Year (11,033) (7,684)

Grampians Rural Health Alliance 320 648

Transfer from Reserve (77) 17
Balance at the end of the reporting period (50,714) (39,924)

(d): Total Equity at the End of the Financial Year
2017 2016

$000 $000

Total Equity at the beginning of the reporting period 290,686 294,969

Total Changes in Equity Recognised in Comprehensive Operating Statement (10,713) (4,283)
Total Equity at the end of the reporting period 279,973 290,686

Note 8.2: Reconciliation of Net Result for the Year to Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Operating Activities
2017 2016

$000 $000

Net Result for the Year (10,713) (7,037)

Non-Operating Cash Movements

Net (Gain)/Loss on Disposal of Non Financial Assets 216 (236)

Net (Gain)/Loss on Financial Assets (24) 61

Non-Cash Movements

Depreciation and Amortisation 28,522 25,683

Grampians Rural Health Alliance (320) (647)

Resources/Assets Received Free of Charge (506) (579)

Impairment of Investments (383) 483

Provision for Doubtful Debts 83 (17)

Movements in Assets and Liabilities

Change in operating assets and liabilities

Increase/(Decrease) in Payables 6,939 (5,855)

Increase/(Decrease) in Employee Benefits 2,411 7,254

Increase/(Decrease) in Other Liabilities 896 3,093

(Increase)/Decrease in Inventory 63 66

(Increase)/Decrease in Prepayments (358) 9

(Increase)/Decrease in Receivables (3,623) (5,558)
Net Cash Inflows from Operating Activities 23,203 16,720

The above reserves are internally managed Special Purpose Funds, which are used to quarantine Capital Income such as Donations, Capital Grants and Interest 

Revenue. Once quarantined, this income is used to fund Capital Projects, Refurbishments, Equipment and Education.

A specific restricted purpose surplus is established where Ballarat Health Services has possession or title to the funds but has no discretion to amend or vary the 

restriction and/or condition underlying the funds received.

Contributed Capital

Property, Plant and Equipment Revaluation Surplus

Specific Restricted Purpose Surplus

Consistent with Australian Accounting Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities and FRD 119A Contributions 

by Owners , appropriations for additions to the net asset base have been designated as contributed capital.  Other transfers that are in the nature of 

contributions or distributions that have been designated as contributed capital are also treated as contributed capital.

The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current physical assets.
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Note 8.3: Segment Reporting
Admitted Admitted Non Non EDS EDS Mental Mental RAC RAC Aged Aged Other Other Total Total

Patients Patients Admitted Admitted Health Health Care Care

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Revenue

External Segment Revenue 229,964 209,093 13,933 13,851 20,125 18,261 34,201 32,142 52,075 52,815 9,865 9,052 107,683 102,740 467,846 437,954

Total Revenue 229,964 209,093 13,933 13,851 20,125 18,261 34,201 32,142 52,075 52,815 9,865 9,052 107,683 102,740 467,846 437,954

Expenses

External Segment Expenses 226,416 210,525 21,427 19,652 27,406 24,845 42,576 38,989 53,733 50,557 12,481 11,370 97,822 91,549 481,861 447,487

Total Expenses 226,416 210,525 21,427 19,652 27,406 24,845 42,576 38,989 53,733 50,557 12,481 11,370 97,822 91,549 481,861 447,487

Net Result from Ordinary Activities 3,548 (1,432) (7,494) (5,801) (7,281) (6,584) (8,375) (6,847) (1,658) 2,258 (2,616) (2,318) 9,861 11,191 (14,015) (9,533)

Interest Expense - - - - - - - - (177) (176) - - - - (177) (176)

Interest Income - - - - - - - - 961 1,420 - - 409 604 1,370 2,024

Share of Net Result of Joint Operations 151 310 2 21 3 27 24 48 75 78 50            13            15 151 320 648

Net Result for Year 3,699 (1,122) (7,492) (5,780) (7,278) (6,557) (8,351) (6,799) (799) 3,580 (2,566) (2,305) 10,285 11,946 (12,502) (7,037)

Other Information

Segment Assets 198,437 199,109 4,532 4,636 5,832 5,720 30,488 30,753 90,127 91,712 56,087 56,807 34,483 31,820 419,986 420,557

Total Assets 198,437 199,109 4,532 4,636 5,832 5,720 30,488 30,753 90,127 91,712 56,087 56,807 34,483 31,820 419,986 420,557

Segment Liabilities 50,319 46,666 3,049 3,091 4,404 4,076 7,483 7,173 44,762 44,065 2,159 2,020 27,837 22,780 140,013 129,871

Total Liabilities 50,319 46,666 3,049 3,091 4,404 4,076 7,483 7,173 44,762 44,065 2,159 2,020 27,837 22,780 140,013 129,871

Investments in Associates and Joint Operations 646 495 10 8 12 9 100 76 322 246 212 162 65 50 1,367 1,046

Acquisition of Property, Plant and Equipment 11,212 14,002 175 219 205 256 1,733 2,164 5,581 6,969 3,683 4,598 1,135 1,419 23,724 29,627

Depreciation and Amortisation Expense 13,479 12,138 211 190 246 222 2,084 1,876 6,709 6,041 4,428 3,987 1,365 1,229 28,522 25,683

Emergency Department Services (EDS) 

Aged Care

EDS comprises all emergency department services. 

Category Groups

Admitted Patient Services (Admitted Patients)

Mental Health Services (Mental Health) 

Ballarat Health Services have used the following category groups for reporting purposes in the current and previous financial years:

Admitted patients comprises all acute and subacute admitted patient services, where services are delivered in public hospitals.

Mental Health comprises all specialised mental health services providing a range of inpatient, community based residential, rehabilitation and ambulatory services which treat and support 

people with a mental illness and their families and carers. This excludes any Emergency Department Services.

These services aim to identify mental illness early, and seek to reduce its impact through providing timely acute care services and appropriate longer-term accommodation and support for 

those living with a mental illness. 

Non-Admitted comprises acute and subacute non-admitted services, where services are delivered in public hospital clinics and provide models of integrated community care, which significantly 

reduces the demand for hospital beds and supports the transition from hospital to home in a safe and timely manner. 

Non-Admitted Services (Non-Admitted)

Aged care comprises a range of in-home, specialist geriatric, residential care and community based programs and support services, such as Home and Community Care (HACC) programs that 

are targeted to older people, people with a disability and their carer’s.

RAC including mental health has been referred to in the past as psychogeriatric residential services and comprises those Commonwealth-licensed residential aged care services in receipt of 

supplementary funding from the Department of Health & Human Services, under the mental health program. It excludes all other residential services funded under the mental health program, 

such as mental health funded Community Care Units (CCUs) and Secure Extended Care Units (SECUs).

Other services includes services not separately classified above including public health services laboratory testing, blood borne viruses/sexually transmitted infections, clinical services, Koori 

liaison officers, immunisation and screening services, drugs services including drug withdrawal, counselling and the needle and syringe program, disability services including aids and equipment 

and flexible support packages to people with a disability, community care programs including sexual assault support, early parenting services, parenting assessment and skills development, and 

various support services.  Health and Community Initiatives also fall into this category group.

Residential Aged Care including Mental Health (RAC incl. Mental Health)

Other Services Not Reported Elsewhere (Other) 
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Note 8.4: Ministers and Accountable Officers

Responsible Ministers

The Honourable Jill Hennessy, Minister for Health, Minister for Ambulance Services 01/07/2016 30/06/2017

The Honourable Martin Foley, Minister for Housing, Disability and Ageing, Minister for Mental Health 01/07/2016 30/06/2017

Governing Boards

Mrs R Coutts - Chair of the Board 01/07/2016 30/06/2017

Ms J Addison - Member of the Board 01/07/2016 30/06/2017

Mr W Clark - Member of the Board 01/07/2016 30/06/2017

Mr C Coltman - Member of the Board 01/07/2016 30/06/2017

Professor G Jennings AO - Member of the Board 29/11/2016 30/06/2017

Ms P Kinnersly - Deputy Chair of the Board 01/07/2016 30/06/2017

Mr D Miller - Member of the Board 01/07/2016 30/06/2017

Ms N Reiter - Member of the Board 01/07/2016 30/06/2017

Mr M Patterson - Member of the Board 01/07/2016 21/01/2017

Accountable Officer

Mr D Fraser - Chief Executive Officer 25/07/2016 30/06/2017

Mr A Kinnersly - Acting Chief Executive Officer 01/07/2016 24/07/2016

Remuneration of Responsible Persons

The number of Responsible Persons are shown in their relevant income band;

2017 2016

No. No.

Income Band

$10,000 - $19,999 2 - 

$20,000 - $29,999 6 7

$30,000 - $39,999 - 1

$50,000 - $59,999 1 - 

$120,000 - $129,999 1 - 

$170,000 - $179,999 - 1

$340,000 - $349,999 1 - 

$730,000 - $739,999 - 1

Total Numbers 11 10

Total remuneration received or due and receivable by Responsible Persons from the reporting entity amounted to: 692,018 1,109,619

Note 8.5: Remuneration of Executive Officers (including executives defined as Key Mangement Personnel (KMP))

2017 2016(a)

Remuneration $000 $000

Short term employee benefits 1,674

Post-employment benefits 132

Other long-term benefits 38

Terminations benefits 346

Total Remuneration(b) 2,190

Total Number of Executive Officers 15 10

Employee Equivalent (AEE)(c) 8 10

In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994,  the following disclosures are made 

regarding responsible persons for the reporting period.

(a) No comparative have been reported because remuneration in the prior year was determined in line with the basis and definition under FRD 21b.  Remuneration previously 

excluded non-monetary benefits and comprised any money, considertion or benefit received or receivable, excluding reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses, including any 

amount received or receivable from a related party transaction.  Refer to the prior year's financial statements for executive remuneration for the 2015/16 reporting period.

(b) The total number of executive officers includes persons who meet the definition of Key Management Personnel (KMP) of Ballarat Health Services under AASB124 Related

Parties Disclosures and are also reported within the related parties note disclosure (Note 8.6).

(c) Annualised employee equivalent is based on paid working hours of 38 ordinary hours per week over the 52 weeks for a reporting period.

The changes from the previous year reflect GSERP approved pay increases, as well as the payment of accumulated long service leave for a number of Executives.

All payments made to Executives are governed by the Government Sector Executive Remuneration Panel (GSERP).

Period

Remuneration received or receivable by the accountable officers in connection with the management of Ballarat Health Services during the reporting period was in 

the range $460,000 - $469,999 ($730,000 - $739,999 2015-16)

Amounts relating to the Responsible Ministers are reported in the financial statements of the Department of Premier and Cabinet.  For information regarding 

related party transactions of ministers, the register of members interests is publicly available from:  www.parliament.vic.gov.au/publications/register of interests.
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The hospital is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Victoria.  Related parties of the hospital include:

• all key management pesonnel and their close family members;
• all cabinet ministers and their close family members; and

• all hospitals and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the whole of state consolidated financial statements.

Key Management Personnel

Portfolio Ministers

The Honourable Jill Hennessy, Minister for Health, Minister for Ambulance Services 01/07/2016 30/06/2017

The Honourable Martin Foley, Minister for Housing, Disability and Ageing, Minister for Mental Health 01/07/2016 30/06/2017

Board Members

Mrs R Coutts - Chair of the Board 01/07/2016 30/06/2017

Ms J Addison - Member of the Board 01/07/2016 30/06/2017

Mr W Clark - Member of the Board 01/07/2016 30/06/2017

Mr C Coltman - Member of the Board 01/07/2016 30/06/2017

Professor G Jennings AO - Member of the Board 29/11/2016 30/06/2017

Ms P Kinnersly - Deputy Chair of the Board 01/07/2016 30/06/2017

Mr D Miller - Member of the Board 01/07/2016 30/06/2017

Ms N Reiter - Member of the Board 01/07/2016 30/06/2017

Mr M Patterson - Member of the Board 01/07/2016 21/01/2017

Executive Directors

Mr D Fraser - Chief Executive Officer 25/07/2016 30/06/2017

Mr A Kinnersly - Acting Chief Executive Officer 01/07/2016 24/07/2016

Mr R Hansen - Executive Director of Resource and Planning 05/12/2016 30/06/2017

Mr R Hardy - Executive Director of Corporate Services 01/07/2016 04/12/2016

2017

Compensation $000

Short term employee benefits (a) 874

Post-employment benefits 64

Other long-term benefits 53

Terminations benefits - 

Total Compensation (b) 991

(b) Note that KMPs are also reported in the disclosure of remuneration of executive officers (Note 8.5).

Significant transactions with government-related entities

Transactions with key management personnel and other related parties

Specific Disclosures

Note 8.7: Remuneration of Auditors
2017 2016

$000 $000

Audit or review of financial statement (VAGO) 93 95

Internal Audit 164 191

Total Remuneration of Auditors 257 286

Note 8.8: Events Occurring after the Balance Sheet Date
No Events Occurred

Note 8.9: Economic Dependency

As a result of the financial performance and position for the year ended 30 June 2017, Ballarat Health Service has obtained a letter of support from the State 

Government and in particular, the Department of Health and Human Services, confirming that the department will continue to provide Ballarat Health Services 

adequate cash flow to meet its current and future obligations up to September 2018.  A letter was also obtained from the previous financial year.  On that basis, 

the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Ballarat Health Services is dependent upon the State of Victoria via the Department of Health and Human Services, for the funding of a significant proportion of 

its operations.

(a) Total remuneration paid to KMPs employed as a contractor during the reporting period through an external service provider has been reported under short-term employee benefits.

Note 8.6: Related Parties

All related party transactions have been entered into on an arm's length basis.

Period

Key management personnel (KMP) of the hospital include the Portfolio Ministers and KMPs as determined by the hospital.  The compensation detailed below 

excludes the salaries and benefits the Portfolio Ministers receive.  The Minister's remuneration and allowances is set by the Parliamentary Salaries and 

Superannuation Act 1968 , and is reported within the financial statements of the Department of Premier and Cabinet.  For information regarding related party 

transactions of ministers, the register of members interests is publicly available from:  www.parliament.vic.gov.au/publications/register of interests.  In addition 

to the Portfolio Ministers BHS has identified the following KMPs.  

Given the breadth and depth of State government activities, related parties transact with the Victorian public sector in a manner consistent with other members 

of the public e.g. stamp duty and other government fees and charges. Further employment of processes within the Victorian public sector occur on terms and 

conditions consistent with the Public Administration Act 2004  and Codes of Conduct and Standards issued by the Victorian Public Sector Commission. 

Procurement processes occur on terms and conditions consistent with the Victorian Government Procurement Board requirements. Outside of normal citizen 

type transactions with the department, there were no related party transactions that involved key management personnel and their close family members. No 

provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from related parties. 

During the year, the Grampians Rural Health Alliance, of which Dale Fraser, CEO of Ballarat Health Services is Chairman of the Board, provided Information 

Technology services to the value of $1.2 million. Under the Circular 17/2008 from the Department of Human Services establishing the Grampians Rural Health 

Alliance, Ballarat Health Services is the lead Agency, and provided administrative and IT support to the value of $356,000 to the Alliance. All transactions were 

made under standard contract terms and conditions equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions.

All other transactions that have occurred with KMP and their related parties have been trivial or domestic in nature. In this context, transactions are only 

disclosed when they are considered of interest to users of the financial report in making and evaluating decisions about the allocation of scarce resources.

Ballarat Health Services received funding from the Department of Health and Human Services of $323 million (2016:$302 million)

During the year Ballarat Health Services had the following government-related entity transactions:

-Grants contributing towards the operating costs of Ballarat Health Services totalling $306 million

-Grants contributing towards the capital costs of Ballarat Health Services totalling $17 million
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Note 8.10: AASB's Issued that are not yet effective

AASB Compiled Standards

The changes in revenue recognition 

requirements in AASB 15 may result in 

changes to the timing and amount of 

revenue recorded in the financial 

statements. The Standard will also require 

additional disclosures on service revenue 

and contract modifications. 

A potential impact will be the upfront 

recognition of revenue from licenses that 

cover multiple reporting periods. Revenue 

that was deferred and amortised over a 

period may now need to be recognised 

immediately as a transitional adjustment 

against the opening returned earnings if 

there are no former performance 

obligations outstanding.

Amends the measurement of trade 

receivables and the recognition of 

dividends.

1 Jan 2017, except amendments to AASB 9 

(Dec 2009) and AASB 9 (Dec 2010) apply 

from

Trade receivables that do not have a 

significant financing component, are to 

be measured at their transaction price, 

at initial recognition. 

1-Jan-18

Dividends are recognised in the profit 

and loss only when:

• the entity’s right to receive payment

of the dividend is established

• it is probable that the economic 

benefits associated with the dividend

will flow to the entity; and
• the amount can be measured reliably

The assessment has indicated that as most 

operating leases will come on balance 

sheet, recognition of lease assets and 

lease liabilities will cause net debt to 

increase. 

Depreciation of lease assets and interest 

on lease liabilities will be recognised in the 

income statement with marginal impact 

on the operating surplus.

The amounts of cash paid for the principal 

portion of the lease liability will be 

presented within financing activities and 

the amounts paid for the interest portion 

will be presented within operating 

activities in the cash flow statement.

No change for lessors.

AASB 16  Leases

AASB Amending Standards
In addition to the new standards above, the AASB has issued a list of other amending standards that are not effective for the 2016-17 reporting period. In 

general, these amending standards include editorial and references changes that are expected to have insignificant impacts on public sector reporting. 

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15

The assessment has indicated that there 

will be no significant impact for the public 

sector.

This Standard defers the mandatory 

effective date of AASB 15 from 1 

January 2017 to 1 January 2018.

1-Jan-18

This amending standard will defer the 

application period of AASB 15 to the 2018-

19 reporting period in accordance with the 

transition requirements.

The key changes introduced by AASB 16 

include the recognition of most 

operating leases (which are current not 

recognised) on balance sheet.

1-Jan-19

Certain new Australian Accounting Standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2017 reporting period. The 

Department of Treasury and Finance assesses the impact of all new standards and advises Ballarat Health Services of their applicability and early adoption 

where suitable. 

As at 30 June 2017, the following standards and interpretations had been issued by the AASB but were not yet effective. They become effective for the first 

financial statements for reporting periods, commencing after the stated operative dates as detailed below. Ballarat Health Services has not and does not 

intend to adopt these standards early.  

The following standards and interpretations, currently issued by the AASB which apply to reporting periods ending after 30 June 2017 include: 

AASB 9 

Financial Instruments

AASB 2015-8 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards –  Effective Date of 

AASB 15

The key changes include the simplified 

requirements for the classification and 

measurement of financial assets, a new 

hedging accounting model and a 

revised impairment loss model to 

recognise impairment losses earlier, as 

opposed to the current approach that 

recognises impairment only when 

incurred.

1-Jan-18

The assessment has identified that the 

financial impact of available for sale (AFS) 

assets will now be reported through other 

comprehensive income (OCI) and no 

longer recycled to the profit and loss. 

While the preliminary assessment has not 

identified any material impact arising from 

AASB 9, it will continue to be monitored 

and assessed.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with 

Customers

The core principle of AASB 15 requires 

an entity to recognise revenue when 

the entity satisfies a performance 

obligation by transferring a promised 

good or service to a customer.

1-Jan-18

Standard/ Interpretation Summary
Applicable for annual reporting period 

beginning on

Impact on public sector entity  financial 

statements
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